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FOREWORD

This Annual Report for 1976, covering a period of unusually
diversitied activity by the New Jersey State Commission of Investi-
gation (S.C.1.), illustrates the Cfommission’s statutory obligation
to expose to publie view improprieties and abuses of both a
non-criminal and a criminal naturve.

The vear’s work was marked by the culmination of one of the
(‘onmmission’s most intensive and complicated investigations, into
almost every facet of New Jersey’s $400 million-a-vear Medicaid
health care service for the poor. This monumental task gained
national attention and, even hefore its conclusion, generated sub-
stantive lawmaking improvements in the original program. Mean-
while, the Conmnission completed probes and hearings on the
shocking misconduet of the New Jersey prison system’s pre-parole
release programs and on the huge waste of taspaver dollars in a
county land acquisition scandal. The public airing of these revela-
tions by the S.(".L also spurred statutory and regulatory remedies
as well as prosecutorial follow-ups by state and county law en-
forcement officials.

The report highliehts almost simultaneous vet unrelated in-
vestigative burdens which at times severely tested the limited
financial and physical resources of the S.C.I. The various com-
plicated assignments requived the Commission and its small staff
to colleet and collate tons of records, conduct hundreds of in-
dividual interrogations and field assignments and sponsor a
succession of private and public hearings. All this, however, em-
phasized the S.C.I.’s intention to live up to the promise by the
bipartisun legislative commission which recommended its forma-
tion—that ““the State will benefit immensely from the continued
presence of such a small but expert investigative body.”’

The S.("1.'s 1976 record recalls a statement by State Attorney
(General William If. Hyland on the need for an agency such as this
Commission, obligated by law to cooperate with law enforcement
and eivil agencies of the governiment in an effort ‘“to see that the
people are getting the kind of government and the kind of value
they are expected to get.”’ My, Hyland, who was the first chairman
of the S.C.I., conceded the restraints on strietly prosecutorial
bodies ‘‘in discussing at length or in detail specific criminat
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cases. .. .There are no public education capabilities on the part ol
my office or other prosecutorial agencies comparable to those of
the S.C.L.»

The Clomumission believes this veport appropriately reflects the
findings of the Governor’s Committee to Iivaluate the New Jersey
State Clommission of Investigation, which elimaxed a study of
almost six months’ duration in late 1975 by concluding: ““We are
satisfied that the S.C.I. has performed effectively and has signifi-
cantly advanced the public interest.”’

Subsequently, the Peunsylvania Crime (‘onnunission, in a report
on its inquiry into **syndicated gambling'” in Bucks Clounty, Penn-
sylvania, dated July, 1976, attributed a migration of crime figures
from New Jersey into Pemmsylvania in part to the anti-erime
activities of New Jersey’s S.C.1, emphasizing that one factor in
this continuing influx is that ““many persons considered members
of organized erime operations in New Jersey arve fearful of bheing
subpenaed by the New Jersey State Commission of Investiga-
tion."’*

* From Pennsylvania Crime Commission Report, July, 1976: “Migration of Qrganized

Crime_Figures From New Jersey Into Pennsylvania: A Case Study of Syndicated
Gambling in Bucks County.” See also Pages 11 to 13 of this Annual Report.



ORIGIN AND SCOPE OF THE COMMISSION

(Despite the range and impact of the Commission’s
achicrements, inquiries continue to be made about
its jurisdiction, the way it functions and its impor-
tance 1o « better New Jersey. The Commission
believes this important information should be con-
renienlly arailable, Accordingly, the pertinent facts
are again summarized below.)

The New Jersey State Commission of Tnvestigation was an
outgrowth of exiensive research and publie hearings conducted
in 1968 by the Joint Legislative Committee to Study Crime and
the System of Criminal Justice in New Jersev. That Committee
was under direetion from the Legislature {o find ways to correct
what was a serious and intensifying erime problem in New Jersey.

Indeed, by the late 1960s New Jersey had the embarrassing and
unattractive image of being a covrupt haven for flourishing orga-
nized cerime operations. William ¥, ITvland, Attorney General for
the State of New Jersey, vividly recalled that unfortunate era in
testimony before the Governor’s Committee to Tvaluate the S.C.1.
e said in part:

‘... our state quickly developed a national reputa-

tion as governmental cesspool, a bedroom for hired
killers and a dumping ground for their vietims.
Whether this was a deserved reputation was not
necessarily material. The significant thing was that
this beeame an accepted faet that seriously under-
mined confidence in state law enforcement.”

The Joint Legislative Committee in its veport issued in the
Spring of 1968 found that a crisis in crime control did exist in
New Jersey. The Committee attributed the expanding activities
of organized erime to ““failure to some considerable degree in the
system itself, official corruption, or hoth’’ and offered a series of
sweeping recommendations for improving various areas of the
criminal justice system in the state.

The two highest priovity recommendations were for a new State
Criminal Justice unit in the exeeutive branch of state government
and an independent State Commission of Investigation, patterned
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after the New York State Commission of Investigation, wow in
its 19th vear of probing crime, official corruption and other gov-
ernmental abuses.

The Committee envisioned the assignments of the proposed
Criminal Justice unit and the proposed Commission of Investiga-
tion to be complementary in the fight against crime and corruption.
The Criminal Justice unit was to be a large organizalion with
extensive manpower and authority to coordinate and press forward
criminal investigations and prosecutions throughout the state. The
Commission of Investigation, like the New York Commission, was
to he a relatively small but highly expert body whieh would conduct
fact-finding investigations, bring the facts to the publie’s attention,
and make recommendations to the Gtovernor and the Legislature
for improvements in laws and the operations of goverument.

The Joint Legislative Committee’s recommendations prompted
fully supportive legislative and execuntive action. New Jersey now
has a Criminal Justice Division in the State Department of Law
and Public Safety and an independent State Comunission of In-
vestigation® which is structured as a Commission of the Legisla-
ture. Nor is there any conflict between the functions of this purely
investigative, fact-finding Commission and the prosceutorial au-
thorities of the state. The latter have the responsibility of pressing
indictments and other charges of violations of law and bringirg the
wrongdoers to punishment. This Commission has the cqually
somber responsibilities of publicly exposing evil by lact-finding
investigations and recommending new laws and other remedies to
protect the integrity of the political process.

The complementary role of the 8.C.L was emphasized anew by the
Governor’s Committec to Evaluate the S.C.L**, which conducted
in 1975 a comprehensive and impartial analysis of the Comnuis-
sion’s record and funetion. The Committee’s members cousisted
of the late Chief Justice Joseph Weintraub of the New Jersey

* The bill cxedtmg the New Jersey State Comumission of Investigation was introduced
April 29, 1968 in the Senate. Legistative approval of that measure was completed
September 4, 1968, The bill created the Commission for an initial term beginning
January 1, 1969 and ending December 31, 1974, It is cited as Public Law, 1968,
Chapter 66 N.J.S.A, 52:9M-1 et seq. The Legislature on November 12, 1973 com-
pleted enactment of a bill, cited as Public Law, 1973, Chapter 238, which renewed the
Commission for another term ending December 31, 1979,

** The Governor's Committee to Evaluate tih S.C.I. was created in April, 1975 by execu-
tive order of the Governor after the introduction in the Senmate of a bill to terminate
the S.C.L touched off a backlash of public furor and criticism against the bill. The
measure was sithsequently withdrawn, A bill to implement the recommendations of the
Evaluative Committee to strengthen the S.C.I. was introduced in the Senate .. June of
1976 under bi-partisan sponsorship,
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Supreme Court, former Associate Justice Nathan I.. Jacobs of
that saine Cowrt, and former Judge Bdward F. Broderick of the
New Jersey Superior Court.

That Committec in its October 6, 1975 public report based on
its analysis vejected summarily any suggestion that the S.C.I.
duplicates work of other agencies. Indeed, the Committee found
that the S.C.I.'s work demonstrated convincingly that the Com-
mission performs a very valuable funetion and that there is con-
tinuing need for the S.C.1.°s contributions to hoth the legislative
process and the executive branch,

The Committee went on to conelude that it saw no likelihood
that the need for the S.CLI. will abate, and recommended amend-
ment of the S.(I.1.%s statute to make the Clommission a permanent
rather than a temporary agency. Tn support of this stalement, the
Committee declared:

“Our evaluation of the work of the S.(".1, convinees
us that the ageney has performed a very valuable
function . . . The current publie skepticism of govern-
mental performance emphasizes the continuing need
for a credible agency to delve into the problems that
plague our institutions, an ageney which can provide
truthful information and =ound recommendations.
There must be constant public awareness if we ave
to retain a healthy and vibrant system of government.
Indeed we see no likelihood that the nced for the
S.C.I. will abate .. .”

The complementary role of the S.C.I. also was stressed in a
statement made by Matthew P, Boylan when he was Director of the
State Division of Oriminal Justice. He stated in part:

I have had the opportunity to work closely with the
State Commission of Investigation and it is my
opinion that this ageney effectively plugs a gap in
the law enforcement network in New Jersey. This
gap which existed prior to the creation of the S.C.L
is due to the fact that traditional law enforcement
investigative agencies cither rvetuwrn an indictment
based on the development of investigative leads ov,
in rare situations, request that a grand jury veturn
a presentment exposing conditions in public institu-
tions and agencies. There is no mechanism available
to existing law enforcement agencies other than the
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S.C.I. to alert the public to the existence of econditions
which require remedial legislation unless the tradi-
tional press velease or press conference is utilized.
The drawback of that method of informing the public
is obvious. Consequently, the S.C.1. is an independent
agency which can reveal through a series of extended
public hearings, conditions in the public domain which
require remedial action either by the Legislature or
through more diligent administration of existing laws
by the state, county or municipal agencies entrusted
with their administration.

To insure the integrity and impartiality of the Commission, no
more than two of the four Commissioners may be of the same
political party. Two Commniissioners are appointed by the Governor
and one each by the President of the Senate and the Speaker of
the Assembly. It thus may be said the Commission by law is bi-
partisan and by concern and action is non-partisan.

The paramount statutory responsibilities vested in the Com-
mission are set forth in Section 2 of its statute.® This section
provides:

2. The Commission shall have the duty and power
to conduct investigations in connection with:

(a) The faithful execution and effective enforce-
ment of the laws of the state, with particular
reference but not limited to organized erime
and racketeering.

(b) The conduct of public officers and public
employees, and of officers and cwmployees of
public corporations and authorities.

(¢) Any matter concerning the public peace, pub-
lic safety and public justice.

The statute provides further that the Commission shall conduct
investigations by direction of the Governor and by concurrent
resolution of the Legislature. The Commission also shall conduet
investigations of the affairs of any state department or agency at
the request of the head of a department or agency.

*'{hc full text of the Commission’s statute is included in the Appendices Section of
this report.




Thus, it ean be seen that the Cfomumission, as an investigative,
fact-finding body,* has a wide range of statutory responsibilities.
Tt is highly mobile, may compel testimony and production of other
evidence by subpeena, and has authority to grant immunity to
witnesses. Although the Commission does not have and cannot
exercige anv prosceutorial functions, the statute does provide for
the Commission to refer information to prosecutorial authorities.

One of the Clommission’s prime responsibilities when it uncovers
irregularities, improprieties, misconduet, or corruption, is to hring
the facts to the attention of the public. The objective is to insure
corrective action. The importance of public exposure was pnt most
suceinetly by a New York Times news analysis article on the
nature of Investigation (‘ommissions:

Some people wounld put the whole business in the
lap of a Distriet Attorney (prosecutor), arguing that
if he does not bring indictments, there is not much
the people can do.

But this misses the pl‘imary purpose of the State
[nvestigation (‘ommission. It is not to probe outright
criminal acts by those in public employment. That is
the job of the 100'111(11 investigation arms of the law.

Instead, the Commission has heen charged by the
Legislature to check on, and to expose, lapses in the
faithful and effective performance of duty by public
employvees,

Is sheer non-eriminality to be the only standard of
behavior to which a public official is to be held?
Or does the public have a right to know of laxity,
incfficiency, incompetence, waste and other failures in
the work for which it pavs!?

*

As a legislative, investigative agency, the S.C.L. is not unique, since investigative
agencies of the legislative branch of government are as old as the Republic. The first
full-fledged Congressional investigating committee was established in 1792 to “inquire
into the causes of the failure of the last expedition of Major General St. Clair.”
(3 Annal of Congress 493 (1792). Most recently the U.S. Senate Committee on the
Watergate matter brought forth at a public hearing the facts about gross abuses,
including coverup activitics, at the highest levels of national government. The testnnony
of some of the witnesses at that Committee’s hearings touched in part on areas which
dealt with a possxblc crime of obstruction of justice. But that was of no concern to
the Committee which, like the S.C.L. had no power to seck a criminal indictment,
pursue a trial and ultimately see pumshment imposed by a court of law. The question
of any criminality lay solely with the Special P:osecutor. The Senate Committee was
out to expose the facts in order to inform the public, to deter further instances of
such gross abases and to provide recommendations for preventing further abuses. These,
of course, are the same missions of the S.C.L

—
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The exact format for the public action by the S.C.1. is subjeet in
each instance to a formal determination by the Clommission which
takes into consideration factors of complexity of subject matter
and of consciseness, accuracy and thoronghness in presentation of
the facts. The Commission may proceed by way of a public hearing
or a public report, or both.

In the course of its conduet, the Commission adheres to and is
euided by the New Jersey Code of Faiv Procedure.®

The Code sets forth those proteetions which the Tegislature in
its wisdom and the Judiciary by interpretation have provided for
witnesses called at private and public hearings and for individuals
mentioned in the Commission’s public proceedings. Section Six of
the Code states that any individual who fecls adversely affected
by the testimony or other evidence presented in a public action by
the Commission shall be afforded an opportuuity to make a state-
ment under oath relevant to the testimony or other evidence
complained of. The statements, subject {o determination of
relevancy, are incovporated in the vecords of the Commission’s
public proceedings. Before resolving to proceed to a public action,
the Commission cavefully analyzes and evaluates investi_.tive
data in private in keeping with its solemn obligation to avoid
unnecessary stigma and embarrassment to individuals but, at the
same time, to fulfill its statutory obligation to keep the public in-
formed with specifics necessary to give evedibility to the S.C.1.°s
findings and recommendations.

The Commission believes the true test of the efficacy of its
public actions is not indictments which mav result frowm referral
of matters to other agencies but rather the corrective actions
sparked by the public interest. The Commission takes particular
pride in aetions which have vesulted in improved governmental
operations and laws and in more effective protection for the tax-
paying public through safeguards in the handling of matters in-
volving expenditures of public funds and maintenance of the public
trust.

*The New Jersey Code of Fair Procedure (Chapter 376, Laws of New Jersey, 1968,
N.J'.St.A. 52:13E-1 to 52:13E-10) is printed in full in the Appendices section of this
report.



RESUME OF THE COMMISSION’S
MAJOR INVESTIGATIONS

This is a summary of the Commission’s major investigations
undertaken since June, 1969, when the S.C.I. became staffed and
operational. In describing them as major investigations, it is
meant that they required considerable time and effort and, where
appropriate, resulied in a public hearing or a public report, or
both. Since the following investigations have been discussed fully
in separate reports or in previous annual reports or in the sub-
sequent sections of this report, only a hrief statement about each
will he set forth.

1. ORGANIZED CRIME CONFRONTATIONS¥*

Sinee the summer of 1969, the Commission on a continuing hasis
has from time to time issued subpcenas for the appearance and
testimony of individuals identified by law enforcement authorities
as leaders or members of organized crime families operating in
New Jersey. This effort has beem part of the Commission’s
on-going program designed to increase the storehouse of mean-
ingful intelligence, mutually shared with law enforcement agencies,
about the status and modes and patterns of operation of the under-
world in this state. No individuals are in a more informed position
to provide first-hand, detailed data about those operations than the
persons responsible for directing them and carrying them out. This
continuing investigation also has prompted a number of public
hearings by the Commission.

The Commission firmly believes that, once individuals have been
granted witness immunity against the use of their testimony or
any leads derived from such testimony, a proper balance has been
struck between protecting individual rights and the right of the
state to know as much as possible about the underworld. This
philosophy and approach has been approved by the highest courts
of state and nation.

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Reports for 1970, 1971,
1972, 1973, 1974 and 1975.



Six organized crime figures who had been served with subpenas
elected to undergo extended periods of cowrt-ordered incarcera-
tions for civil contempt for vefusal to answer S.(WI. questions
about underworld activities. One of these six, Gerardo (Jerry)
(fatena, 75, has been freed under a split decision of the Stafe
Supreme Court. This decision held that for reasons peculiar only
to him further confinemient would have no ccereive impact on
(fatena. Another of the six, Angelo Bruno Annalove, is appealing
from a decision on January 7, 1977 hy Superior Court Assienment
Judge George Y. Schoeh that vacated a previous court ovder re-
leasing him for medical reasons and directed his reinearceration.
Still another, Joseph (Bavonne Joe) Zicavelli, is serving a lengthy
state prison sentence for a criminal convietion. Tueavcerated at
(linton Reformatory ave John (Johnny Coca Cola) Lardiere,
Ralph (Blackie) Napoli and Louis Anthony (Bobby) Manna.
Three other organized crime figures remain under S.(11. subpoena
for further festimony—Simone Rizzo (Sam  the  Plumber)
De(favaleante, Antonio (Tonvy Bananas) (aponigro, who is in
Federal Prison, and Carl (Pappy) Ippolito. Ten other orzanized
erime figures have over the vears testified under S.(U.1. subpana,
three of these only after having been earced by prolonged, court-
ovdered imprisonment for civil contempt. These three were
Nicodemo (Little Nicky) Scarfo, Anthony (Little Pussy) Russo
and Nicholas Russo.

Numerouns organized crime figures are known to have fled New
Jersey in an effort to avoid being served with S.(".I. subpoenas.
These include Anthony (Tumac) Acceturo of Livingston, Frank
(The Bear) Basto, Iimilio (The (fount) Delio and Joseph Paterno
of Newark, Joseph (Demus) Covello of Belleville, Jolim (Johnny
D) DiGilio of Paramus, Tino Fimmara of Wyckoff, Carl Tppolito
of Trenton and John (Johnny Keves) Simone of Lawrence Town-
ship. The attempt by a number of these to ‘‘settle in*’ alternate
places of residence, primarily in South Florida, has been inter-
rupted from time to time by federal and state indichiments charging
them with eriminal violations.

Of the Commission’s ongoing anti-crinie campaign, New Jersey’s
Attorney General William I, Hyland has observed: ‘... much has
already been done to eliminate—or at least to weaken—organized
crime. Much of the eredit for that success belongs to the S.CLT. for
its efforts in seeking testimony from alleged orvganized ecrime
figures and for focusing the spotlight on, and thus alerting the
public to, the problems associated with organized crime.?”’
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[Nustrating the Attornev General’s statements was a veport
issued in July, 1976 by the Pennsylvania Crime Commission which
emphasized as a prime reason for the “continuing’’ influx of New
Jersev mob ficures into Pennsylvania a fear in the underworld of
New Jersey’s S.CL.I.—to a large extent hecause of its success in
jailing certain erime figures on contempt grounds for refusing to
testify after being granted inununity. The Pennsvlvania report
also stressed other factors such as telephone wiretaps and elee-
tronic surveillances (activities not permitted to Pennsylvania law
enforcement officials) which have been major tools in the New
Joersey 8.C.10s anti-crime battle, as well as active “stalking?’’ of
mob operations in New Jersey, which has heen an important aspeet
of the S.("T1.’s surveillance efforts.

The Pennsylvania Crime (‘ommission’s veport (*‘Migration of
Organized Crime Figurves Into Pennsylvania: A (fase Study of
Svndicated Gambling in Bucks County’?) sunmmarized in its <“Con-
clusions”” section the difficulties that confront Pennsylvania
authorities because of their inability to utilize important erime-
fighting statutory weapons that have been available in New Jersey
with the reiterated approval of the Judiciary at all levels up to the
United States Supreme Court. Because of its relevance, an excerpt
from the Peunsylvania Crime Clommission report is reprinted, as
follows:

The Commission has been able to document that
organized gambling operations in Bucks Clounty have
become infiltrated over the past several vears by
persons once prominent in similar activities in New
Jorsey., Many ave believed to be direetly or indireetly
connected vith organized evime ‘“core-groups.”’” This
influx of organized crime figures from New Jersey is a
continuing process.  According to information ve-
ceived by the Commission, additional individuals are
planning to move to Pennsylvania. It is not surpris-
ing, given such recent movement, that numerous
numbers and sports-bet banks have relocated from
Trenton to Bucks County. One such numbers bank
operation, uncovered in 1973 in Falls Township,
Bucks County, produced an estimated annual gross
revenue in excess of $1 million. Both of the individ-
uals apprehended for operating the bank were from
Trenton; one has long been associated with Trenton
figure Charles Costello.
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The influx from New Jersey certainly cannot he
attributed to weak anti-gamibling laws in Pennsyl-
vania. In fact, the maximum penalties for gambling
violations were recently increased to a $10,000 finc
and/or five vears in prison. ITowever, obtaining evi-
dence of the existence of organized gambling syndi-
cates is an extremely difficult task. For instance,
despite the Crime Commission’s exhaustive investiga-
tion in Bucks County, there has been ouly limited
success in verifying the sources of the financial back-
ing for the games. The Clommission has been unable
to document the recipients of the profits.

The migration of organized crime assoclates from
New Jersey to Pennsylvania may be explained by the
relative difficulty of obtaining this evidence in Penn-
sylvania compared with New Jersey. The following
factors highlight this contract:

1. Pennsylvania law prohibits both telephone wire-
taps and clectronice surveillance (‘‘hugging’’), while
New Jersey law permits wiretapping pursuant to a
court order and discretionary use of ““body hugs.”’

9. Law enforcement agencies in Trenton and its
environs, as well as law enforecement units throughout
New Jersey, have a reputation for actively stalking
gambling operations (aided hy court-approved wire-
tapping). Local Bucks County police arc often
hindered hy inadequate manpower and Pennsyl-
vania’s legal prohibition against the use of wirctap-
ping. They also do not have available for assistance
any local unit similar to the Organized crime Squad
of the Mercer County (Trenton), New Jersey Prosc-
cutor’s Office. Thus Bucks County police have
generally been able to keep track of gambling opera-
tives on only a fragmented and strect-level basis.

3. Many persons considered members of organized
crime operations in New Jersey are fearful of being
subpoenaed by the New Jersey State Commission of
Investigation. That agency has bheen successful
recently in securing incarceration on contempt
charges for witnesses refusing to testify after being
granted immunity. The statutory procedures avail-
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able to the Pennsylvania Crime Commission are tjme-
consuming and unwieldly, as evidenced hy the efiorts
to secure the testimony of Clarl Ippolito.

(Given these tools and the greater quantity of solid
evidence of the connection hetween large gambling
operations and organized crime that they produce,
it is not surprising that judges in Mercer County, as
well ag in the rest of New Jersey have aequired a
reputation for imposing harsher sentences for gam-
bling than their counterparts in Bucks County and
other arcas of Pennsylvania. . ..

And in the 288-page report on organized crime published in
December, 1976, by the National Advisory (‘ommittee on (riminal
Justice, Standards and Goals, the effectiveness of sueh independent
state agencies as New Jersey’s Commission of Investigation was
emphasized anew. In his Foreword to that report, Governor
Brendan T. Byrne, the chairman of the National Advisory Com-
mittee, noted that its Task Force on Organized Crime had recom-
mended ““many tools for dealing with organized erime’’ and added :

“For example, provision is made for the creation
in the States of independent investigating commis-
sions with authority to conduct public hearings, to
subpena witnesses and documents, to extend im-
munity to witnesses and, ultimately, to make pro-
posals to the executive and legislative branches of
government. . . .”’

In the body of the National Advisory Committee document is
the Task TForvee’s specific recommendations for creating state
investigation commissions, with this reference to the work of such
agencies in New Jersey, New York, Illinois, New Mexico and
Pennsylvania:

“The successful record of these five investigating
conunissions underscores the importance of establish-
ing similar programs in other states.”

Because of its background in monitoring organized crime, the
Commission automatically zeroed in on the potential for organized
crime penetfration and governmental and business corvruption
threatened by the advent of Casino Gtambling in Atlantic City—
even before the Constitutional amendment proposition was
approved by New Jersey voters at the November, 1976 General
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Election. The Commission’s inquiries and research into Casino
Gambling problems, including the eritical and formidable task of
drafting a strict, loophole-free Casina Control Law that will effec-
tively safeguard the integrity of the operation, are deseribed in a
subsequent section of this Annual Report.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE GARBAGE INDUSTRY*

The Legislature in 1969 passed a resolution requesting the
Commission to look into the garbage industry and make recom-
mendations for possible correetive action at the state level. An
investigation was subsequently nudertaken by the S.C.T. of certain
practices and procedures in that industry. The investigation ended
with two weeks of private hearings, concluding in September, 1969.

A principal finding of the Commission was that the provisions
and practices of some garbage industry trade associations dis-
couraged competition, encouraged collusive bidding, and preserved
allocations of customers on a tervitorial basis. Unless the viee of
customer allocation was curbed by the state, more and more
municipalities would be faced with the situation of receiving only
one bid for waste collection, the Commission concluded.

The Commission recommended legislative action leading to a
statewide approach to regulating and policing of the garbage
industry. Specific recommendations were: Prohibit customer
territorial allocation, price fixing and collusive bidding; provide
for licensing by the state (to the exclusion of municipal licenses)
of all waste collectors in New Jersey, and prohibit diserimination
in the use of privately owned waste disposal arcas.

3. ORGANIZED CRIME INFLUENCE IN LONG BRANCH**

The New Jersey shore city of T.ong Branch had sinee 1967 heen
the focus of publicized charges and disclosures about the influence
of organized crime. One charge was that an organized crime
leader, Anthony (Little Pussy) Russo, controlied the mayor and
the city couneil. Official reports indicated mob figures weve operat-

*See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, A Report Relating to the Garbage

Industry, October 7, 1969,

** Sec New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issued
February, 1971,
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ing in an atmosphere relatively secure from law enforcement.
The Commission began an investigation of Long Branch in May,
1969. The exhaustive probe culminated with public hearings in
the spring of 1970. Among the major disclosures of those hearings
were:

That a Long Branch city manager was ousted from his job by
the city couneil after he hegan taking counter-action against
organized crime’s influence: that Russo offered to get the city
manager’s job back for that same person if he would close his eyes
to underworld influences and act as a front for the mob; that
impending police raids on gambling establishment were heing
leaked in time to prevent arrests despite the anti-gambling efforts
of an honest police chief who died in 1968; and that the next police
chief lacked the integrity and will to investigate organized crime
and attempt to stem its influence.

After the Commission’s public hearings, the irresponsible police
chief resigned and the electorate voted in a new administration.

The Asbury Park Press commented editorially that the Com-
mission’s hearings did more good than four previous grand jury
investigations. Also, during the Commission’s probe of the Long
Branch area, the Commission’s special agents developed detailed
fiscal information and records relating to corporations formed by
Russo, information which was used hy federal authorities in
obtaining a 1971 indietment of Russo on a charge of failuve to
file corporate income tax returns. He pleaded guilty to that charge
and received a three-vear prison sentence.

4. Tur MoNMOUTH COUNTY PROSECUTOR’S OFFICE*

The T.ong Braneh inquiry quite naturally extended to the Mon-
mouth Clounty prosceutor’s office, since the prosecutor had prime
responsibility for law enforcement in this county. This probe
determined that a disproportionate share of authority had been
vested in the then-chief of county detectives. Twenty-four hours
after the Commission issued subpeenas in October, 1969, the chief
commitied suicide.

Public hearings were held in the winter of 1970. Testimony
showed that a confidential expense account supposedly used for

*See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issued
February, 1971,
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nine years by the chief of detectives to pay informants was not
used for that purpose and could not be accounted for. The testi-
mony also detailed how that fund was solely controlled by the chief
with no county audit and no supervision by the county prosecutor.
In fact; the county prosceutor testified that he signed vouchers
in blank.

The Commission after the hearing made a series of recom-
mendations to reform the county proseceutor system. A principal
recommendation was for full-time prosecutors and assistants. A
state law, siuce enacted, has established full-time prosecutorial
staffs in the more populous counties of New Jersey, thereby pro-
viding the citizenry with better administrated and morve effective
law enforecement. Prior to the Commission’s probe in Monmouth,
there were no full-time conty prosecutors in the state. Today, only
five of the 21 counties still have part-time prosecutors--—
Cumberland, Gloucester, Salem, Sussex and Warren.

5, PRACTICES OF THE STATE DIVISION OF PURCHASE
AND PROPERTY¥

The (fommission in February, 1970 began investigating charges
of corrupt practices and procedures involving the State Division
of Purchase and Property and suppliers of state services. Public
hearvings on that matter were held in the spring of that year.

Public testimony showed payoils to a state buver to get clean-
ing contracts for state huildings, rigging of bids on state contracts,
renewal of those contracts without bidding, unsatisfactory per-
formance of work called for under state contracts, and illegal con-
tracting of such work.

After the investigation, the state buyer was dismissed from his
job. Records of the investigation weve turned over to the State
Attorney General’s Office which obtained an indictment charging
the buyer with misconduct in office. He pleaded guilty and was
fined and placed on probation for three years.

This investigation nmet with immediate correctional steps by the
State Division of Purchase and Property, which changed several
procedures to prevent recurrence of similar incidents. The Cowm-
mission commended officials of that Division for moving so rapidly
to tighten procedures in order to better protect the public purse.

*Sce New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issucd
TFebruary, 1971,
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6. Tue BUILDING SERVICES AND MAINTENANCE
INDUSTRY*

The probe of the Division of Purchase and Property brought to
the Commission’s attention anticompetitive and other improper
practices and influences in the building services industry. A follow-
up investigation was carried out with public hearings heing held
in June, 1970.

Testimony showed the existence of a trade organization designed
to thwart competition by limiting free bidding and enterprise.
The hearings also revealed that a union official with associations
with organized erime figures was the real power in the trade
organization and thal coerced sales of certain detergent cleaning
products and/or imposition of sweetheart contracts were some-
times the price of labor peace. Another disclosure was that a
major organized crime figure in New Jersey could act as an arbiter
of disputes between some cleaning companies.

The hearings alerted legitimate persons and husiness firms in
the building services industry and users of the industry’s services
to the presence of unserupulous and unsavory elements in that
industry. Also, the information developed in this probe was for-
warded, on request, to the United States Congress’ Select Com-
mittee on Commerce which based extensive public hearings on the
S.CL1L information in Washington in 1972. That Committee by
letter thanked the S.C.I. for making a significant contribution to
exposing ‘‘the cancer of organized crime in interstate and foreign
commerce.”’

7. Tue HupsoN COUNTY MosQuUITO EXTERMINATION
COMMISSION

During 1970 the Commission received complaints about possible
corrupt practices in the operation of the Hudson County Mosquito
xtermination Commission. An investigation led to public hear-
ings at the close of 1970,

The Mosquito Commission’s trecasurer, almost totally blind,
testified how he signed checks and vouchers on direction from the
ageney’s exeentive dircetor. The testimony also revealed shake-

* See New Jersey Commission of Investigation, 1970 Annual Report, issued February,
1971,
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down payments made by the New Jersey Turnpike and other
organizations with projects or right-of-way in the ITudson meadow-
lands, the existence of a bank account kept secret by the exeeutive
director from outside auditors, and kickback payments by con-
tractors and suppliers of up to 75 percent of the amounts received
under a fraudulent voucher scheme.

One result of this investigation was abolition of the TTudson
County Mosquito Ixtermination Commission, an ageney which
served no valid governmental funciion and whose annual Intdeet,
paid for by the taxpayers of Iludson, was approaching the
$500,000 mark.

Additionally, after S.C.L records of the investigation were
twrned over to the Hudson (founty Proscentor’s Office, the prose-
cutor obtained conspiracy and emhezzlement indictments against
the Mosquito Comnmission’s executive direetor and his two sons.
The executive direetor pleaded guilly to embezzlement and in June,
1972 was sentenced to two to four yvears in prison. His sons
pleaded gnilty to conspiracy and were fined $1,000 cach.

8. MISAPPROPRIATION OF FUNDS IN ATLANTIC COUNTY®

The Commission in 1970 was asked to make a thorough investi-
gation of the misappropriation of at least $130,196 in publie
funds that came to light with the suicide death of a purehasing
agent in Atlantic County government. The Commission in Decem-
her of that vear issued a detailed public report which documented
in sworn testimony a violation of publie trust and a hreakdown in
the use of the powers of county government.

That purchasing agent, through a schene involving frandulent
vouchers, endorsements and other maneuvers, diverted {he money
to his own use over a period of 13 years. The sworn testimony
showed that for vears prior to 1971, monthly departmental appro-
priation sheets of many departments contaived irvegularvities
traceable to the agent but that no highly placed county official
ever fried to get a full explanation of those vvegularvities, The
testimony also disclosed that after county officials were first
notified by the bank about the false check endorsement part of the
agent’s scheme, an inadequate and questionable investigation was
condueted by some county officials, :

* See Report on Misappropriation oi‘PuI?lic TFunds, Atlantic County, a Report by the New
Jersey State Commission of Investigation, December, 1971,
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Copies of the Commission’s report were sent to Freeholder
Boards throughout the state for use as a guide in preventing any
further instances of similar misappropriation of funds. As a
result of fiscal irregularities uncovered in the probes not only of
Atlantic Connty government hut also of county agencies in
Monmouth and Iudson counties, the Commission recommended
that county and municipal anditors he mandated to exercise more
responsibility for maintaining integrity in the fiscal affairs of
government, with stress on review on an on-going bhasis of the
internal controls of county and local governments,

9. DEVELOPMENT OF POINT BREEZE IN JERSEY CITY*

The lands that lie along the Jersey City waterfront are among
the most valuable and economically important acreage in the state.
The Commission in the Spring of 1971 hegan an investigation into
allegations of corruption and other irregularities in the develop-
ment of the Point Breeze area of Jersey (‘ity as a containership
port and an industrial park.

The investigation showed {hat this projeet, undertaken by the
Port Jersey Corporation, offered a classie and informative example
of how a proper and needed development could he frustrated and
impeded by improper procedures, Publie hearings were held in
October, 1971, Testimonial diselosures ineluded a payolf to publie
officials, impreper receipt of veal estate commissions, and irregular
approaches to the use of state laws for blighted urban areas and
granting tax abatemoent,

10. TAcTICcS AND STRATEGIES OF ORGANIZED CRIME ¥

Although not a “*sworn’” member of organized erime, Herbert
(tross, a former Lakewood hotel operator and real estate man,
became during 1965-70 a virtual part of the moh through involve-
ment in numbers banks, shylock loan operations, cashing of stolen
securities and other aetivities. In ovder to shorten a State Prison
term in 1971, Gross began in that year to cooperate with govern-
mentl ageneies, ineluding the S.CU1.

*See New Jersey Staie Commission of Investigation, 1971 Annual Report, issued
AMarch, 1972,

#*¥See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1972 Annual Report, issued
February, 1973,
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Gross’ testimony during two days of public hearings by the
Comumission in February, 1972 pinpointed the relentless and ruth-
less modes of operation of organized crime figures in the Ocecan
County area and their ties back to underworld bosses in Northern
New Jersey and New York City. His testimony and that of other
witnesses also detailed how mobsters completely infiltrated a
legitimate motel business in Lakewood. The former restaurant
concessionaire at that motel testified that because of shylock loans
arranged by an organized crime figure, the concessionaire lost
assets of about $60,000 in six months and left town a broken and
penniless man. Records of this investigation were made available
to federal authorities who subsequently obtained an extortion-
conspiracy indictment ay..inst nine organized crime figures relative
to a shylock loan dispute which culminated with an underworld
“sitdown’ or trial. The individuals and incidents named in the
indictment were first described by Guross in his S.C.I. testimony.
New Jersey law enforcement officials testified at the S.C.I. hearings
that the public exposure afforded by those sessions was a valuable
contribution in meeting the neced for continually active vigilanece
against organized crime—with a particular alert for developing
areas that organized crime follows population growth.

11. PROPERTY PURCHASES IN ATLANTIC COUNTY¥*

The Commission during 1971 received information that the State
may have overpaid for land for the site of the new Stockton State
College in Galloway Township, Atlantic County. Subsequent field
investigations and private hearings extending into 1972 showed
that payment by the state of $924 an acre for a key 593-acve tract
was indeed an excessively high price.

Substantially the same acreage had heen sold only nine months
earlier by two corporations headed by some Atlantic City business-
men to a New York City-based land purchasing group for $476 per
acre, which was about double the per acreage price of two compar-
able large-fract sales in the Galloway area. The Commission in
a public report, completed during June, 1972, cited two ecritical
flaws as leading to excessive overpayment for the land by the state:
inadequate and misleading appraisals of land that had recently
changed hands at a preminm price; and lack of expertise and safe-

* See Report and Recommendations on Property Purchase Practices of the Division of

Purchase and Property, a Report by the New Jersey Commission of Investigation,
issued June, 1972,
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guards in State Division of Purchase and Property procedures to
discover the faults in the appraisals and corrvect them.

The report stressed a numher of recommendations to insure that
the Division’s processes would in the future detect and correct
faults in appraisals. Key rccommendations were post-appraisal
reviews by qualified experts and strict pre-qualification of ap-
praisers pefore being listed as eligible to do work for the state.
The recommendations were promptly implemented by executive
orders in the Division,

12. BANK Fraup IN MIDDLESEX COUNTY*

Investigative activities by the Cowmmission during 1971 in
Middlesex County directed the Commission’s attention to Santo R.
Santisi, then president of the Middlesex County Bank which he
founded. A full-scale probe by the Commission’s special agents
and special agents,accountants concentrated on Santisi-controlled
corporations, in particular the Otnas Iolding Company, and ulti-
mately broadened to investigation of certain transactions at the
Middlesex County Bank.

The probe uncovered schemes by Santisi and his entourage
involving the use of publiely invested funds in Otnas solely for
their own personal gain, apparvently illicit sale of stock publicly
before requived state vegistration and misapplication by Santisi of
handreds of thousands of dollars of funds of the Middlesex Clounty
Bank. Those funds went in the form of loans to members of the
Santisi entourage who cither personally or throungh their corpora-
tions acted as conduits to pass on the funds for the benefit of
Santisi and some of his corporations.

During the first quarter of 1972 the Commission completed
private hearvings in this investigation but deferred planned public
hearings at the request of bank examiners who expressed fears
about the impact of adverse publicity on the bank’s financial
health. Tustead, the S.CUT referved data from this investigation to
federal authorities who later obtained indictments of Santisi and
several of his coliorts on charges involving the misapplied bank
funds. All pleaded guilty. Santisi was sentenced to three years in
prison. One of his cohworts was sentenced to a yvear in prison and
two others rveceived suspended sentences,

*See New Jersey State Conmuission of Investigation, 1972 Annual Report, issued
TFebruary, 1973,
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13. Tue OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL¥

In the summer of 1972 the Commission was requested by the
then Attorney General of New Jersey, George F. Kugler, Jr., to
investigate his office’s handling of the matter which ultimately
resulted in the state’s indicting and obtaining a conspiracy convie-
tion of Paul J. Sherwin, then Secretary of State, in connection with
a campaign contribution made by a contractor who had bid on a
state highway contract.

The request, under the S.C\L’s statute, triggered an investiga-
tion which extended into early 1973 and during which the Com-
mission took from 22 witnesses sworn testimony consisting of morve
than 1,300 pages of transeripts and also introduced and marked
exhibits consisting of more than 300 pages. The Commission, by
unanimous resolution, issued in February, 1972 a 1,600-plus-page
report on the investigation, a report which ineluded in their
entirety the transcripts of 17 testimony and the exhibits in order
to effect complete and aceurate public disclosure. The report was
forwarded to the Governor and the Legislature and to all news
media. Copies of the report were supplied to individual eitizens on
request until the supply was exhausted. IMile copies of the report
remain available for public serutiny at the Commission’s offices
and at the State Public Library,

In issuing the report, the Commission expressed publicly its
gratitude to John J. Francis, the retived Justice of the New Jevsey
Supreme Court, who served without compensation as Special
Counsel to the Commission in the investigation and the report
preparation. A final conclusion of the report was that the political
compaign contributions from those aspiring to public works and
the acceptance of those contributions by public officials or political
parties were a malignant cancer rapidly spreading through the
bloodstream of political life and that ‘““unless the giving and
receiving of such contributions are made criminal under a statute
which provides a reasonable mechanism for discovering and
preventing them, cur governmental structure is headed for most
unpleasant erosion.”’

* See Report on Investigation of the Office of the Attorney General of New Jersey, A
Report by New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, issued January, 1973.
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14. THE WORKMEN’S COMPENSATION SYSTEM?¥

New Jersey’s system for compensating individuals for employ-
ment injuries became during the early 1970s the object of intense
serutiny and analysis. Tu addition to evidence and statistics indi-
cating ills in the system, there were new and persistent reports
that the atmophere of the system, including its courts, had darkened
to a point where irregularities, abuses and even illegalities were
being ignored or condoned. The mounting hue and cry about
deficiencies in the system led the State Commissioner of Labor and
Tndustry to request an investigation, a task which fell to the S.C.I.
The probe was one of the most comprehensive ever conducted by
the S.C.I. The facts, as presented at nine days of public hearings
in Trenton in May-June, 1973, documented abuses which included
the costly practice of making unwarrvanted allegations of impair-
ments in compensation claims, a pervasive atmosphere conducive
to lavish gift-giving and entertaining and to questionable conduct
by some judges, and the use by some law firms of favored heat
treating doetors or ““house doctors,”” an abuse which led to costly
inflated claims through hill padding.

As a result of the Clommission’s investigation, three Judges of
Compensation were given disciplinary suspensions, with one of
them eventually being dismissed from office by the Governos.
After referral of data in this probe to prosecutorial authorities, an
Essex County Grand Jury during 1975 indicated two pariners of a
law firm and the firm’s business manager on charges of conspiracy
and obtaining money under false pretenses in connection with the
alleged heat-treatment, bill-padding scheme exposed at the S.C.1.°s
public hearings. Also the Waterfront Commission of New York
Harbor used the investigative techniques and methodology estab-
lished by the S.C".I. in this investigation to conduet an investigation
of and hold public hearings on instances of widespread Workmen’s
("fompensation frauds involving some workers on the docks.

*See Final Report and Recommendations on the Investigation of the Workmen’s Com-
pensation System, a Report by the New Jersey State Commission of Investigation,
January, 1974,
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15. MISUSE OF SCHOOL PROPERTY IN PAssaic COUNTY*

A citizen’s complaint was received by the S.C.L in January,
1973 via reference from a Federal law enforcement agency and
prompted the Commission to inquire into the handling and dis-
tribution by the State of federal surplus property donated for
use in schools and other institutions. The inquiry vesulted in addi-
tional citizens’ complaints being received and a consequent full
investigation which extended to questionable procecures relative
to the business affairs of the Passaic County Vocational and
Technical High School in Wayne. The investigation was capped
by five days of public hearings conducted at the Passaic County
Courthouse in Paterson.

The hearings presented facts concerning & woeful lack of
attempts by the school’s purchasing agent, who also was its busi-
ness wanager, to obtain truly competitive prices for many goods
purchased, the purchasing of substantial amounts of goods and
services through middlemen, one of whom marked up prices by
more than 100 per cent, and regular payoffs to the school’s pur-
chasing agent by one of the middlemen. Additional facts were
elicited about the purchasing agent’s conversion of the services of
some school employees and property to jobs at his home and how
the school had become a virtual dumping ground for millions of
dollars of federally donated surplus property under a chaotic and
mismanaged state program for distribution of that property.

This investigation formed the basis for S.C.I. recommendations
for acministrative corrective steps to establish an efficient program
of state distribution of the surplus property and for improved
procedures for school boards in overseeing purchasing practices.
The State Board of Education relayed the S.C.1. recommendations
to all school boards in the state with instructions to be guided by
them.

*See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1973, issued
in March, 1974.




16. Tuae DrRUG TRAFFIC AND LAW ENFORCEMENT*

Narcotics and their relationship to law enforcement in New
Jersey are a natural area of concern for the Commission, since the
huge profits to be made from illicit narcotics trafficking are an
obvious lure to criminal elements. As a result of an increase in
the 8.C.1.’s intelligence gathering during 1973 relative to narcotics,
the Commission obtained considerable information about certain
eriminal elements in Northern New Jersey. A subsequent investi-
gation provided a wealth of detail about drug trafficking, replete
with high risks, high profits, violence and death.

At three days of public hearings in late 1973 in Trenton,
witnesses told of their involvements in actual heroin and cocaine
trafficking in Northern New Jersey, including accounts of one
killing and an attempt by criminal-element figures to get one of the
witnesses to kill another individual. Expert witnesses from
federal, state and county agencies testified in considerable detail
about the international, interstate and intrastate flow of heroin
and cocaine and the programs and problems of law enforcement
units responsible for the fight against illicit narcotics distribution.

Due to a combination of an extremely knowledgeable and
accurate informant and an extensive follow-up investigation by
S.CLIL Special Agents, this probe had significant collateral results
which led to the S.C.1.°s playing a key role in solving cases involy-
ing a gangland style slaving, a stolen jewelry fencing ring and a
crime federation hurglary ring of more than 30 individuals. Both
the Iissex County, N.J., Prosecutor and the Lackawanna (‘ounty,
Pa., Distriet Attorney complimented the S.CI. for aiding law
enforcement agencies. The hearings also established a factual
basis for S.C.I. recommendations for improved law enforcement
capabilitics to combat narcotics distribution and for revisions of
the narcotics law, including sterner penalties for non-addiet
pushers. A bill providing for life imprisonment for such pushers
was introduced in the Legislature in 1976.

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1973, issued
in March, 1974,
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17. Pseupo-CHARITABLE FUND-RAISI}NG APPEALS*

A growing number of companies were established in New Jersey
as incorporated-for-profit entities to sell by telephone exorbitantly
high priced household products, principally light bulbs, in the name
of allegedly handicapped workers. Although different in age, size
and some operating procedures, all indulge in degrees of deception
by creating a false illusion of charitable works for the handicapped
through telephonic sales presentations which stress references to
“handicaps’ or ‘‘the handicapped.”’ Consumers by the hundreds
in New Jevsey became so outraged upon learning they had been
duped into thinking these profit-oriented husinesses were charities
that they registered complaints with the State Division of Con-
sumer Affairs. That Division sought a full S.C.I. investigation ot
these pseudo-charities because of the broader purview of the Com-
mission’s statute, the Commission’s investigative expertise and its
public exposure powers.

Facts put on the public record at hearings held by the S.C.I.
in June 1974 in Trenton included: That people were willing to
pay such high prices, marked as mueh as 1,100 per cent above cost,
only because the phone solicitations of the various companies had
given them the illusion they were aiding a charity; that some of
the companies used healthy phone solicitors who stated falscly
that they were handicapped to induce sales; that a large company’s
claim to employ only handicapped phone solicitors was open to
serious questions; that phone solicitors, whether handicapped or
not, were subject to prompt dismissal if thev did not produce
enough sales to make a profit for the owners; that an owner of
one of the large companies received a total of more than %1 million
in four years from the business; that any authentically handicapped
phone solicitors conld be harnmed by having to constantly dwell on
their ailments in order to induce sales, and that psendo-charitable
appeals drain off millions of dollars each vear that stherwise could
be tapped by bona fide charities.

The public airing of these facts accomplished a priveipal purpose
of the S.C.I. and the Consumer Affairs Division, namely to make
the consuming public more informed and, therefore, morve disceru-
ing in the receipt of any telephonic sales pitelies in the name of
the allegedly handicapped. Access to data from this investigation
* See Final Report and Recommendations on the Investigation of Profit Oriented Com-

panies Operating in a Pseudo-Charitable Manner, a Report by the New Jersey State
Commission of Investigation, September, 1974, .
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was offered to federal officials both during the probe and im-
mediately after the public hearings. Subsequently, the owner of
one of the profit-making companies mentioned at the S.C.1.°s
hearings and the sales manager of another such company were
charged with fraud by federal authorities. Both pleaded guilty.

18. THE DELAWARE RIVER PORT AUTHORITY*

The State Ixecutive Comimission on Kthical Standards during
1974 requested the S.(U1.°s assistance in investigating allegations
of possible conflicts of inferest of Ralph Cornell, then the Chair-
man of the Delawarve River Port Authority who had been a Com-
missioner of that authority sinee its inception in 1951, The reason
for the request, as stated by the ithies Commission, was ‘“that the
State Commission of Investigation is better equipped in terms
of personnel, resources and operating procedures to conduet this
mquiry,”’

The investigation involved the analysis of a virtual mountain
of books and records of the Authority, corporations and banks in
ovder to lay bave certain business relationships relative to sub-
coniracting work donc on Authority projects. After holding pri-
-ate hearings on 14 oceasions from March through August of 1974,
the Commission issued a comprehensive public report on this
ingquiry and sent it to the Governor and the Kthical Standards
(‘fomimission, appropriately leaving to that Commission the final
judgments on the full factual picture presented by the report. The
Attorney (General’s Office also was given copies of the report.

The prineipal facts brought forth by the S.C.I.'s investigation
were that Mr. Cornell’s Cornell & Company had received substan-
{ial income for work performed on Port Aunthority projeets on a
sub and sub-sub-contracting hasis while other companies were
listed I the Authority’s records as the subeontractors with no
listing of Cornell & Clompany in those documents; that he was
the reeipient of substantial dividend payments as a major stock-
holder in the insurance company which was the New Jersey broker
for the insurance coverage needs of the Authority, and that as
an investor in lands subjeet to value enhancement by proximity
* See Report on the Compatibility of the Interests of Mr, Ralph Cornell, Chairman of

the Delaware River Port Authority, a Report by the New Jersey State Commission
of Investigation, October, 1974,




to existing or proposed Authority projects, Mr. Cornell had re-
ceived more than $1.9 million in unadjusted profits. The report
stated, however, that the probe found no evidence of Mr. Cornell
making land purchases on the basis of ‘“insider information’’ and
that the purchases could have been made by auy well informed
citizen with substantial mounetary resources.

19. TuErE GOVERNMENT OF LINDENWOLD

A citizen’s complaint letter alleging abuses in the government
of the Borough of Lindenwold, a rapidly developed suburban com-
munity in Camden Counnty, was received by the Commission in the
latter part of 1973. Onc of the letter’s signatories, a former Bor-
ough Councilman in Lindenwold, in a subsequent interview with
S.C.I. special agents, told not only of ahuses concerning ethical
stancards but also-of official corruption. Ile bronght with him to
the S.C.I1.’s offices $5,000 hie received, but never spent, as his share
of pavoffs made for votes favorable to land development projeets.

During 1974 the Commission obtained substantial corroboration
for this man’s story of amorality in the Borough’s government in
a lengthy probe involving full use of the Commission subpoena and
witness immunity powers and its investigative and accounting
experfise. At three davs of public hearings in Trenton in
December, 1974, the (‘ommission heard testimony supported by
numerous exhibits that $198,500 had been paid by land developers
to Lindenwold public officials in return for favorvable treatment
and cooperation of the Borough government, that a Borough
official and a county official had accepted substantial amounts of
cash from companies owning land subject to the officials’ regula-
tion, and that Lindenwold public officials used strawmen to mask
their purchases of properties which were offered for sale by the
Borough, the value of which could be enhanced by the officials? acts.

The public disclosure of what the Commission called ‘‘the
democratic process of local government operating at its worst”?
sounded a warning and served as a deterrent factor to communities
throughout New Jersey. The principal S.C.I. reccommendation
stemming from this hearing was for enactment of a tough conflict
of interests law to apply uniformly on a statewide bhasis to all
county and municipal officials. A bill meeting the S.C.1.’s stan-
dards is pending in the legislature.

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, 1974 Annual Report, issued in
March, 1975,
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20. LAND AcCQUISITION BY MIDDLESEX COoUNTY¥

The Commission received a series of citizens complaints during
the Spring of 1975 about actions by the Middlesex County govern-
ment, with stress on alleged overpayment by that government for
purchase of certain lands for park purposes under the State’s
(Green Acres program. A preliminary, evaluative inquiry of the
complaints by the Commission provided substantial indication that
overpayments had occurred and that faulty real estate appraisals
and insufficient review of those appraisals by the County’s Tand
Acquisition Department and by the State’s Green Acres unit might
be at the root of the problem. Accordingly, the Commission autho-
rized a full-scale investigation of the County’s land acquisition
procedures and related procedures of the Green Acres unit. Public
hearings were held in Trenton in January, 1976.

This investigation, aided by the services of two of the most
respected and expert post-appraisal reviewers in the State, deter-
mined that the County did indeed overpay by some 100 per cent
above fair market value for certain parcels of land in the Ambrose
and Doty’s brooks area of Piscataway Township. Both experts
found that the appraisals made for each of the parcels overstated
the value of the lands, principally beeause of failure to take into
sufficient account physical deficiencies in terrain. The investigation
determined that the Administraior of the County’s Land Acquisi-
tion Department had approved the land purchase prices with
virtual rubber stamp consent from the Board of I'reeholders. The
Administrator not only constantly solicited a stream of political
contributions from the appraisers doing business with the County
but also, according to the sworn testimony of two of those
appraisers, solicited cash payments from the two at a time when
they were being awarded appraisal work for the County by the
Administrator. Additional testimony at the hearings indicated
serious deficiencies and confusion in aspects of the appraisal review
function of the State Green Acres program, which supplies mateh-
ing funds for county and loeal land purchases for park purposes.

As a rvesult of the S.("1.’s exposures in this investigation, the
Administrator of the County’s Land Acquisition Department was
suspended from his post, and the County government moved to
institute a move stringent process of checks and balances on land
acquisition procedures. Fven before the S.C.I. completed its 1976
hearings, arrangements were being formalized volunt: +ily by state

* See New Jersey State Commission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1975,
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officials, alerted by the Commission’s findings, for the transfer of
the Green Acres appraisal and post appraisal review and control
system from the Department of Bnvironmental Protection to the
Department of Transportation—one of many major general aud
technical recommendations by the commission that became imple-
mented as a result of the inguiry. In addition, data from the
S.C.1 investigation was referved to prosecutorvial authorities,

2i. PRE-PAROLE RELEASE RipP-OFFS IN THE PRISONS¥

The Commission during 1974 and continuing into 1975 received
a number of complaints alleging abuses and ripoffs of the pre-
parvole release programs of New Jersey’s correctional system.
The programs, aimed at the worthy goal of success in re-introdue-
ing inmates to society, included furlonghs, work releases, education
releases and community releases. Lengthy preliminary inquiries
to evaluate the complaints indicated clearly to the Commission that
the effectiveness and goals of the programs were heing subverted
by exploitive abuses attributable to weaknesses in the operation
and supervision of the programs.

Accordingly, the Commission by resolution in September, 1975
authorized a full investigation. The probe extended into 1976,
with public hearings being held during May and June of 197G.
Principal disclosures at the hearings included:

°* Talsification of furlough and other types of appli-
cations to gain premature entry into the release
programs.

* Iistablishment of favored status for some inmates
and a resulting system of bartering for favors,
including monetary exchanges among inmates.

®* The ease with which work, educational and other
releases could he ripped off because of insufficient
supervision in the collusive hands of the inmates
themselves.

* The intrusion of a barter-for-favors system in the
procedures for the transfer of inmates from one to
another of the various penal institutions.

* See pages 35 to 115 of this Annual Report.
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The Commission in its public statements at the hearings credited
what was then the State Institutions and Agencies Department,
since restructured into a Department of Corrections and a Depart-
ment of Muman Services, with making creditable reform efforts
to improve the programs while the S.C.I.’s investigation was in
progress. IHowever, the (fommission concluded that the investiga-
tion and hearings had factually demonstrated the need for
numerous further covreetive steps to bring the programs to a point
where system integrity is virtually foolproof and, therefore,
deserving of proper and necded levels of public confidence and
support. The Commission reviewed suggestions for introducing
sufficient cheek and balance procedures to the programs and nrged
that there be sufficient funding to provide additional non-inmate
personuel to conduet and supervise those improved procedures.
But the Comimission emphasized that even as a “‘fight for addi-
tional funds™ was pressed to eliminate inmate subversion of the
programs, more immediately important was the establishment of
improved management and administrative policies, procedures and
systems, Specifie guidelines for such improvements are highlighted
in the commission’s recommendations, enumerated in detail at the
conelusion of the presentation in this Annual Report of the testi-
monial evidence of the svstem’s seandalous collapse,

22. THE NEwW JERSEY MEDICAID PROGRAM¥

This Amnual Report documents in detail additional public
reports and public hearings on what was probably the Commis-
sion’s most complicated and time-consuming assignment—its
comprehensive inquiry into all major components of the New
Jersey Medicaid system. This publiely funded program of health
care for the poor was approaching its sixth vear of operation in
December, 1974 when Governor Brendan L. Byrne made a formal
request that the S.C.1. evaluate it. The Governor expressed con-
cern about the escalating $400 million-plus annual cost of the
program and asked for an intensive probe of its efficacy and
integrity. A formal request from the Governor under the S.C.I.%s
statute mandates that the Commission undertake a desived inquiry.
Accordingly, full investigation of the New Jersey Medicaid pro-
gram commenced early in 1975 and continued well into 1976.

* See pages 116 to 224 of this Annual Report.
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During the course of its probe, the Commission reported on
an interim basis from time to time to the Governor—an operational
pattern based on the premise, later substantiated, that the social
and financial cost of apparent widespread exploitation of the huge
health care delivery system wonld warrant urgent interim statu-
tory and regulatory correction. The major public actions by the
Commission that did not reach final report and recommendation
stage in time to be covered in the last Annual Report ave reviewed
in detail on subsequent pages of this Annual Report. A full
chronological summary of the entire investigation, however, shows
the Commission took the following public steps:

* Numsizve Hoams--An initial public report by the S.(UL on
April 3, 1975 exposed serions flaws in the rental and related phases
of New Jersey’s method of property cost reimbursements of
Medicaid-participating nursing homes, one critical conelusion of
which was that inflated reimbursement schedules allowed uncon-
scionably inflated profits to greedy entreprencurs at heavy cost fo
taxpayers.

* (Linrean Lasorarorigs—A formal publie S.C.I. pronounce-
ment on April 23, 1975 detailed dangerously poor conditions and
procedures in certain independent clinical laboratories and recom-
mended swift legislative enactment of a pending remedial measure.
Subsequently the Tegislature approved and the Governor signed
the highly effective Clinical Laboratories Act.

* Crinican Liasoratories®™—The Commission conducted in June,
1975 a series of public hearings that effectively exposed how Medi-
caid was being bilked by some independent clinical lahoratories
through false billing and kickbacks practices, among other evils.
The S.C.I.'s unprecedented probe and recommendations in this
vital area also were followed by major reforms. The Mediecaid
manual regulating independent clinical laboratories was drasti-
cally revised to bar abusive activities and the maximwun fee sched-
ule for reimbursing laboratories was reduced by 40 percent. Tax-
payer savings from these improvements alone were estimated at
$1.4 million for the fiscal yvear ending June 30, 1976.

* Nursine Homes**—The final S.C.1. dissection of nursing home
property cost reimbursement under Medicaid provisions empha-
sized so-called “‘money tree’’ plucking by unscrupulous operators

*New Jersey State Cemmission of Investigation, Annual Report for 1975,
#k See pages 116 to 189 of this Annual Report.
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through faecility selling-financing-leasing back schemes that ex-
cessively ballooned the value of the facilities. This Anaual Report
contains pertinent excerpts from a two-day public hearing held in
October, 1976 which corroborated dramatically the gross abuses
revealed in the S.(L.1.°s final report on the nursing home property
cost reimbursement system phase of its Medicaid inquiry, which
was issued midway through the public hearing.

* ““NMepicamn Mimrs”*—ITow some doctors, dentists and phar-
macists corrupted the system was dramatized by the Commission’s
expose of over-hilling aud over-utilization practices that bared a
loophole potential for far wider abuse of the Medicaid system.

* Mevreamn IMosprrans—TUtilizing its small but expert staff of
acconntant-agents, an S.C.I. team made an in-depth assessment of
the emerging rate-regulating and Medicaid reimbursement process
affeeting in-patient hospitals with substantial Medicaid patient
care to determine the adequacy, if any, of fiscal controls by super-
visory public agencies in insure the system’s efficiency, economy
and integrity. Such an unusually complex analysis of methods of
controlling hospital costs was vital because of the huge impact
of such costs on the Medicaid program.

23, CaASINO GAMBLING

On November 2, 1976 the voters of New Jersey approved at a
{feneral Idlection referendum a proposition to amend the State Con-
stitution to allow Casino Gambling in Atlantie City only. A similar
proposal was rvejected by the voters in 1974, The S.C.l.’s stafl
actually had begun inteusive intelligence gathering on the impact
of Claxino Gambling even hefore the mitial referendum on the issue
in 1974. This low key activity, being conducted on a cooperative
basis with the Attorney General’s office and the State Police, has
continued on an inereasingly larger scale because of the magnitude
of the inter-related problem of administration, regulation aund
control of this new industry.

The Commission has been acting at the behest of the Governor
and under its statutory obligation to investigate relative to orga-
nized crime the movements, if any, of underworld elements in
anticipation of profiteering from casino gaming, an areca which
has been notoriously vulnerable to underworld intrusion. The

* See pages 190 to 224 of this Annual Report.
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Commission’s staff has concentrated on colleeting and collating
clear, comprehensive, up-to-date information velative to organized
erime infiltration, no matter how masked, so the citizens of the
state and their elected public officials can be alerted to any problems
posed by eriminal penetration and can take appropriate corrective
action.

In addition to investigative and researeh work on such direct
and indirect issues raised by the advent of the new Clasino industry
as organized crime, street crime, operational integrity and law
enforcement and investigative funetioning of a Casino Control
ageney, the C'ommission also has undertaken the difficult overall
burden of drafting positions and proposals for a crime-proof and
corruption-proof casino gambling control law that will guavantee
the kind of honest gambling action the punlic has beer promised
by promoters of the proposition.

Although this extensive inquiry, which has required field con-
ferences with experts in distant jurisdictions where casino gam-
bling is permitted as well as time-consuming surveillance in the
Atflantic City avea, has imposed additional pressuves on the S.C.I.’s
limited personnel and fiscal resources, the Commigsion nonctheless
intends to fulfill its responsibility to help assure that Casino Gan-
bling will be insulated to the greatest extent possible from eriminal
or corruptive influences.
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INVESTIGATION OF THE PRE-PAROLE RELEASE
PROGRAMS OF THE WEW JERSEY STATE
CORRECTIONAL SYSTEM

INTRODUCTION

In late 1974 and continuing into 1975, the Commission received
a number of complaints alleging abuses and rip-offs of the pre-
parole release programs of the New Jersey State Correctional
System. The complaints came from both public officials and private
citizens. In order to evaluate fully the complaints, the Commission
conducted preliminary inquiries into the standards and operations
of the various programs—including furloughs, work releases, edu-
cational releases, community releases and transfers of inmates
from prison to prison. By September, 1975, information gathered
by the inquirvies clearly indicated to the C'ommission that these
basically worthy programs, which aimed at suceessful re-introduc-
tion of inmates to society, had become riddled with weaknesses
which fostered exploitive abuses. Accordingly, the Commission by
resolution authorized a full investigation of the programs at the
various state prison units, an investigation which continued into
1976—the period during which the Commission’s small statt
climaxed simultaneous investigations into such arveas as the
practitioner, hospital and nursing home components of the Medi-
caid Program and thie land acquisition practices and procedures
of Middlesex County under New Jersey’s Green Acres Program.

The prison investigation included the examination of tons of
records both in Commission offices and in the field. These records
and documents included applications for entry into release pro-
grams, classification committec papers used in recording decisions
on entries into the programs, monthly reports detailing which
inmates were let out on releases by the various institutions,
inmate classification folders which contain inmates’ prison his-
tories, prison log books which purport to record the in-and-out
status of inmates on a daily basis, records pertaining to inmate
population movements among the various prisons, correspondence
of various program coordinators and superintendents, business
remittance records of inmates, personal bank account records of
prison emplovees and families of inmates, and official trial and
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sentencing records of courts of competent jurisdiction. This phasc
of the investigation was expedited by the special and complete co-
operation afforded the 8.C.I. by the Office of the Commissioner of
what was then the Institutions and Agencies Department and
particularly by the then Deputy Commissioner Robert I, Muleahy,
ITT

This massive research and analysis of records followed up by
hundreds of interviews by S.C.I. agents of individuals showed
in full factual form specific patterns of improprieties and abuses.
Armed with this data, the Commission was able to subpena and
question under oath inmates and other individuals in an intense
and thorough manner which in numerous instances left witnesses
with the option of cither breaking the inmates’ code of silence
by testifying fully or facing coercive contempt proceedings in the
Courts. As a result, the Commission at five days of public hearings
in May and June 1976, was able to document exploitations of the
pre-parole release programs in the following areas:

* Falsification of furlough and other types of rclease
applications and documents to gain premature entry
into the programs. A highlight of the hearings was
the presentation of the facts relative to a hogus
Superior Court Appellate Division decision which
was inserted in the files of an inmate and was the
basis for his total sentence being substantially
shortened. The inmate was identified by State Police
testimony as having associations with a leading New
Jersey organized crime figure. Since the S.C.I. hear-
ings, this inmate has been indicted for murder and
on federal bank fraud charges. Also in connection
with this particular inmate and the bogus document
gitnation, a key witness hefore the S.C.I. has heen
indicted for perjury and false swearing. Five inmates
were indicted for escape by fraud.

¢ The establishment of favored status for certain in-
mates who then become subject to pressures from
other immates wanting to make use of the favored
status to gain premature and unqualified entry into
the program. Under these conditions, a svstem of
bartering for special favors, including monetary
exchanges among inmates, flourished. That type of
system ercated in the minds of the inmate populations
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the iinpression that releases are not obtained on merit
but rather on favors, money and pressure.

® The ease with which work and educational veleases
could be ripped off by inmates because of a free-form
of supervision and check-up approach.

* The intrusion of a system of bavter-for-favor in
procedures attendant on transfers of inmates among
the various penal institutions.

Prior to the hearings, and while the S.C.I1."'s investigation was
in progress, the State Department of Institutions and Agencies,
since restructured into a Department of Corrections and a Depart-
ment of Human Resources, made meaningful efforts to correct
deficiencies in the programs. These efforts included restriction
of the type of inmate eligible for releases, removal of inmate clerks
from certain sensitive positions and adoption of a federal-type
system of more proper furlough forms, verification of these forms,
transmittal of the forms to area parole offices and some in-field
verification of furloughs. The investigative record compiled by
the Commission, however, demonstrates the need for further cor-
rective steps to bring the programs to a point where system
integrity is virtually foolproof and, therefore, deserving of the
proper and needed levels of publie confidence and support.

BACKGROUND

In 1969 the Department’s then Division of Correction and Parole
instituted various pre-parole release programs under N.J.S.4.
30:4-91.3. The purpose of pre-parole release was in keeping with
modern correctional goals and theories, ostensibly to provide for a
smoother transition and reintroduction of inmates to the free com-
munity. The theory behind granting such releases is that the
return of inmates to society without some pre-parole or pre-release
opportunity for gradual reintegration is detrimental to hoth the
inmates and the members of the law abiding community.

However, as so often occeurs with the initial stages of pro-
gressive programs which strive for undeniably worthy goals, the
pre-parole release system of New Jersey became riddled with
wealnesses which led to exploitive abuses in contravention of the
effectiveness of the programs. These transgressions included the
falsifying of records and documents crucial to the programs’
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proper functioning; the granting of release privileges to un-
qualified applicants; and the actual or appavent power of inmate
clerks to subvert the system and receive remuneration from those
expecting to benefit from the subversion. These are just some of
the problems creating an atmosphere at the prisons in which in-
mates were left with the impression that releases were obtained
not only on merit but also on favors, money, pressures, and
deception. Furthermore, once out on release, opportunities for
abuses by inmates were numerous due to the lack of pre-verifica-
tion, meaningful spot-checks of inmates’ actions while outside the
prison walls, and the failure to restriet inmates to any identifiable
area while in the free community.

Fortunately, much has been done {o put the pre-parole programs
on the right track during the past year, a time span which coineides
with the Commission’s initial inquiries and subsequent full in-
vestigation of the programs. Recent reforms in this arca include
a more sophisticated furlough application form and procedure,
verification of the information indicated on the form, transmittal
of the form to area parcle officers, and some in-the-field verification
of inmates’ whereabouts. Additionally, there has been a significant
recuction in the use of inmate clerks. Yet despite these laudable
reforms, the following report will demonstrate the need for further
corrective measures to bring the system to a point where the in-
tegrity of the programs is virtually fool-proof and therefore
deserving of the proper and needed levels of public confidence and
support. This report will point out the need for still more checks
and balances in certain procedures and a critical nrgency for suffi-
cient funding to eliminate the necessitv of inmate labor in the
administration of the prison system.

This report follows an extensive investigation hy the (‘ommis-
sion’s staff of virtunally thousaunds of records and docmments per-
taining to these programs. This thorough research and analysis,
followed by hundreds of interviews of individuals by S.C.T. agents,
clearly demonstrated the aforementioned improprieties and abuses.
This knowledge was followed by extensive private questioning of
inmates and officials under oath with the threat of additional in-
carceration and culminated with five days of public hearings in
May and June 1976. It should he noted that it took the threat of
coercive incarceration vested by statute in the S.C'.1. to hreak what
has been referred to as the ““prisomer’s code’’ which includes
among its maxims ‘‘never raty on a con’ and ‘‘be loyal {o your
class—the cons’’. The Commission used its immunity power more
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often than usual in this investigation because of inherent credibility
problems of inmates.

While this report will demonstrate the weaknesses of the system,
the Commission does recognize the validity and potential of pre-
parole release programs and indeed encourages such programs
provided the necessary safeguards are taken to protect their in-
tegrity and additional steps are taken to facilitate their reaching
proper correctional goals.

Tur TESTIMONY
Furlongh Objectives Change

The furlough program allowed certain inmates to leave prison
for up to days at a time. In the fall of 1975, after several sensa-
tional and mueh publicized crimes were committed by inmates
while they were on furlough, Mr. Muleahy, then Deputy Commis-
sioner of the Department of Institutions and Agencies, was named
by Comnmmisisoner Ann IKlein to head up a task force to review the
furlough svstem and its operation. Mr. Muleahy testified publicly
that his investigation did not touch upon the work release, com-
munity release or educational release programs. Several of the
furlough force’s findings coincided with those of the S.C.I. In his
public testimony before the Commission, Mr. Muleahy pointed out
that while the original objective of the furlough program was to
offer selected inmates a vehicle for successful reintegration into
the community in order to emhance the inmate’s opportunity to
succeed when he was no longer a prisoner, after the 1971 riots at
Rahway State Prison greater emphasis was put on allowing in-
mates to have furloughs as a method of easing tensions in the
prisons. This attitude was reflected by a lessening of the eligibility
requirements for furloughs as well as in a more liberal interpreta-
tion of official objectives of the program. The fairly specifir objec-
tives stated in the 1970 standards were:

To cstablish a program whereby selected inmates
are allowed to return to the Community for specific
periods of time to maintain and strengthen construe-
tive ties with family and the community ; to provide an
additional opportunity for pre-release preparation by
permitting inmates to secure employment; complete
arrangements for education programs and secure
housing; and to test readiness for release of parole.
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This was replaced by the more liberal and vague standards which
in 1975 stated:

To establish and maintain a program whereby se-
lected inmates are allowed to return to the com-
munity for speecified periods of time to maintain and
strengthen family and construetive relationships; to
enable inmates to modify their life styles; and to en-
gage in the kinds of activities which will enable them
to cope with existing demands, changing conditions,
and acceptable standards of living

Quite naturally, the result of this change in attitude was that
more inmates became eligible for furloughs and, in fact, were
released; and since the stafl and personncl responsible for admin-
istering the furloughs was not increased proportionately, there
was a rise in the abuses, inequities, and exploitation of the pro-
gram. Mr. Muleaby testified as to the new cligibility standards
and the problems created by them:

Q. Now as a result of your work on the task force
committee, Mr. Mulcahy, did youw learn of new pur-
poses to which the furlough program began to be put
that went far beyond these original purposes?

A. Yes, sir, from the information and the inter-
views that we had it became apparent to us that, in
addition to the original concept of reintegration,
which necessarily was hased upon some set date in
which an inmate was going out, there weve a nuuber
of changes that took place in the program following
the riots.

First of all, the concept of a set or final release
date was changed to an anticipated date. This related
to an anticipated date of a hearing before the Parole
Board when in reality the experience was sueh that
first appearances before the parole board usually
did not result in release for, at least, the =erious
erimes.

What that caused to oceur was something that we
called a recurring eligibility syndrome in the sense
that you had someone who had a long sentenee qualify
for furloughs hecause he had an anticipated parole
date, went before the parole board, was denied parole,
was suspended from the privilege of furlough until
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the next time that he had another hearing before the
parole hoard.

# % % #*

Q. Would you say that, as you learned from your
study, that the management of the penal system began
to use the furlough to reduce over-crowding pres-
sures?

A. Yes, without question.

@. But in the past, from your evaluation, you
found that if an inmale was awarded minmimum Se-
curily status, it was almost antomatic that the inmate
also received  furlough privileges?

A. Yes, sir. . . .

*
%
*

The testimony of Stanley J. Waltz, assistant superintendent at
Leesburg State Prison at the time in question, reiterated the
administrative problem caused by a burgeoning inmate population
of eligibles:

Q. Now,when the furlough program was first insti-
tuted at Leesburg, do you have any recollection n
terms of a ballpark figure of the amount of inmates on
the farm that would be eligible to participate?

A. T would say probably a ballpark figure of forty
or fifty inmates,

Q. Forty or fifty. dnd the ballpark—I'm sorry,
and the population of the farm is pretty steady at 53007
A. Yes, it was steady at approximately 300.

Q. And in 1974, again when you left Leesburg, how
many mmates were eligible to participate in the fur-
lough program?2

A. At the farm, I would give a ballhouse figure,
again, of about 150

Q. Al right, so that the eligibility tripled, bui yet
the supervision only increased by some fraction; is
that right?

A. That’s right.




William IFauver, divector of what was then the Division of
Correction and Parole, defended the sudden liberalization and
expansion of pre-parole programs by poinfing out that the changes
were an important factor in bringing the New Jevsey prison system
throngh a critical period in the wake of the Rahway viots:

There was very little, really, that the institutions
themselves could do in the way of liberalization.
Changing some criteria for work release and fur-
loughs by lengthening the time that a man could be on
it, for example, liheralizing the number of furloughs,
those tvpes of things were very real and very
important things to the inmate population, and T
think the expansion of the furlough programs and
the work release programs were important to bringing
the New Jersev prison system through a very critical
time in the post-Rahway situation.

Q. Theywere helpful in keeping the lid on?
A. Yes, they were, very.

No Pre- or Post-Furlough Interviews

‘While some furlongh objectives did exist, there was an apparent
lack of concern on the part of the administration with whether
those objectives were being reached by inmates going out on
furloughs. Trenton State Prison Inmate Bernard Bellinger was
questioned about furlough procedures in this regard:

Q. Does any body sit down with that inmate to try
to make a determination as to whether or not, consid-
ering the purpose of the furlough, that that furlough
is somehow going to benefit that inmate?

A. No one ever did. Im fact, most of them even
hated to go out to the farm or inside the prison or
even talk with them about the furlongh. Once it was
approved, they’re supposcd to go to him and, you
know, get a money transfer for him and go over the
rules with him. Very rarely did anyone ever go aver
the rules with anyone. Nobody even talked to them.

# # # %

. When the inmates would come back from the
furlough would anyone sit down with the inmate to
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try and determine whether or not the purpose of the
furlough had been accomplished and whether or not
the inmate had somehow benefited?

A. Once you came back from the J"mlough the
only way vou would hear anything again is if he got
busted while he was on furlough or somebody a]led
up and said he did something wrong on the furlough.
Then instead of them talking to you, they would cut
yvour furlough off and wouldn’t even give you a
reason most of the time.

% * * ¥

Under questioning, former Trenton State Prison Superintendent
Alan Hoffman confirmed that there was no pre- or post-furlough
interview to determine whether or not the inmate’s furlough plax
fit within the objectives of the program, or whether the inmate
derived positive social benefit from the [urlough. Mr. Hoffman
testified further:

Q. You mentioned the term ‘‘succeeded on
furlough’’?
A. Right.

Q. TWhat does lhat mean to you as a superin-
tendent?

A. That means the individual came back on time
and we had no reason to believe he did anything on
furlough that he shouldn’t have done.

Q. All right. And isn’t that quite different than
saying that an inmate succeeded on furlough because
he accomplished the purpose of the fwlouq/z or
attained the goals of whatever they might be in connec-
lion with the objectives?

A. Yes.

Q. Al right. I’'m viewing your definition of success
as more of a body count than some sort of psy-
chological qualitative measure.

A. Fair encush,

Q. Al right.

Commssionzr Berrini: Well, we would almost

say there was a negative approach rather than a

positive finding.

Tae Wrryzess: Yes.
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Q. So that when the public sees success rates of
99.1 or higher for the Furlough Program, what that
success rate is really portraying s a return of m-
mates from furlough, is that fair, rather than some
qualitative goal attainment on the part of those
nmates?

A. That’s fair.

* % £ ES

The furlough coordinator at Leesburg agreed that the ‘‘success
rate’’ was misleading:

Q. Well, in your mind now and dealing specifically
during the time period that you served what, as the
furlough coordinater at Leesburg, was the program at
Leesburg ninety-nine point some percent successful?

A. The statistics would show that it was ninety-
nine point some percent successful in that the only
statistics that show up are the people that don’t come
back. The escape rate, I think, is what they were talk-
ing about that was not ninety-nine point some per-
cent successful.

Q. Soinyour own nund they're cquating the escape
rate with the success rate?

A. Yecah, T would say that’s what they’re doing.
Now, they are not talking about program ahuse,
what’s actually happening when the immates are on
the street or the—is the program actually doing what
it was designed to do. In the standards it says the
program is designed to do this, this, this, strengthen
community ties. Half the time no one ever knew where
the 1mmates were. If vou tried to get in touch with
them, it couldn’t be done.

Cuammman Rooricurz: Do I understand you
correctly, them, if an inmate got out on the
Ifurlough Program and let’s say, for the sake of
an example, committed a serious offense and
was returned to the institution, that that incident
would not be part of the statistic on the success
rate so it wouldn’t be an escape?

Tar Wirxess: Yeah, The statistics on the
escape rates or on the success rates are very
vague, really. It wouldn’t be an escape, really. It
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would go down more as a type of thing on the
reporting form as arvested ou furlough or if he
actually wasn’t arrested it would just sometimes
go down as a late.

Mn., Dicgson: And of course a late, ax [ un-
derstand

Tue Cmammax: The definition does not f{it
with the escape rate?

Tre Wrreness: No.
Trnr Cmamaax: Or the success rate?

Tae Wirxess: No, [t’snot counted against it.

Phony Court Opinion

The S.C.I investigation revealed that laxities permeated the
system and went even to procedures involving recovds of the
most eritical nature. The public hearings revealed testimony that
the prison-time of one inmate, Patrick P’izuto, was substantially
reduced by virtue of a document sent to Trenton State Prison
which purported to be a deeision handed down by the Appellate
Division of the New Jersey Superior Court. Pizuto was identified
by Carl Chiaventone, an infelligence expert on organized crime
and assistant supervisor of the New Jersey State Police Intelli-
gence Burean, as being strongly connected with organized crime
and particularly with Anthony ““Little Pussy™ Russo, known to
be a high ranking menber of the Vito Genovese organized erime
family. Pizuto was originally sentenced in 1965 to serve from
five to eight yvears for offenses including robbery, being armed
in conneetion with that robbery and for obtaining money under
false pretenses. He was paroled in 1967, but that parele was
revoked in 1968 when he was charged in Bergen County with
carrying a weapon without a permit, and with robhery in Passaice
County. He was convicted and sentenced in conueetion with the
Bergen County charge in November of 1968, Tn December of that
same year he was convicted on the vobhery charge and the judge
ordercd that his sentence was to run conseeufive to the Bergen
County sentence and his parole violation time. The alleged Ap-
pellate Division decision modified the Dceeember sentenecing by
ordering it to run concurrent with the parole violation and Bergen
County conviction—with the end result being that Pizuto was
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eligible for and did receive a pavole 782 days earlier and gain
admission to work release and furlough privileges sooner than
he normally would have.

Lena Aversano, a Trenton State Prison employee who computed
inmate time and handled inmate files, testified that she gave Pizuto
and others sample copies of Appellate Division opinions relating
to modification of sentences. She claimed that she knew Inmate
Pizuto hecause he worked in the Trenton State Prison Classifica-
tion Department. She gave Pizuto the sample opinions at an
apartment after 10:30 p.m. rather than at the prison. She claimed
he would leave the prison at 6:00 or 7:00 am. and not retwn
until 11:00 o 12:00 pan. to go on work release in Trenton.

Sometime later, Pizuto asked her if she had received an opinion
on his case from the courts. Shortly thercafter, she did and nmodi-
fied his senfence downward according lo its terms.

When shown the opinion and her time computations, she testi-

fied :

Q. Mrs. Aversano, can you tell from looking at
the time computalion, I know it’s been a long time,
can you tell from looking at the {ime computation
whether that computation would have been made be-
fore or after the dppellate Division gave the opinion?

A. No, it would have been made when I got this.

Q. Made when you got it. Okay. So when you
made that time computation you took the Appellate
Division into account, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And can you just tell us approximately, and
if you can pinpoint it from your figures, can you tell
us the amount of time in terms of days or years that
the dppellate Division actually would have modified
Mr. Pizuto’s sentence?

A. Would have modified?

@. Yes.

A, Tt wouldn’t have modified this. It would have
modified the Fact that his parole violation would have
been adjusted to this.

Q. Al right.

A. It didn’t change his
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Q. Well, did the Adppellate
A. —his sentence from the Appellate Division
itself. You know, his original sentence.

Tar Coammax: What did he benefit from the
opinion?

Tar Wriryess: He didn’t have to revert to a
former number and do additional time on the
violation.

Tror Cmamrmax: How much time would that
have been? How much time did he save by that
opinion?

Tar Wityess: Well, let’s see. This one com-
pleted it—he completed the other one which
would have been with it running concurrent, 1970.
I have to have the other card to see what the
other one was. I would say a couple of years.

Q. 4 couple of years?

A. Yes, that he wouldn’t have to revert to his old
number and then have to wait to be heard again
by the Board.

‘While the opinion had great significance, apparvently its validity
was never determined by prison officials. Mr. Hoffman, the former
superintendent of Trenton State Prison, admitted that indeed it
was not the usual practice to verify writs from the courts. The
testimony of Klizabetli McIlaughlin, Clerk of the New Jersey
Superior Court, Appellate Division, clearly indicated that the
““opinion’’ was not authentic. In sum, her undisputed testimony
was that there was no record of this opinion at all; there was no
record of the three judges who allegedly signed the opinion ever
sitting together and in fact there was no record of the existence
of one of the judges who allegedly signed the opinion; the format
of the opinion did not strictly conform with that of typical Appellate
decisions mor was it written on the official stationery of the
Appellate Division; there appeared on the document the signature
of a clerk who would not normally sign such a document; a cover
letter explaining the effect of the decision accompanied the opinion
—again not a usual practice ; there were spelling and typing errors
of a nature not normally contained in a genuine Appellate Division
opinion, and the docket number appearing on the Pizuto opinion
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is officially recorded as the docket number for the wholly unrelated
case of State v. Kelley. Finally, Mrs. McLaughlin testified:

Q. Mrs. McLaughlin, was the opinion Slate against
Pizuto one which was rendered by the Appellate Divi-
ston in your mind?

A. T would say not.

Q. In fact, it’s as phony as a three dollar bill,
isn’t it?

A. I have no case—I can’t find any case at all in
my records of Mr. Pizuto.

It should be noted that information relating to this aspect of
the S.C.I.’s investigation was handed over to the State Atforney
Gteneral’s Office and in a recent court decision Pizuto has heen
ordered to return to prison, pending appeai. While incarcerated,
he was indicted for murder and on federal bank fraud charges.
In addition, Mrs. Aversano subsequently was indicted by the
State Grand Jury on one count of perjury and three counts of
false swearing in connection with testimony before the S.C.1. on
details related to her admissions to the Commission.

Ineligibles Receive Furlonghs—Release Date the Key

The public and private hearings revealed testimony of numerous
instances where inmates at Leesburg State Prison did not meet the
furlough eriteria but nevertheless received furloughs. The inmates
were able to do this by falsely filling out their furlough applications
—particularly with respeet to the questions on the application
regarding release date and prior number of farloughs granted.
To be eligible for furloughs the inmate had to be within a certain
number of months from his parole or release date. Therefore, by
filling in the application with a date within that period, he would
make himself eligible. Furthermore, if the inmate put down that
he had received previous furloughs, this apparently expedited the
process with less likelihood that the veracity of the information on
the application would be checked or even seen by the appropriate
committee. The following is a sampling of inmate testimony
regarding this scheme at a time when the required period was
six months:
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Q. Would you have put a date down on this
application which would make you ineligible, that is,
outside the siz-month period?

A. T don’t think I would have.

Another inmate, Nick Mitarotonda, testified:

@. I direct your attention to the second page of
that packet there, sir, and ask you to look at Ttem 4,
question 4, where it asks for a release date. What date
is entered in that line?

A. December 17th,

Q. When were you released?
A. April 6th.

Q. Was the December 17th notation a correct re-
lease date for you?
A. No, it wasn’t.

Q. [ direct your attention to Item 8 on the same
page. It asks for how many furloughs that you had
been on previous to this one. What answer is on that
form?2

A. Two.

Q. Did you, in fact, have any previous furloughs
prior to the vne you were making application for?
A. No.

* * &*

Q. Well, then, what caxsed you to put down the
wrong rclease date and the incorrect number of
furloughs?

A. Well, I watched a couple of other inmates make
furlough applications out and I just took a shot; you
know, just took a chance that it would go through.

Examination by the Chairman:
Q. Now, why did you pick December 17th rather
than April the 6the
A. Well, from the time that I was going out, at

the time that was the criteria. It had to be within six
months.
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Q. So some rule said you had to be within six
months of your release date?
A. Right.

Q. So you picked a date that you were siz months
i front of and simply put it down?
A. Yes.

Q. Lven though it was false?
A. Right.

Q. Why did you say you had been out on other
Ffurloughs? Is that because it would indicate to some-
body that you had qualified sometime before?

A. Maybe if T put down I was on furlough hefore
they wouldn’t check it.

Q. Sowhen you said to us you took a shot, you took
a shot by putting down two false answers assuming
that it would get by the entire system and allow you to
go out on furlough?

A. Not that T was assuming. T took a chance. I
wanted to go home,

Q. But there was something in that grapevine that
mdicated to you that would work because the system
was that weak?

A. Tt was just hearsay.

Q. dnd you took advantage of that hearsay and
you got out? ‘
A. Right.
3 ¥ * E
The paucity of checks and doublechecks hecame apparent in the
questioning of another inmate, Austin ““Big C’? Johnson.

Q. Because I notice on C-27 in evidence here, that
is your successful furlough application which is
certainly questionable, was circulated to the super-
intendent, to Mr. Walte, to Deputy Feenan, to classi-
fication, to the medium control center, to the minimum
control eenter, to Captain McDonald and file and no-
body picked this up?

A. I guess not.

Q. So it’s « pretiy porous system?
A, T¥’s your system,
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Testimony of Kmeral Hayden, Captain at Leesburg Prison, was
that initial eligibility of inmates was determined by the Classifica-
tion Committee while subsequent applications for specific furlough
dates were handled by a furlough subcommittee. According to
Captain Hayden, one of these two bodies had the responsihility
of verifying the information on the furlongh application.

Unsystematic Dealings

George Risi testified that before the institution of the subcom-
mittee, he had the responsibility as furlough coordinator of veri-
fying the imformation on some 200 applications per month with
no staff other than his inmate clerks.

Testimony brought out other unsystematic dealings with fur-
lough applications. For one, the manner in which the applications
were presenfed ineluded dropping it into the captain’s box or
handing it to the captain or one of the inmate clerks personally.
In addition, while furlough applications had to be in within 14
days of the desived release, there was no system to assure com-
pliance with this other than Hayden's own system of initialing the
applications; and on several occasions those initials as well as
the signature of furlough coordinator Risi were forged.

Bellinger, an inmate who was a furlough clerk at Trenton State
Prison, testified that he was often given the task of wverifving
whether or not an inmate applyving for a furlough was cligible,
i.e, to check if the inmate was on minimum custody, when his
pavole date came up (he checked this with an inmate clerk in the
Classification Department), and if the inmate had been on previous
furluoghs that month. Bellinger admitted that on occasion he
would mot disqualify an immate he knew to he ineligible. e
testified:

AL T felt as though it really wasn’t my responsi-
bility to keep someone in prison. After all, T'm a
prigsoner, too, and it’s not my responsibility to make
sure a gny stavs in, T did a fairly good job of scrcen-
ing the most—the majorvity of the applications to keep
guvs out, but when someone came up that I knew that
T was sort of friends with, T would just tend to let
that one go by.




The prison superintendent at the time, Mr. Hoffman, festified
that to his knowledge it was the furlough coordinator’s responsi-
bility to personally verify the iuformation on the applications
and not delegate that duty to his clerks. However, Bellinger testi-
fied that he did many tasks in the furlough office including answer-
ing phones and that on one occasion, when the civilian furlough
officer was away at conferences, he literally ran the office for four
days, processing many furloughs and providing information to
police anthorities before anyone realized that there was no civilian
in charge.

Furlonughs for Sale

A recurring problem, as brought out in the hearings, was the
use of inmates as clerks in sensitive areas. In Leesburg State
Prison, inmates were working in the furlough coordinator’s office
and by ecither forging signatures, slipping in fraundulent applica-
tions to be signed or other deceptive practices, the inmate clerks
in that office had the actual or apparent control over who went
out on furloughs and who didn’t. Some of the clerks used this
power to obtain remuneration from other inmates. Following is
the testimony of Calvin Geathers relating to the sale of furloughs
at Leesburg:

Q. There was general tallk around the farm thal
if you paid moneys furloughs could be had?
A. Yes.

Q. What was the nature of the tallk? Was there
a price mentioned?
A. Yes, different prices.

Q. From what low price to what high price?
A. Well, a hundred dollars, fifty dollars, whatever
they could get.

Q. From fifty to «¢ hundred you heard. Did you
ever approach someone about obtaiming o furlough
for a price?

A. Yes, I approached someone.

Who did you approach?
A guy working in the furlough office, an inmate.

Was he an twmate?
Yes,

PO PO
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Was his name Russo?
Yes, it might be Russo.

He was an inmate clerk, wasn’t he?
Yes.

Q. All right. And what was the nature of youwr
conversation with Russo? What did you say to him
and what did he say to you?

A. Well, T asked him was it possible about a
furlough.

PO o

Q. And what did he say?
A, He said, yes.

Q. dnd did he suggest a price?
A. Yes, he did.

Q. How much did he tell you it would cost for your
fmlough?

A. As I remember, not knowing, I think it was a
hundred dollars at the time.

#* * #* *

Another inmate, Richard Hamilton, ITI, testified:

Q. With reference to this furlough of September
28th that you testified to, sir, did you make payments
to anyone in order to obtain that furlough?

A, Yes, I did.

Q. cnd to whom did you make this payment and
how much?
A, 1t was $50 and I made it to Russo and Chico.

Q. Russo and Chico. dre these prison officials?
A. No.

). Or are they inmates?

A. Inmates.

Q. Did you pay cash?

A, Yes, I did.

Q. As a result of your paying cash to a man named
Russo and Chico, did you go out on furlough?
A. Yes, I cid.




Under a grant of use immunity pursnant to the S.C.I. powers
under N.J.S.d. 52:9M-17, both Anthony Russo and Iidwin
““Chico”’ Williams reluctantly verified the fact that they were
selling furloughs on a regular basis at Leesburg. The testimony
of these two clerks indicate that they did in fact have a good deal
of power with regard to inmates receiving furloughs. TRusso
testified:

Q. Well, the fact that you knew that and by filling
wn two blanks and by-pass the classification system,
the judgment as to who goes out can very well be
made by yourself?

A. Right.

Q. And it wouldn’t matter who that person was,
what he was wn there for or how ineligible he was, but
the system would be beaten and you could make the
Judgment to let him out?

A. Right.

Q. And he would go out and come in and no one
would question you?
A. Exactly.

That administrative failures enabled the inmate clerks to have
such power was clearly indicated by Russo’s further comments:

Q. Mr. Russo, you didn’t have to be any genius to
mvent this system, did you?
A. No, definitely not.

* #* * #

Q. I understand, but it would simply just go
through and no one would ever check it out?
A. Evidently, right.

- * * P

The testimony of Williams included a more detailed account of
the different methods that were employed to allow an ineligible
inmate to receive a furlough. One method previously dlsoussed
was to advise the inmate how to Il out his application form.
Williams also admitted to forging signatures but noted that this
was often unnecessary since melely by handing his superior a
large group of applications at one time and mcludmo fraudulent
fullolwhs in the group, all of them would he 1out111e1y signed.
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Williams also pointed out that sometimes inmates would be able to
leave without any official signature at all appearing on the forms.
Additionally, where changing of records in the prison control
center was necessary, Williams and other inmates had easy access
and records could be altered with little difficulty. Willlams in-
dicated he received payment for putting through approximately
30-40 illegal furloughs at an average cost of $76 within a 2% month
period. Those numbers justifiably created the impression that
“Chico’’ and Russo decided who went out on furloughs. Williams
testified:

Q. All right now there was a system to grant
furloughs. As a very practical matter, I want you to
tell me where the authority at Leesburg to grant fur-
loughs was placed. TWas it with the superintendent;
was it with the Classification Committee; was it with
the furlough coordinator, or was it with Chico
Williams and Tony Russo?

A. As a matter of fact?

Q. :s a matter of fact?
A. With Chico Williams and Tony Russo.

* #t * »

Russo and Williams also admitted that if an inmate wanted a
furlough, but didn’t have the money to pay for it, he could easily
borrow the money from one of the loan sharks at the prison if he
was willing to pay the exorbitant interest rate.

Did the Administration Kunow?

One of the questions raised by the previous testimony of inmates
is that since it was common knowledge among the inmate popula-
tion that furloughs could be bought, how could the administration
not have some idea of what was going on? Testimony of Williams
indicated that at least at the level of correction officer there was at
least some suspicion of this practice:

Q. Did any corrections officers or civilian per-
sonnel at Leesburg ever approach you, prior to late
October of 74, in connection with the possibility that
you were dealing in illegal furloughs?

A. Yes, officers would approach me on occasion and
malke sport of the fact that furloughs were available
for sale.
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Q. Did anyone on the corrections staff or ciwilian
staff ever ask you if they could buy a furlough from
you?

A. Yes. One officer asked me could he get one for
the weekend, and I told him T was booked up.

¥ * * *

The testimony of Captain Hayden also pointed out that from
the outset there were serious doubts as to the propriety of em-
ploying Inmates as clerks in such sensitive positions; IHayden
testified:

Q. I understand. Now, during the time you were
at the minimum security out on the farm, as it’s some-
times called, were there inmate clerks who worked in
the furlough office?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And that was Mr. George Risi’s office where
these furlough clerks worked?
A. That is correct.

Q. I’d like to, wilth your permission, Captain, I'd
like to read a statement to you and ask you whether
you agree wilh it as an accurate statement or not.
“We had always pushed to get inmates oul of the
furlough office altogether, John Barrick and I and
other custody people, other uniformed people, because
we realized that inmates are, most of the time they
are trying to do you in, they’re trying to be devious
and get something fo, mothing. Al rehabilitation
notwithstanding, they are still inmates and they have
a culture of their own.”” And my question is merely
this: Did you have an objection and do you have an
objection to the use of inmate clerks in the furlough
coordimator’s office, and if you do have such an ob-
jection to the use of immate clerks in the furlough
coordimator’s office, and if you do have such an ob-
jection, is the statement I just read yow an accurate
description of why yow have that objection?

A. Tt’s part of it. I do have the objection and that
does express my views to a certain extent.

Q. Is there anything inaccurate in that statement?
A. Not at all, from my point of view.
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Q. Did you and other uniform corrections officers
voice strong objections to the use of immate clerks
m the furlough offices and programs?

A. Well, T don’t know how I could characterize
anything as strong. We objected. We made our po-
sifions known.

E * %

Q. Andthat one of the Achille’s heels in the system
was that it was so permeated with inmate control?

A. Well, inmate involvement I would say I would
usc that word.

Q. And that’s a difficult brew to have, the mmate
and the key to the jail, isn’t t?

A. I think it’s a difficult thing to have inmates
involved in anything that’s very sensitive.

Furlongh Cover Up

At one point, Captain Hayden was dirvectly alerted to the prac-
tice of selling furloughs by the complaints of two inmates to him.
The testimony is then conflicting as to whether Russo then threat-
encd to expose the failures of the furlough program uuless dealt
with favorably, or whether Captain Havden offered Russo a deal
whereby Russo would agree not to publicize the weaknesses of
the program in exchange for favorable treatment. In any case,
the situation was reported to the highest levels of the administra-
tion at Leeshurg where the vesponse was not to conduet a thorough
investigation into how Russo and Williams were beating the sys-
tem but rather to rid the program of Russo and Williams by
transferving them to Tremton State Prison for ¢‘disobeying or-
ders.”” Since the incident was officially recorded as an acdministra-
tive transfer for ‘‘disobedience of orders’’ it should be noted that
the Parole Board would not be fully informed of the circumstances
that these two inmates were illegally selling furloughs.

Risi, who had been the Leesburg furlough coordinator, testified
as follows:

Q. Other than Mr. Loveland, did you have any
indication at all that Mr. Russo had been selling fur-
loughs to other inmates?

A. There was no—mno official indication that he had
at the time. It was—it seemed to he well known to

-
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us that he had been doing this. Like I said, we never
investigated it any further to sce actually how many
he had or hadn’t sold. The main concern at that time
seemed to be just to get »id of Russo and not to
actually find out what he had done.

Q. All vight. You knew about Mr. Russo and Love-
land. Captain Hayden knew about Russo and Love-
land. Mr. Walte knew about Mr. Russo and Loveland.
Who else?

A, T’m sure the superintendent knew about if.

Q. That would have been Mr. Groomes at the time?
A. Yeah. Idon’t see how an incident like that was
going on without the superintendent knowing about it.

Q. Do you know whether anyone in the Institutions
and Agencies central office knew of the Loveland-
Russo incident?

A. T do not officially know whether anyone knew
of that or mot. There were several—the correction
captain at the time in the back knew of it and in the
medinm unit, that is to say, knew of it. There were
several correction officers that kmew of it. Anvone
that had anything to do with the courtline knew of it.
The classification officer knew of it. Tt was—at the time
around the incident, it was fairly common knowledge
of what had happened.

Q. To the best of your knowledge, was there any
attempt made to nolify either a local prosecutor or
the State Division of Criminal Justice or any other
official agency concerning the Russo-Loveland
wmcident?

A. To the best of my knowledge, I never heard of
any. At the time I knew that Russo was about due
to go to the Parole Board and I was very surprised
to hear that he was released when I heard it.

Q. Do you know whether or not the Parole Board
had knowledge of the Russo-Loveland incident?

A. T have no knowledge as to whether or not they
knew about it. I was never informed that anybody
was informed about it after they were gone.
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Q. Mr. Risi, we often hear that the Furlough
Program as operated by the Department of Institu-
tions and Adgencies in New Jersey is ninety-nine plus
some percent successful. Do yow have any fecling in
your own mind, now, as to whether or not no investiga-
tion was ordered because there might have been some
fueling elsewhere that the results of that investiga-
tion would somehow jeopardize the announced success
rale of the program?

A. There was never any nfficial written or verbal
communication to me that we wanted to suppress or
not publicize the failure rate in the Furlough Pro-
gram. ITowever, the only time—this is an informal
observation on my part, the only time that anything
was ever reallv—any action was ever really taken to
straighten out anything that I might have considered
to be wrong with the Iurlough Program was when
it was publicized and someone hesides the institution
knew of it. That is to say that a man actually went
out on the street and had some type of failure in the
Furlough Program. There were many, many foul-ups
in the program that were never publicized, never
investigated. There were many releases of people
getting out of the institution on furloughs without
signed papers, people that shouldn’t have gotten out
that nothing was ever done about.

Risi told of reporting furlough irregularities to his superiors,
but that nothing was done. He continued:

Q. Somewhere along (he line something must have
broken down, someone must have said, ‘“Forget about
it, that’s not our routine here,”” and you must have
golten the impression that just don’t make waves?

A. Right.

Q. Could you put your finger on what 1t is that gave
you the impression that your function was not to
make waves?

A. Incidents. It would be incidents like the Hamil-
ton furlough here. I reported—I brought it out.
Nobody wanted to do anything about it. I said,
“Okay, nobody wants to do anything about it? T°l

09




put the papers away and forget about it, give the man
his furlongh when he’s eligible for them.”” There were
other incidents over the course of time when I was
there which I can’t say, which I can’t point out to you
exactly what they were where I pointed out the fact
that someone had gotten out on furlough that
shouldn’t have gotten out on a furlough and no par-
ticular hig deal was made about it.

Q. So that you came away with the feeling that
under our system the proper thing to do is mind your
own business; don’t make waves?

A. Depending on how much publicity it got, yeah.

Q. So that your feecling permeates our whole pro-
gressive system?

A. During most of the time that I was furlough
coordinator I would say that that feeling was the feel-
ing that I was given about the Furlough Program.

Inmates Go Unsupervised

While many ineligible inmates were receiving furloughs, perhaps
a potentially more severe problem was what inmates were doing
while in the free community pursuant to these preparole releases.
Due to the lack of adequate spot-checking or supervision of
prisoners on release, much of what they did is left to speculation.
Lieutenant Wayne Muegelsworth, a correetion officer at Leeshurg,
attested fo the gross inadequacies regarding supervision of in-
mates out on release programs and pointed out that generaily,
unless an inmate on release was arrested or failed to return to
the institution at the proper time, the institution had little knowl-
edge of what the inmate actually did or where he was while outside
the prison.

Muggelsworth continued:

Q. Falsification of address is a very good example.
For instance, the only way that we would ascertain
that a false address had been placed on the furlough
application, which we have some reports to bear out,
was if an inmate did not come back or if he came back
late to the effect that we would put into process a
telephone call to the residence and, at that time be
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advised that they had no knowledge of the inmate
or the residence didn’t exist or the telephone number
was fictitious.

Q. And this is all post-furlough?

A. This is all when an inmate did not return.

Q. Responding to a crisis of sorts?
A. Right, absolutely.

Muggelsworth swent on to state:

A. The inmates were completely aware of the fact
that we had no control or no policing function of the
program and, therefore, took advantage of it to the
maximum extent,

&

* #* W

Little Supervision Means Big Problems

Lieutenant Muggelsworth pointed out, with documentation to
support his observations, the problem of numerous escapes by
those participating in release programs. In addition, Muggels-
worth brought forth the seriousness of the sitnation regarding
inmates returning to the prison with contraband. He noted that
even with a limited staff permitting only minimal searching pro-
cedures, contraband ranging from narcotics, to money, to weapons
was invariably discovered. Muggelsworth also testified that at one
time immates returning to the prison were subjected to a urine
monitoring test but in many cases, despite positive test results
indicating drug use by the inmate while out on release, the inmate
would nevertheless be permitted to continue in the program. In
response to a question regarding the eriminal activities of inmates
while on furlongh, Muggelsworth responded:

A. We have numerous reports of inmates com-
nutting various aectivities ranging from murder,
armed robbery, rape, arson and the whole spectrum
of the crimes—the whole crime spectrum. We had
reports that inmates were incarcerated in county jail
while they were on three-day furloughs, yes.

* * * *

Muggelsworth also noted that the same problem existed with
respect to inmates on work and education release.
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Double Standard for Crimes Committed by Inmates

Another problem brought out in the hearings was the oceurrence
of inmates committing crimes, i.e., violating eriminal statutes, but
being dealt with administratively rather than having the matter
referred to the wvrosecutor’s office. For example, when Chico
Williams was fouud in possession of a small amount of marijuana,
a violation of N.J.S.4. 24:21-20 with a potential penalty of six
months in jail and $500 fine, he was dealt with strictly on an admin-
istrative level resulting in a brief isolation lock up at Lieesburg and
subsequent transfer to Trenton State Prison. In response fo
questioning about such double standards, superintendent of Lees-
burg, Ronald Groomes, testified that there were divisional (Divi-
sion of Correction and Purole) standards which included sanctions
for various actions by inmates and that those sancticns did provide
the ““option’’ of referring the incident to the prosecutor. It does
appear, then, that there is a good deal of discretion vested in the
particular institution witl regard to referring a matter.

Since the S.C.I. hearings, a procedure has heen established under
wiuich a representative of the State Police, the Division of (‘riminal
Justice and the Department of Corrections and Parole review
matters of possible criminal consequence and make appropriate
referrals, :

Statistics Do Lie

Superintendent Groomes also indicated that the success rate of
the furlough program at Leesburg is officially listed at about 99%.
However, under questioning Groomes admitted that in the general
statement of the 1975 budget ; resentation for Leeshurg it is
stated that 8.85% of those furloughed violated some section of
the institutional vules and 1.28% escaped. Add to this the fact
that much of what the inmates do while on furlough is unknown,
and it is clear to see that the approximate 99% success rate re-
flects only a body count and is far from a true assesment of the
success of the program. Under further questioning, G(iroomes
testified :

Q. So, then, when you compile these statistics,
you're really using the tips of the iceberg in order
to make generalizations; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. So they don’t really reflect the tremendous
problems that obviously exist; is that correct?
A. That’s correct, sir.

Q. So,then,if we want to get a real feeling for how
badly the programs are abused in a sense that false
addresses, contraband, we have to go a little beyond
your statistics; is that right?

A. That’s right, sir.

Escort Furloughs or Paid Tax; Service

Another of the pre-release programs the public hearings dealt
with was the abuses in the escort furlough program. This program
is one whereby an eligible inmate is permitted to leave the prison
for a 12-hour period as long as he is accompanied by an approved
escort. While the eriteria for deciding who may be allowed to be an
escort has varied, the problems have not. One common abuse,
revealed by the public hearings as well as in private testimony,
was that of escorts including institutional employees, acting, essen-
tially, as a taxi service. In these instances the escort would pick
the inmate up at the institution, drop bim off at his desired
clestination—often times across state lines, then pics him up later
and report back to the prison within the 12-hour period. So while
the standards provided for tlie escort to accompany thie inmate at
all times during the 12-hour periud, this regulation commonly was
disregarded. A related abuse involved escorts charging inmates
for their services. Again while the regulations bar an escort from
accepting any remuneration whatsoever from the inmate, it was
commonly done. Llovd Carter, a civilian escort testified as to his
procedure with Inmate Frank Delelice:

Q. And did you discuss price with him after telling
him that it would cost him?
A, Yes, T did.

Q. And what was the price agreed upon?
A, $150.

Q. dnd Mr. Delelice, I ussume, did agree to that
price?
A, Yes.




Q. And where did you take Mr. DeFelice on the
first escorted furlough?
A. To his home in Netcong.

* * * *

Q.. Did you stay with Mr. DeFelice on that occasion?
A. No, I did not.

Q. Did you pick him up later on in enough time to
get back to the institution?
A. Yes, Idid.

% # 5 E3

And in at least one instance a girlfriend of an inmate regularly
acted as that inmate’s escort by representing that she was his
daughter. This sham was made possible by the aforementioned
practice of having inmates in sensitive positions with access to
various records and failure to check on them.

Bellinger, the inmate clerk at Trenton State Prison, explained
how this was done:

Q. Did you have any prior indication that Joan
Sabarese would be coming down to the furlough office?

A. Yes, I did. Steve Cavano (another inmate)
called me up before they arvived and told me that a
beautiful young lady would be coming into the office
with a gentleman and they are for Frank Martin.
And he said to sign up—you know, make sure I take
care of them. So I asked him, you know, what’s wrong.
I said, ‘‘Does she got identification and everything.”’
He said, ““Yes.”” He said, ““Well, it’s not Frank’s
danghter.”” He said it’s his girlfriend, but he said
sign her up as a daughter. So I said all right because
I don’t check the application. I just take them.

* L 4 * *

Inmate Frank DeFelice completed the charade by listing Ms.
Saharese as Frank Martin’s daughter on her visitation card.

Work Release—More Abuses and Exploitation

Testimony at the hearings also brought to light serious defi-
ciencies in the Work Release Program at the various institutions.
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Under this program, inmates were permitted to leave prison during
the day to work at jobs in the community. The goals of the pro-
gram were to provide inmates with the opportunity to earn money
prior to release and secure employment affer imprisonment. As
with furloughs, much of the problem regarding work release stems
from alack of pre-verification and spot-checking. The Commission
learned that it was not unusual for an inmate to he approved for
work release hours of early moining to late in the evening seven
days a week. One inmate, Robert ‘‘Indian Joe’’ Minfer, testified
to the freedom he enjoved while out on work release and actunally
working on the job for only six hours a day:

Q. And while you were at the work release house
i Trenton, would you go to the sanitation company
cach day?

A. Right.

Q. On work releuse and come back al night?
A. Yes.

Q. dnd would you leave the Work Release House
i Trenton early in the morning?

A. Yes.

Q. dAnd would you return late in the cvening?
A, Yes.

Q. Did anyone ever check on you?

A. No.

Q. Did you have lotal freedom while you were
out during the day? I mean, could you go anyplace
you wished?

A, Yeal, T would say so, you could.

Q. I see. But there wus no supervision of you while
you were out for almost two-thirds of the day?
A. No.

Q. Let me ask you one other thing—When you
were out on work release, how many days a week were
you working?

A. Seven.




Q. Seven. And you would be out from seven a.m.
to 10:30 p.m.2
Sometimes.

P

Seven days a week?
Sometimes a little latex.

o

Sometimes a little later?
Right.

Q. But how long would you actually be functioning
wm your job; how many hours?
A. Approximately six, probably.

Q. Sizx.
A. At that time, six, right.

o

Q. And the rest of the time you were free enough
to travel wherever you would want to go?
A. Right.

* * * *

As to how common it was for those on pre-parole release to
abuse the privilege, Minter stated in private testimony and again
in the public hearings:

A. Well, I'm going to be very frank. You could
put this on the record anyway. It ain’'t one person
that’s on work release, school release, program release
that, you know, really would fill the position like it’s
supposed to be.

Now, it’s not a reason, really a reason for me.
I'm not speaking for them. I cannot stand being
cooped up with these guys, especially in the work
release house. A lot of them shoot dope, smoke
reefers and continually drink. Now, they got super-
vision there. That don’t mean nothing. The only
thing that I do once in awhile and most of the time
ninety-five out of a hundred times I’m on furlough is
take a couple of drinks of scotch, but the narcotics,
the way they use it in the work release house, they
even got the same problem in the Newark House, you
go in early to lay down and rest and you got four or
five guys, ‘‘Lend me a dollar.”” Give me this, give me
that. Inside the jail was just as bad. Where can yvou
really go unless you are free?
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‘When asked whether he was fearful that program administrators
might check on his whereabouts during his extended working hours,
“Indian Joe’’ replied:

A. You see, I'm going to show vou a good point.
It’s a good point you brought up there. They are—the
administrators, they are the bosses. I used to come in,
not bragging, four, five o’clock in the morning, youn
know, sign the thing, but T was never questioned. So
why should T volunteer and tell them, ‘‘Hey, are you
going to do vour job or what?’’ That’s their job.
They getting paid for it, rizht? So they the ones that
should have fulfilled their job. Sometimes I leave five
o’clock in the morning, come back five o’clock. They
know nobody in the world goes to work that long,
common sense would tell you that.

Mg, Dicksox: What more can I say.

A. (Continuing.) This is the whole thing in a nut-
shell. What T was doing, it can’t be hid because it’s
on the record. They got a hig—they log it every day.
Tt’s on the records. They never did their job.

“No Show’’ Jobs

Investigations by the S.C.L as well as public testiimony revealed
numerous instances of inmates having ‘“no show?’ jobs, i.e., where
the inmate is released by the institution to report to his place of
employment but the inmate does not report or only works part
of his scheduled hours. Often in these cases the inmate himself
or his friends or relatives will actually be paving the salavy which
1s deposited into the inmate’s institutional account. Following is
some of the testimony regavding this praectice. Tientenant Muggles-
worth of Leeshurg testified:

Q. Did any inmates suggest that they had a job at
a given location when, in fact, they had not, but were
leaving the institution on « daily basis?

A. Yes, sir, we had cases where one inmate in
particular was working for a realty company, and
instead of going to work he was going to Pennsylvania
and maintained an apartment and voung lady.
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The testimony of Lt., Thomas Julian, a corrections officer at
Trenton State Prison who at one point was given the special
assignment of conducting surveillance of inmates participating in
work release, reflects the kinds of abuses common to the program.

In one case, Lit. Julian visited the supposed work site of Patrick
Pizuto six times without ever seeing him there. Pizuto’s work
release job was at K’s Stereo in Trenton. Pizuto testified that his
work release hours were from early in the morning until midnight,
seven days a week—including Sunday when the store was closed—
at the salary of $117 r.:t pay per week. As to what Mr. Pizuto
actually did with his time while out on work release, much is left
to speenlation. It does appear, however, that he leased and fre-
quented a nearby apartment. While the name of the lease was that
of Pat Monti, Carl Chiaventone of the New Jersey State Police
and an expert in organized crime testified that Pat Monti was a
known alias of Pat Pizuto. Furthermore, Richard Tidy, a New
Jersey State Police detective specializing in document examination
including handwriting identification, testified as to a strong simi-
larity between Pizuto’s known signature and that of Pat Monti
appearing on the lease form, though he could not say conclusively
that both were by the same hand. Further buttressing the theory
is the fact that on two occasions Lena Aversano, a Trenton State
Prison employee, visited Pizuto’s girlfriend (and later his wife) at
that apartment and on both occasions saw Pizuto there as well.

On another assignment, Lit. Jnlian observed an inmate at his job
site, a carpet warehouse, indiscriminately loading ‘‘every rug they
had in the place’’ into a truck. That night the warehouse burned
down—the work of arson. The S.C.I.’s own agents later investi-
gated this incident and learned, as testified to by Special Agent
Michael Paszynsky, that two other inmates were also employed at
the warehouse and that one of the two was said to have a business
interest in it. Additionally, it was learned that the general manager
of the warehouse was instructed by the owner that if anyone ever
called and asked for the inmates, he was to say that they were on
the road.

Un still another occasion, Special Agent Paszynsky was assigned
surveillance of Trenton State Prison work release inmate Michael
Miller. Paszynsky Liad this assignment on four separate occasions
and on none of those four days did Miller report to his job site.
On at least one of those four days he crossed state lines into New

68



York State and at all times was driving a leased vehicle with a
forged license.

The testimony of Lawrence Borek, presently the supervisor of
Community Release Programs at Leesburg, showed how the pre-
viously discussed exploitations could occur. Borek testified that
there is no routine check done on an employer to determine if that
employer has a criminal record or has been known to associate with
eriminals. Borek also revealed that the more distant from the
institution the job site is, the more problems they have. This is
not too surprising since he also testified that while the ecriteria
states that a job site must be within one hour’s traveling time from
the prison, this regulation is routinely extended; that there is
generally no oviginal on site inspection of a job site outside the
one hour range; that the jobs beyond the one hour range are those
the inmates themselves have found; and that no one on the staff
has the prime responsibility for making spot-checks and little sur-
veillance is actually done——wwith proportionately less checking the
further away from the institution the job is. Curiously, then, the
least checking is done on those jobs the inmates themselves have
found. Mr. Borek also admitted that, as with furloughs, the
success rate of the work release program is measured simply in
terms of reported arrests or escapes—again a somewhat misleading
measure of the program’s actual effectiveness.

Unemployment Benefits

The Commission also documented several instances where work
release inmates initiated claims and received State Unemployment
Funds at prison for work rvelease positions held while incarcerated.
State Unemployment Benefits officials were surprised to learn of
these situations and we doubt that the legislature intended the
unemployment benefits scheme be applied to inmates in work
release programs.

Edycation Release

The S.C.I. also received testimony rvegarding the workinegs of
the itducation release program at the various state prisons. This
program is designed to allow inmates to take college credit courses
outside the prison walls. Unfortunately, this program as well
has been fraught with abuses in its application. The testimony
revealed that inmates were brought to participating college cam-
puses early in the morning, picked up late in the evening, and given
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virtually a free hand at the college. There was no requirement for
professors to keep track of the attendance at classes of the inmates
nor was any regular check of attendance made by the prison admin-
istration. The minimal spot-checking that was done regarding the
whereabouts of inmate-students was regular and predictable—a
fact substantially reducing the effectiveness of these checks. There
was also very little coordination between the college administration
and the prison administration. Testimony indicated that inmates
participating in the program were not identified to the security
officers at the college nor was security notified of the schedule of
those participants. This lack of supervision and coordination
resulted in abuses as testified to by Lieutenant Muggelsworth of
Leesburg Prison:

Q. And have your subordinates directed reports of
survedlance to you and through you concerming
mmates enrolled in this program?

A. Yes, I do. As I said, in the past we have had
very, very limited surveillances. Within the last four
or five months, because of an increase in our force,
we have been able to put on more surveillance, still
nowhere near the number that is necessary to main-
tain a good policing of the program, and we have
come across numerous violations at (flassbhoro.

Q. Such as?

A. We have at least one escape. We have crimes
release students committed at Glassboro, the student
program. Surv- llance that we had on Glassboro, a
student release, proved that some inmates were only
attending one class during a period of twelve hours
of release, so that there was at least ten hours of
time for them to go pretty much wherever they felt,
and this was after the Boland incident in which he
left Glasshoro College and did assault & woman, which
was a major publicity.

Q. That was some time ago——
A. Yes.

Q. —was it not? And are the problems that you
are ndicating now as to the IFducational Release
Program recent problems or have they been seccured?

A. These problems go right up to the current date.

* * * *
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Community Release

The Community Release Program, while having relatively few
participants, was a cause of considerable tension and frustration
among inmates at Trenton State Prison. The only basic standard
an inmate must meet to be eligible for community release is that
he must be on minimum custody. Fligibility is not tied to any
parole or release date as are participation in work release and
furloughs. The purpose of community release, appfuently, is to
permit ceftain specially qualified inmates to engage in eivie or
developmental programs. The result is that thele arc inmates on
community release housed in the work release house who have
committed serious crimes and have rather lengthy sentences re-
maining. Bernard Bellinger, a former prisoner at Trenton, testi-
fied as to the inmate recaction to this and other diseretionary
privileges that exist:

Q. What effect did their (those mm commumity re-
lease with long sentences) presence in the Work Re-
lease House have om inmates with shorter sentences,
but yet who are kept behind the wall?

A. The men with shorter sentences used to get
frustrated and disgusted because they didn’t know
what they had to do or how they had to go about, you
know, along with the rules in order to get out, get
work release or to get ommunity release because
after awhile it secemed it was just a favoritism thing
or for stool pigeons, thev were the only ones that
were getting it.

Also, with regard to the community release and the work study
program, which is run ‘hrough the prisons and funded by the
Garden State School Distriet, an investigation by S.C.I. account-
ants revealed that inmate Jerry Swan was paid for 199 days
though he only left the institution for work on 135 days. The in-
vestigation showed that there is no system to doublecheck the
accuracy of the records and that payment is measured according
to the number of times the inmate left the institution—there being
no verification that the inmate actually reported and worked a
full day at his job assignment. There is also no requirement that
the emplover certify the actual number of days and hours the
inmate worked and no one in the administration is responsible for
monitoring and checking payments made through the program.
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Such a system obviously lends itself to exploitation, errors, abuse,
and frivolous spending of the taxpayers’ money.

Schemes and Cons at Trenton State Prison

Testimony given at the public hearings demonstrated how certain
inmates at Trenton either had the power or projected that they
had the power to grant other inmates certain privileges for a price.
The fact that some institutions were viewed as more lenient than
others with regard to eligibility requirements for the pro-parole
release programs helped create the opportunity for a system of
bartering for transfers to flourish with prices ranging from $300
to $2,600. The testimony indicated that one of the inmates another
inmate might seek out if he was desirous of a transfer was Robert
“Indian Joe’’ Minter. Minter worked in then Superintendent Alan
Hoffman’s house, and therefore had access to Hoffman in a way
other inmates did not. Apparently, Minter would offer Hoffman
information regarding corrupt pendl officers and dope smuggling
inside the prison and in exchange Hoffman would consider grant-
ing the privileges Minter requested for other inmates. Minter
testified as to this ‘‘arrangement?’’ with Hoffman:

Q. You say that one hand washed the other inso-
far as the Warden (Superintendent Hoffman) is con-
cerned and you said that you never did anything for
him personally; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. What would you do in connection with the
system that would wash the hand?

A. Try to help him, get out all the, how would you
say it, crooked cops, I’d say.

Q. You would tell him who the crooked cops were?
A. Crooked personnel period.

* * * *

Q. So when you testified that one hand washes the
other, m effect you were saying that the warden would
do you a favor, but in turn you were being somewhat
of an wmformant as to people within the system that
were violating certain regulations; is that correct?

A. Yes.
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Minter detailed some of his earnings for ‘‘talking to the War-
den"’:
Q. All right. Let’s go over il generally. Do you
remember an inmate by the name of Schneider?

A. Right.

Q. Did Schueider or anybody on Schneider’s behalf
give you money?
A. Right.

Q. Okay. Who did that?
A, Tlis wife.

Q. And how was it managed? Where did you see
Mrs. Schneider?
A. T met her on Market Street in Newark.

Q. In Newark?
A. Right.

Q. And how much did she give you?
A. Two fifty.

Q. $250?
A. Right.

Q. dnd do you know why she gave you $2502
A. She say her husband told her to do it for talk-
ing to the man to get him transferrved to Rahway.

Q. Okay. And did you talk to somebody to try lo
get Mr. Schneider transferred to Rahway?
A. Yes.

Q. Who did you talk to?
A, The warden.

Q. Mr. Loffman?
A, Hoffman, right.

All right. Well, what did you say to Mr. Hojf-
man abou{ Schueider, do you remember?

A. I think 1 told Jnm that he was supposed to get
me a job or something, something in that order. The
actual—the whole thing [ don’t remember. I know a
job was mentioned that he was supposed to get for me.

Q. You told the warden that?
A. Right. Then I gave him his name and number,

-y
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Q. dnd did the warden tell you anything aboul
what he’d do after you gave him the information?
A. He said he would take carc of it.

Q. Did he try to take care of it?
A. Ie took care of it.

Q. He took care of it?
A. Right.

. dnd do you think he took care of it because you
talked to him about it?
A. Well, yes.

Q. Al right. Did Mrs. Schneider ever give you
any other money?

A. T think—T think she gave me another $150 at
a later date.

Q. Okay. Do you remember what for?
A. The same thing.

®. Getling her husband to Ralhway.
A. After he got there T think she gave me that.

Q. After he got there. But you do remember her
gwing yow money?

Q. On two different times?
A. Right.

Q. All right. And do you remember an inmate by
the name of Serge Bychkowski?

A. Right,

Q. Serge?

A. Right.

Q. And This wife, Jannectte, do you remember
Jannette?
A. Right.

Q. Al right. Didw’t Serge have a problem with his
Ffurloughs or work release?
A. Yes.

Q. Didn’t he get involved in a gas station problem?
A. Right.
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Q). And the Board said no more furloughs or work
release?
A. Right.

Q. Did you tall to anybody for Serge to try to
help him out?
A. To the warden.

Q. Mr. Hoffman?
A. Right.

Q. And did Mr. Hoffman fix it so Serge could go
back out?
A. Right.

Q. On both furlough and work release?
A. Well, he was never on work release. He fixed
it so he can get furloughs back, then work release.

Q. I see. Do you remember what you said to the
warden about Serge?

A. T think I told him T knew his wife a long time
before he was married to her. I know that.

Q. Did you know Jannette Johnson?

A. Yealh, I know her when she worked for both the
prosecutor’s office in Essex County and I think out
her way now, where she’s at now.

Q. And she’s a court reporter like Mr. Carone,
1810’ she?
A. Right, right.

Q. That’s right. And did Jannette Bychkowski or
Jannette Johnson Bychlkowski ever give you money in
commection with helping Serge?

A. Yes, she gave me $300.

Q. And where was that?

A. It was in Trenton.

Q. Where did you see hey in Trenton?

A. Outside of the work release house, I think, in
the parking lot.

Q. And did she give you cash?
A. Right.
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Q. Do you remember approximately when that
happened?

A. Let’s see. '75. I guess it was April or May,
I think, last year.

Q. April or May of 19752
A, Or mayhe June. Could have been.

Q. Maybe June. Okay. Well, in addition to Mrs.
Schmeider and Mrs. Bychkowski, did anybody else
give yow money In conmection with talling to the
warden?

A. A couple of people, but I don’t remember their
names.

Q. Well, what were the circumstances? What do
you remember?

A. Well, I know this black fellow I was {elling you
about up in Newark, he wanted me to talk to the
warden for him to go to Leeshurg and he gave me
$150 for it. Before he left he had it transferred to me.
That’s the one I think I had sent home, the $150.

Q. Did he giwe it to you through his inmate
account?

A. Right, right.

Q. I see. Okay. Who else?

A. There’s another fellow, but I don’t remember
hig name. It’s been =« long time.

Q. Okay. How much did e give you?
A. I think he gave me $%00.

Q. And do you remewber why he guve you two
hundred?
A. He went to Rahway, ‘o the camp.

Q. To Rahway. And did you talk lo the warden
for him?
A. Right.

CommrssioNer Berrini: Was he a white person
or a black person?

Tae Wiryess: 1 think it was a white fellow.
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ComwmrssiovEr Brrrini: Do you know what
kind of sentence he was serving?

Ter Wrirress: Bight to ten or somewhere
around there.

Another inmate known for his connections in this regard was
Frank ““Spanky”’ DeFelice, 2 cook at Jones Farm—the minimum
security facility at Trenton State Prison. DeFelice testified about
the ways the system could be beat and how he profited from the
inefficiency of the administration there. After testifyving as to
the success of getting one three-day, furlough for an inmate—at
a cost 40 that inmate of $1,000—DeFelice gave a detailed de-
seription of the process wherchy an unsuccessful attempt was
made to get this same inmate anothier three-day farlongh. This
particular scheme was to be carried out with the assistance of
one Raphael Huertas, an inmate clerk working in the furlough
office who himself escaped while on a 1975 Christmas furlough.
DeFelice testified:

A, . . . So I told him (Huertas) Christmas do
exactly the same thing; on Christmas [ve type up the
papervork and just send it up with the classification.
The guys in classification usually carried the paper-
work up.

Q. In other words have typed up a furlough per-
mit for three days?
A. Right.

Q. And ready to put in that file and slip it i and
take out the twelve-hour cscort?

A. They wouldn't even have to take out the twelve-
hour, just slip in the three-day one.

Q. Into a file folder?
A. No, it would be put in a stack of papers that
was coming up to Jones Farm: furlough papers.

Q. I see.

A. When they got to Jones Farm he would get a
three-day furlough. Then the three-day furlough, he
would go out on Christmas morning, come back two
days later on a Saturday. No one would know the
difference. They’d have to send one piece of paper-
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work to Jones Farm which, when he went on furlough
that paper was, to my knowledge, was just thrown
away and the other piece of paper would have to go
to the Center as far as the count was concerned and
no one would ever know the difference. He would
have a three-day furlough and everyone would just
assume he had a one-day furlough. No one would
ever question it.

Q. And did that three-day furlough actually work
or did something happen to upset the plan thai you
had figured out?

A. Yes, it came to my knowledge later that they
waited till the last minute, till the last day to type it
up. They were alittle shaky about it, and the furlough
coordinator, Mr. Rivera at the time

Q. Ben Riwera?

A. Yes. They would assume he would leave carly
on Christmas ve and they would finish up the typed
paperwork and send it to Jones Faru.

Q. Counting on the fuerlough coordinator, Ben
Rivera, leaving early?

A. Yes, sir,

A. Right, but Ben didn’t. Ben stuck around, mak-
ing sure all the papers were done, send them up to
Jones Farm. They never had a chance to put in the
furlough.

Q. Ben Rivera did his job that day?

A. Yes, he did.

Q. And the scheme that you outlined on past suc
cessful occasions depended on employees nol doing
their job, didn’t il?

However, according to DeFelice, the administration was not
always so conscientious:

Q. And my question merely is, can you enlighten
us us to what it was that allowed inmates to have this
kind of manipulation of the records? Why was that
able to come to pass?

A. Well, like I said it came to iy knowledge be-
cause being on the Farm for a long time, the appli-
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cations were made, they were sent down to the Work
Release House, and one way or another through the
mail, through an officer carrying them, through a bus
driver, anyway they ultimately got to the Work Re-
lease House and would be put on the agenda sheet at
that time and go before the furlough Classification
Committee, and they were just there and had to be
typed up. Maybe they’d be written out and given to
the clerk or maybe he would type them up. But, to
my knowledge, most of the time the inmate did it.
‘When he did that, sometimes he could take names off,
put names on, because that’s just the way it was done.

Q. But for him, for an inmate to be able to do this,
what would the inmate depend on as far as the——

A. Depends on him doing it and not the guy that’s
supposed to be doing it.

# % *

DeFelice also testified as to the ease with which the inmates
working in the Classification Department cowd and did read,
remove or alter information contained in an inmate’s classified
file. DeFelice pointed out two common ploys used to ‘“aid’’ an
inmate to become eligible for furloughs. One method was to simply
change the record of a second or third offencler to reflect that the
inmate was a first offender and thereby make that inmate eligible
for furlonghs sooner than he normally would have been. Another
rule at the prison was that if an inmate had detainers for certain
offenses in his file he would automatically be ineligible for fur-
loughs. In such a case the inmate clerk could simply remove the
detainer from that inmate’s file. This was accomplished in onc
of two ways. DeFelice deseribed one method:

A. How he used to go about it, when you come out
of the classification, go downstairs into the entrance
of the prison, vou get stripped first to make sure you
have nothing on you, no copies no anything.

Q. You mean the corrections officers strip in-

mates coming out of the classification area?
A. Yes,.sir.

Q. How do you sneak out o document without being
found?

A. Well, in the prison there’s big pink envelopes.
They’re called inner-institutional mail. So what he
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did was put it in the pink envelope, seal it, type “To:
Jerry Swan. From:”’, I guess he put Mr. Cashel’s
name, Chief Classification Officer.

So when you go in, get stripped, he says he’s taking
it down to the Farm. You put it down, the officers tell
you to take your clothes off, strip you and that’s it.

Q. The officers assume you were just being a
delivery boy?
A. Yes.

* % # *

DeFelice also noted an even simpler method of merely removing
the document from one file and burying it in another. The former
superintendent at Trenton, Hoffman, testified that he was aware
of this practice and pointed out how easily it could be done:

Q. In the area of inmate records, the imvestigation
by the Commission and the investigation by Deputy
Commissioner Mulcahy disclosed problems with in-
mates files, spectfically files at Trenton State Prison.
What type of problem would have come to your atten-
tion during your stay there?

A. Okay. Well, they would fall into the following
areas: Files that were incomplete in the sense that
after you have read through thousands of inmate files
over the years you sort of get an intuitive feeling
about what should be there and what shouldn’t be
there, and if you pick up a file of a guy who’s been at
the prison ten years and it’s rather thin, that’s
unusual. So that I have no doubt that information
was being periodically removed from certain files that
were in the classification area, and there were a couple
of ways that this could be done. I think the most com-
mon way, and the way that offered the hest out for the
inmate in the sense that you could never really prove
that something was removed by a specific individual,
or certainly the way I would do it if I was out there,
if you picked up John Jones’ folder and you wanted
something removed, you would simply remove it and
lose it in somebody else’s file.
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Hoffman testified as to one specific incident involving the ‘‘loss”’
of an additional sentence:

@. In comnection with your past comments some-
thing came to mind. Do you recall an inmate by the
name of Philip Ventigli?

A. Skipper Jake.

Q. Skipper Jake?
A. Yes, Lknow Skipper Jake. T wouldn’t know him
if T saw him, but I heard the name often.

Q. All right. Let me show you an inmate file on an
mmate by the name of Philip Ventigli, V-e-n-t-i-g-l-i,
No. 54178. Take a look at the file and tell me from the
file whether or not you can tell if Mr. Ventigli would
have been either at Trenton Prison or at Jones Farm.

A. Both.

Q. Andlooking at the file, can you tell whether you
have the institutional inmate file?
A. Tt certainly—yes, it is. No question about it.

Q. Al right. This would have been the type of file
to which an inmate would have access?
A. Right.

Q. Now, after I received Mr. Ventigli’s file through
your auspices I had a chance to review it and I was
. somewhat dismayed to find in it what appears to be an
additional sentence for an immate by the name of
Jerome DiGiovanni. Now, I don’t know if there’s
anything of substance.
A. That’s certainly what it is.

Q. In fact, if you look through that whole sub-
folder, which is marked ““P.A4. Ventigli’’, I thank you
will find all the information in there is concerning Mr.
DiGiovanni.

A. This one?

Q. Yes.
A. Yes, it certainly is.

* * 3* *
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Canght Napping

Bellinger also described a unique method prisoners in Trventon
State Prison had of getting their hands on classified material.
It seems they would schedule an appointment with a particular
psychologist at the prison who was notorious for falling asleep
while interviewing and writing his report on the inmates. In his
office he would have the classified file of the inmate to refer to and
when he fell asleep, the inmate would then have easy access to it.

Clerk Issues Standards

Another problem created by delegating responsibility to inmate
clerks was attested to by Bellinger. Bellinger testified that when
new furlongh standards were put out by the Division, it was his
job to re-type and distribute them. Bellinger admitted that he
sometimes made changes in the standards as he saw fit:

Q. Do you recall any specific incidents concerning
a particular policy or particular standard which had
to do with mmates not being permitted to indulge in
alcoholic beverages while on furlough?

A. Yes. There used to be a rule which states
inmates may not return to the institution intoxicated.

Q. You changed the rule?
A. Yes, I did.

Q. And was that with the knowledge and consent
of cwilians i the office, the supervisors?

A. Nobody paid any attention to it. They just
probably assumed it was already there before.

Q. And do you know whether or not your rule was

then adopted by the institution as its rule?
A. Yes, it was.

Q. Did anyone bother to check your typing?
A. Most of the time no one did.

# # ¥ #
Q. Mr. Bellinger, did you invent or modify any
other rules other tham the one concerning drinking?
A. Really, if I had them I could tell you. I don’t
have a copy with me here, but I could tell you because
I had made changes in quite a few of them, more or
less like the word changes where if a guy got an
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infraction it would he more if he could beat the charge
of it on a techniecality rather than on the way it was
written before, it was just a statement that was very
hard to get around it. T made it more vague where
there was at least a chance yvou could get around the

charge.
Q. So in part you were author of the rules?
A. Yes.
Q. And did you liberalize the rules?
A. Ob, quite a bit.
Q. And no one ever picked it up?

A. No one ever paid any attention to it and I sent
copies to every lieutenant, sergeant, department head
and everything all over the prison.

* * * *

Superintendent Hoffman explained that while he and other
administrators did not approve of having inmates as clerks in
sensitive positions, the lack of manpower was such that they were
necessary:

Q. Did you ever take any steps to attempt to re-
move the inmates from sensilive areas?

A. No, I think the problem of having inmates in
classification was well known throughout the system.
It was a problem that I’m sure every superintendent
of Trenton State Prison was aware of and not satis-
fied with. sl

I discussed the situation on several occasions with
Bill Cashel, who’s the classification officer at Trenton,
and I said, ““Well, what happens if we jerk them all
out tomorrow?’’ And he said that we simply couldn’t
function without the immates up there to file the ma-
terial, run folders back and forth. And that was also
my obscrvation from having gone up there.

The inmates—well, let me put it this way: They did
enough work to justify theiv existence, and I didn’t
personally feel at that point we had sufficient number
of staff to keep the records even quasi up to date with-
out some assistance.

* * * *
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William Fauver, Director of what was then the Division of Cor-
rection and Parole, testified that civilian clerks were continually
requested in the Division’s and Department’s budget, but were
just as consistently refused at the State Budget Burcau level. It
was Fauver’s belief that it was difficult to get civilian clerks
approved becausc it was hard to document the need for those clerks.
He pointed out how much easier it would be to get another armed
guard if he needed one because he conld simply say: ‘‘There have
been ‘x’ amount of escapes from this location so we need another
guard.”” Another problem Fauver alluded to was that perhaps the
prison system suffers by being a part of the Department of In-
stitutions and Agencies. He pointed out that the hudget request
for the prisons is included in the overall budget for I & A which
also includes requests for mental health and mental retardation
among others. It was Fauver’s view, then, that when the Tegisla-
tors start trimming the I & A budget, they start with the prisons
rather than the other programs within the Department of Institu-
tions and Agencies. (Since the S.C.I. hearings, the Department of
Corrections has been established to administer the prisons and
this department enjovs co-equal cabinet status with T & A, now
known as the Department of HIuman Services.)

Superintendent Qverrules Classification Committee

Inmate furlough clerk Bellinger also testified that frequently
the Classification Committee at Trenton would deny a furlough
only to have that decision overturned by then Superintendent
Hoffman. Ie described one incident in which inmate Serge
Bychkowski, while out on furlough, was arrested for attempting to
steal something from a gas station. Subsequently, Bychkowski was
denied furloughs by the Classification Committee on the grounds
of previous furlough failure. However, Bellinger testified,
Byehkowski did receive numerous administrative furloughs an-
thorized by Superintendent Hoffman. Hoffman, upon questioning,
admitted that this did occur and explained his action:

Q. What factors were brought before you for you
to consider in comnection with overruling the com-
mittee wm terms of giving Bychkowski additional
furloughs?

A. ... Basically, the information that I had cer-
tainly didn’t indicate that this was a particularly
serious episode as things at Trenton go. I think it’s
a matter of perhaps keeping—Ilooking at in context.
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And the appeal was made to me, and I did review
Bychkowski’s folder and didn’t see him as a particu-
larly dangerous type of individual.

Hoffman also admitted that the aforementioned ‘‘Indian Joe’’
Minter lobbied on Bychkowski’s behalf and that in no way was
Hoffman required to document or explain his decision with regard
to overruling the Classification Committee.

Jacqueline Lucier, former furlough coordinator at Trenton
State Prison, gave her understanding of Superintendent Hoffman’s
actions with respect to overruling the Committec and granting
additional furloughs:

Q. TWell, in connection with these cxtra furloughs
or the times during which the superintendent might
override the committee decision, do yau have any in-
dications at all that he did it because of money chang-
mg hands?

A. No.

Q. Al right. Was 1t a judgment call on his part
or something more than a judgment call?
YA, Idon’t—I'm not sure if T understand what you
mean.

Q. Well, the committece may well consider a man’s
qualifications and decide that for some reason or other
he should notl go out. The superintendent after con-
sidering those same qualifications might come to a
different decision.

A. In some cases I could agree with you on that.
There were borderline cases that the committee was
going back and forth with, but a lot of them were
not. A lot of them were three and four furloughs ¢
month.

Q. Did the superintendent cver give youw or the
committee any specific instructions as to run a tight
ship as far as the furlough programs are concerned?

A. T think, the contrary.

Q. Did he ever indicate to you, for instance, re-
view the applications; if there are any that are even
questionable i your minds, refer them to me?

A. Definitely, yes.
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Comnmsstovyer Farney: Wowld ypu concede
that he perhaps had a broader overview of the
situation than your particular group could have
had?

Tae Wirxess: If you mean that—I always felt
that he had a different objective than we did, for
some I'easol.

CoxrarrsstoNer FarnEy: What was vour objec-
tive?

Tee Wirness: Our objective was to run the
program according to the standards.

ConaussioNer Warney: What was his object-
tive?

Tar Wirxsss: His objective was to run the
prison and to keep it quiet, as quiet as he could.

ComnisSIoNER FaRLEY: So what vou're saying,
that in order to diffuse tensions he may have been
susceptible to being quaite liberal in the use of the
program? '

Taes Wrirxess: Yes.

Hoffman further testified that he gave extra furloughs (more
than the one per month normally allowed) as rewards for infor-
mation or in retuin for special cooperation. Mr. Hoffman related
one incident whereby Inmate Paul Sherwin’s life was threatened
and Hoffman requested another inmate, Clay Thomas, to look
out for Sherwin. As a result of this favor, Thomas was given
extra furloughs.

Hoffman also testified that he was favorably disposcd towards
the leaders of the inmate population and that having their coopera-
tion was a practical necessity. Hoffman was questioned in this
regard with respect to inmate Muslim leader Lester 2X Gilbert:

Q. Well, is it fair or unfair to say that the Work
Release House may have been used as a carrot or an
meentive in order to obtain Mr. Gilbert’s services in
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keeping the prison cool or calm, using him as an ally
to cxert his influence on his fellow inmates?

A. Yeah, that’s not an unfair characterization to
say that. Tt’s certainly ome consideration.

Certain Inmates Favored

Trenton State Prison inmate Frank DeFelice attested to the
fact that certain programs such as the Inmate T.egal Association,
the Forum Project, and the National Alliance of Businessmen
were favored by the administration because they relieved the
administration of the burden of dealing with some of the prob-
lems of inmates. It was Delelice’s contention that the leaders
of these programs could receive special privileges by virtue
of their status. These privileged inmates could then use thelr
influence to help other prisoners—for a price. Del'elice specifically
testified as to his relationship with Jerry Swan, an inmate involved
with the National Alliance of Businessmen:

Q. Would Jerry Swan from time to time make
known to you his ability to intercede on behalf of
inmates?

A, Yes.

Q. What was his purpose in telling you about how
successful he could be on behalf of an inmate? Why
do you think he wanted to mvolve you in that?

A. Because I was aware of a lot of people on the
farm that had money that T would, so to speak, have a
higher echelon than he was, that even that I can move
a guy for money and through him, you know what
I mean.

Q. Ile knew that you knew people, people 1who
would pay for these services?
A. Right.

Q. And that you could steer people to him for a
price?

A. Right.

Q. And you would share that money with Jerry

Swan?
A. Yes.




While Swan’s role in the N.A.B. was to help ex-offenders get
jobs, the records show that on several occasions Swan had written
letters requesting transfers for various inmates. Mr. A. Merlin
Smith, civilian director of the N.A.B. testified as to Swan's
authorization to write these letters:

Q. Did Mr. Swan have any authorization from the
N.A.B. to write letters on official stationery which
might request some names as transfers from one insti-
tution to another?

A. Actually, sir, that was a function that he did
that was not authorized and was not really a part of
his duties on the job as the ex-offender director.

* * * #*

Bettie Zaryckyj, N.A.B. secretary, told how Swan got his title,
“Ex-offender Program Director’’:

Q. What title would Mr. Swan have?
A. He was the director of the Trenton metro ex-
offender program.

Q. dnd how did he obtain that title?
A. I think he gave it to himself.

2 * * * *

Mr. Smith further testified that he was never contacted by any
prison official with regard to supervising Mr. Swan and that Swan
was virtually unescorted and unsupervised from Scptember of
1975 to January of 1976. Mr. Smith also noted that Swan only
spent approximately 30-35% of his work time in the office and that
Swan had a key to the office which gave him access {o it at all
times.

While Swan denied ever receiving money from other inmates
for his activities, Steve Cavano, an inmate working for the Inmate
Legal Association, testified that Swan was a recipient of funds paid
by Inmate Frank Martin who was trying to buy a transfer for
$2500, Because Cavano had difficulty recalling previous testimony
given to the Commission in private, at the public hearings
Mr. Daniel Carone, the stenographer, read a serics of questions
and answers that were posed to Cavano the previous day at a
session of the S.C.I.:

“Question. All right what did you do with the
money?’’
““Answer. I passed it on.”’
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“Question. Who did you pass it om t02”
““Answer. To Swan and DeFelice.”’

“Question. All of the $2500 or a portion of it2”’
““Answer. Most of it.”’

Examination by Mr. Dicksor: at the public hearing :

Q. Do you recall those questions and answers?
A, Yes.

Q. Do you recall mow the fact that some of the
money may have gone to a gentleman by the name of
Swan?

A. Yes.

The testimony of Bettie Zaryckyj was that Cavano came to see
Swan at the N.A.B. offices two or three times a day. Her testimony
also indicated that on occasion Swan possessed large sums of
money :

Q. And when Mr. Swan gave you the $650, did he
have other money in his possession?
A. Yes, he did.

Q. What type?
A. Flundred dollar bills.

Q. How many?
A. T don’t know. There were a lot of them, though.

Q. Again, during December of 1975, did Mr. Swan
ever give you bills of large denomination and ask you
to break threw down into smaller bills?

A. Yes. He gave me about $300 in hundred dollar
bills and asked me to break it down into twenties.

Q. Or fifties?

A. Or fifties, either one. And on another occasion,
he gave me another $200 to break down into fifties
or twenties, either one.

Q. And on the occasions when he would give you
the hundred dollar bills, did he have other amounts of
money in his possession?

A. Yes.
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Q. What type demomination?
A, Hundred dollar bills.

Q. Do you know where he’d get the money?
A. No.

* * * *

Q. So you wouldn’t say that during the time you
were in association with him he was ever wanting
for money?

A. He wasn’t. He was in the very beginning.

Q. At the very beginning?
A. It was after Steve Cavano and he got together
that he never had no problem again.

* * * *

Inmate Given Key to the State

The public hearings also brought to light a document signed by
Alan Hoffman that apparently gave authorization for Robert
“Indian Joe’’ Minter and possibly also Theodore (ibson to travel
anywhere in the State of New Jersey as representatives of the
Trenton State Prison newspaper. Inmate Bellinger testified that
he typed the document at the request of Inmate Gibson. The letter
indicates that carbons went to the mail room, front door, Center
keeper and grill gate. Bellinger also testified that Gibson and
Minter did use the document to travel about.

When questioned about this matter, Mr. Hoffman expressed the
view that the document was merely intended to be used as a letter
of introduction for these inmates when they went on authorized
visits and that the letter would not enable them to get out of
prison whenever they desired. Hoffman did admit, however, that in
retrospect he would not sign an instrument worded the way this
one was and that theoretically the docwment did authorize travel
to anywhere within the State.

Free Phone at Morven

Another interesting sitnation brought out in the public hearings
related to Morven, the Governor’s Mansion. One of the prison
work details was a clean up crew assigned to the mansion. This
detail became a highly desired one as the word got around that it
provided easy access to the phone there, and on at least one
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occasion money was paid to an inmate to help arrange an assign-
ment to the Morven crew. Inmate Richard Martin testified as to
the ease with which the phone could he used—with the state appar-
ently footing the bill:

Q. Did you use the phone at Morven?
A. Yes, I did.

Q. How was it that you were able to use the phone
and where was that phone located?

A. The phone was located in what they call the
slave quarters.

¥ * * *
Q. And did you have access to that area?
A. Yes.
Q. Was there a phone in there?
A. Yes.
Q. Did anyone come 1o check up on your activities
n that particular
A No.
Q. —place? I mean the slave quarters place?
A. No.

@. ITow would you describe your access and ability
to use that phone, very occasional, as much as you
wanted? How would you deseribe it2
I wounld use it once every other day.

Was it ¢ hassle? Was it difficult?
No.

Was it guarded?

No.

Were you fearful when you used it of being
caught particularly®
No.

ke ok
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Record Keeping Atrocious

With respect to the record keeping procedures in the various
institutions, the Commission heard the testimony of Hdward
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O’Neill, Special Agent of the S.C.1., who investigated hundreds of
these records. He testified that he frequently came upon misfiled
information; there was no way of determining who made entries of
materials into the files; there was no system of inventoryving the
information contained in the files; and generally there was no use
of a check-out sheet to determine who had access to the files in
the past.

Deputy Commissioner Muleahy testified to similar difficulties
encountered hy his task force:

Q. TWhen you were doing your study with the other
members of the Committee, did you eventually form «
Jjudgment or a conclusion as to how adequate the
record-keeping system was in our penal institution?

A, Yes, we formed a judgment that the recorvds
were—the files were poorly organized, sloppily kept.
And, in fact, when we first came in we heard all the
war stories about the condition of records, which
literally were true; that they existed in eardboard
boxes and this was

Q. Laying about on the floor?

A. At Trenton Prison, which was the classification
section at that time, yes. Not in all cases, but, at
least, it did happen.

E £ # %

Christopher Dietz, Chairman of the State Parole Board, testified
to the problems caused by the inadequately kept records.
Mr. Dietz pointed out that up to the public hearing date, the Parole
Board was receiving incomplete information with regard to the
criminal histories of the inmeates, pre-sentence reports, and notice
of new sentences. Additionally, he noted circumstances where
serious diseciplinary or administrative charges brought v the in-
stitution against the inmate were not faithfully reported, particu-
larly where drng ftrafficking was involved, and instances of
inaccurate computation of eligibility dates. Asked whether the
situation was chronie, Dietz responded:

A. ... Iwould say in instances it’s ehronic because
we can’t trust the information sometimes and I don’t
mean that, you know, as an indictment against the
criminal justice system in New Jersey. But where
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there are contacts of inmate control over records,
it’s so easy to tear out pages and substitute them in
pre-sentence reports and there’s no way to know
whether the pre-sentence report we’re looking at was
the same content-wise pre-sentence report that the
judge had before him at the time.

* * L4 -

(hairman Dietz also noted that one of the problems with the
present system is that the Parole Board did not receive the
original information or documents in the inmates’ file but rather
a summary prepared hy a clerk, with the result often being an
incorrect or misleading report.

Mr. Dietz went on to make some suggestions as to how the
system could be improved, pointing out that perhaps money is not
the curc all but rather there is a more erucial need for cooperation
among ageneies and hard diligent work. He suggested a computer
system whereby the complete background of the inmate is plugged
in with new data continually being added each time an inmate
is involved in a subsequent event. This new data would include
changes in status and dicciplinary proceduares taken, with the
information being verified by sending copies to the parties
involved.

As a further means of doublechecking, a Parole Counsellor would
be present at each (lassification C'ommittee meeting sinee that is
where most major transactions regarding an inmate are made.
Mr, Dietz also noted that to his knowledge the facilities for the
computer systemt are already available in the Department of
Public Safety and could ecasily be converted to serve the needs
of the prison syvstem.

Expert Opinion

The Commission also received valuable insights from the testi-
mony of Jameson Doig, a professor at the Woodrow Wilson
School, Princeton TUniversity, specializing in the problems of
bureaucracy and criminal justice and the divector of the Research
Program in Criminal Justice at the University, and also a
member of the State Advisory Committee on Adult and Juvenile
Justice by appointment of the Governor and a member of the
Correctional Master Plan Policy Council in New Jersey.
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Professor Doig strongly supported the rationale of pre-parole
release and suggested that, regardless of the offense committed,
if the inmate will eventually be released, whether through parole
or after having served his maximum sentence, there must be some
controlled re-entry into society as he nears that release.

Professor Doig further emphasized the three major areas of
the New Jersey System that need improvement—integrity of the
records used in deciding eligibility, clear objective rules and
standards, and supervision of inmate behavior while on release—
and commented upon each. To insure the integrity of the records,
he suggested having a duplicate set of basic records stored in a
central office or computer such as the method used in many school
systems. This, of course, would decrease the vulnerability of a
clerk, inmate or civilian, with access to the records kept within
the prison walls. The setting of clear standards, Professor Doig
pointed out, would reduce the amount of discretion involved which
in turn would make the programs less vulnerable to corruption or
misuse. As for supervising inmates in the community, he sug-
gested the use of a diary system similar to that used in the
U.S. Forest Service and in some large police departments. This
method would require an inmate on release to enter his location
and activities in half-hour inerements in diary form, and there
would be spot-checks by supervisors to turn up any discrepancies.
It was also Professor Doig’s opinion that adequate funding of the
programs would allow greater supervision and that in the end the
prison system would benefit financially due to a decrease in
recidivism.

Professor Doig also commented upon the need for fairness and
the appearance of fairness in the operation of the programs and
on how the giving of undeserved privileges can undermine the
entire system. He testified:

A. In general, I think that one might say organiza-
tions operate more effectively when fairness and the
appearance of fairness both exist. Prisons in this
sense are not different from other organizations; that
is from business firms or armies or schools. In any
organization there is a widespread feeling among
lower level people that special privileges are given
to the undeserving and that people are not treated
equitably, you sow the seeds of inefficiency and of
disruption within the organization.
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Perhaps the concern with fairness ought to be greater in
prisons than elsewhere because

Q. Why is that, Professor, in your opinion?

A. Well, if you give release privileges when they
are widely perceived as being undeserved, you gen-
erate bittermess among the other inmates and this
undermines the efforts we made toward rehabilitation
and reintegration.

Professor Doig did, however, go on to state that the goal of
fairness may have to be balanced with administrative concerns
such as the need for inmate informers, particularly with respect
to drugs. He suggested that while it would be best if this informa-
tion could he obtained witnout offering furloughs as a reward, if
such rewards are given there must be a system whereby the
information received and the reward given is documented. Then,
at a later date, this decision could he reviewed by someone at a
higher level in the administration and a determination made as to
whether or not the information received was valuable enough to
merit such a reward.

The Control Unit Concept

During the course of the Commission’s investigation and prior
to the May-June 1976 public hearings, Rahway State Prison intro-
duced the Control Unit and Locator Board Concepts into the state
penal system. At Rahway, the Control Unit is composed of a select
few corrections officers who are specially {rained and have respon-
sibilities in intelligence gathering, inmate discipline, investigative
technique and prison control technique. The unit maintains its
own polygraph capability and regularly delves into areas including
the importation of contraband into the prison and work release
and furlongh related checks. The unit monitors actions of prison
emplovees as well as inmates. Throngh the efforts of this unit at
Rahway, numerous narcotics and weapons-related arrvests have
been made and ‘‘no-show’’ work release positions discovered.

With the concurrence of Rahway superintendent Hatrak, the
Control Unit has also devised and implemented a security system
dealing with inmate records. The records are kept behind bolted
doors and are aceessible only to specified civilian prison employees.
Persons having a legitimate need for material in an inmate’s file
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are required to utilize a sign-in and out procedure and are given
only specific documents rather than the entive file.

Information duplicative of that in the inmate’s file is kept
updated in connection with the Rahway ILocator System. This
system consists of a wall-sized chart of the name and location of
every inmate in the institution. Color codes and cards are used
to indicate such things as farlough or work release status, escape
or medical risk, narcoties history. The inmate’s movement in the
prison is also regularly posted on the chart. Under the T.ocator
System, information from the inmate’s file—which is used as the
basis for work release, furlongh and other decisions--is auto-
ma’: -ally cross-checked against the Locator material for discrep-
ancies. Thus, at Rahway, two separate packets of material would
have to be changed in order for an inmate to he able to {ake
advantage of misinformation.

The Commission commends officials at Rabway for their initia-
tive in devising these necessary and useful systems. We hope and
trust that Rahway methodology will soon be extended to all State
prisons.

Tue CoMMISSION’S FINAL RECOMMENDATIONS

At this point, the Comumission would again like to emyhasize
the essential value and eritical importance of the pre-parole rve-
lease programs. However, those programs must earn the respeet
their goals warrant by having a system which includes security,
surveillance, and doublecheck mechanisms to thwart those indi-
viduals who would attempt to defy it. The system must not, as it
has in the past, virtually invite abuse, deception, and exploitaticu.

A) Unescorted Murlough Program
1) Clear Objectives:

The Comunission recomuiends that clear and legitimate goals of
the furlough program be formulated and that releases not he
granted unless there has been a thoroughly researched, evaluated
and verified finding that participation in the program will con-
tribute to the atfainment of those goals,

a) Comment:

The purpose of pre-parole release is to wid an inmate in read-
justing to the society he will soon be returning to on a full-time
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basis. Releases must not be granted to relieve the problems of
overcrowding or tension or as a reward to a ““good’” or influential
prisoncr. Furloughs should be awarded under a system of clearly
set forth rules which are uniformly applied and administered so
that an inmate will, on an objective basis, either qualify or not
qualify under the rules. Such a practice would help immunize
the system from the type of barter and wnfluence peddling by
specially  favored inmates discussed on previous pages of this
report,

2) Parole Officers Involved in Decision:

It is further recommended that institutional parole officers be
ineluded in these initial stages of the decision making process
cither as members of or advisors to the Classification Committec.

a) Comment:

These officers may possess valuable insights concerning inmates’

readiness for pre-parole release and may add a slightly different
point of view to the process,

3) Pre-duthorized Purposes:

Farloughs should be granted only for specifically pre-authorized
purposes which could include: visits to a terminally ill relative,
attendance at the funeral of a close relative, the obtaining of medi-
cal services not available in the prison system, establishment or
re-establishment of meaningful community ties, the obtaining of
valid school enrollment, the obtaining of housing, participation
in family activities and in bona fide community, educational, civie
and religious activities, and establishment or re-establishment of
family ties, provided again, however, that it is determined that
such release will facilitate the transition from penal institution
to community life and have positive impaet on the inmate.

a) Comment:

Such a statement of purposes would act to serve as a guideline

Jor inmates and administrators alike and would preclude granting
of furlough privileges for purposes other than those enumerated.

4) Eligibility—Sixty Days Full Minimum:

The Commission recommends that to be eligible for a furlough, an
inmate must have had full minimum custody status for at least
sixty days and be within six months of a firmy parole or release
date. In conjunction with this recommendation, the Commission
also recommends that the definitions of minimum at the various
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institutions be standardized and procedures for attaining that
classification made uniform throughout the system.

a) Comment:

The Commission feels that the sixty-day requirement will enable
prison officials to evaluate the inmate’s adjustment to full minimum
which in turn may indicate the likelihood of furlough success. The
standardisation of pre-requisites for minivmum status would end
the situation whereby an inmate could be ineligible for full mini-
mum at one wnstitution one day then by virtue of a transfer fo
another institution be eligible the next. Tlhe Cammission notes that
the above proposals either have been or are presently being in-
stituted.

5) Within Six Months of Parole or Release; Exceplion:

The Commission also recommends that to be eligible for a fur-
lough an inmate must be within six months of a firm parole or
release date. An exception to this rule could be made upon the
recommmendation of the State Parole Board in instances of long
term sentences with no available pavole date, if, in the opinion of
the Board, a release is necessary to test the release readiness of
an inmate and thereby determine whether a future parole date
would be appropriate. An inmate so released would be required
on return to prison to confer with a prison psyebiatrist or psy-
chologist to determine his emotional reaction to the release, with a
report of the conference bheing forwarded to the Parole Board.

a) Comment:

The general requirement would end the practice of allowing
furlowghs to inmates within six months of an anticipated parole
date or parole hearing—a practice which caused much confusion
and inconsistency i the past. An exception is necessary for those
with uncertain sentences in ovder to allow the Parole Board to
decide on g firm parole date. The present standards provide for the
Classification Commitiee to arrive at an anticipated parole date for
those with ““from-to’’ sentences.

6) Gemeral Ezclusions from Program: Special Procedures:

The Commission further recommends that, generally, furlouglhs
not be granted to inmates identified with organized erime, inmates
convicted of serious crimes against the person, or arson or to in-
mates whose presence in the community would attract undue
attention or create unusual concein. Any approvals for inmates
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in those categoreis must foilow specific guidelines. For those
identified with organized crime, approval must come from the Com-
missioner or Deputy Commissioner, who wili base his decision: on
the degree of involvement in such erime. The Commissioner or his
Deputy must also approve furloughs for those individnals whose
presence in the community would attract undue public attention.
For those persons convicted of serious crimes against the person
or arson, wlio are otherwise qualified, approval may be made by
the superintendent of the institution only after receiving positive
reperts from the inmate’s work supervisor, the prison psychologist
and the Classification Committee. Additionally, the superintendent
would be required to write a special memorandum for the file giving
the rationale for the approval of the furlough.

a) Comment:

As of the March, 1976 standards of the then Division of Correc-
tion and I'arole, inmates convicted of certeen offenses are com-
pletely barred from participation in the furlough program. It is the
feeling of the Commission that while there are grounds for these
exclusions, i light of the overdll g-als of the program, the restric-
tions are too severe. It must be recognized that in any case, those
mmates incarcerated for the enumerated off enses would be paroled
or released within sixz months. Therefore, these inn.ates and the
community would benefit from a gradual reintroduction to society
and the suggested guidelines would substantially reduce the in-
herent danger ‘associated with those releases.

7) Candidates I'ree of Disciplinary Infractions:

It is also recommended that applicants for furloughs who are
otherwise eligible be required to have institutional discipline
records free of major infractions for six months prior to the first
furlough grant and should be required to maintain such a record
during the furlough eligibility period.

a) Comment:

This requirement insures that the inmate has given some indica-
tion that he will comply with furlough regqulations and conditions.
Additionally, it may scrve as a needed incentive for inmates to
abide by prison rules and regulations. The March 1976 Standards
require an inmate to be free of such charges only in the thirty days
immediately preceding the date of the furlough.
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8) Sechedule of Furloughs:

It is further recommended that the following schedule for
furlongh awards be followed during the six-month eligibility
period and that the successes or failure® be documented in the
inmate’s file and forwarded to the Parvole Board:

sixth month .......... .. one escorted furlough
fifth month ............. two escorted furloughs
fourth month ........... two escorted furlonghs
thivdmonth ............. one escorted furlough
one unescorted furlough
second month ....... ... .two unescorted furloughs
firstmonth .......... .. ..three unescorted furloughs

a) Comment:

It is felt that this schedule would best meet the objective of
gradual 1eintegration into the community. Obuviously, a fatlure
at any juncture would be valid cause to remove the inmate from
the program. Such a schedule would also aid the Parole Board in
evaluating the adjustment capabilities of the inmate. The 197
Divisional Standards do require the successful completion of at
least ome escorted furlough before an inmate can get approval
for an unescorted furlough.

9) Police and Prosecutor Contact before Granting Furlough:
The Commission recommends that prior to a furlough grant,

the police in the locality to be visited by the inmate and the local
county prosecutor should be contacted.

a) Comment:

The purpose of this contact wowld be to give notice that the
inmate may be coming nuto the jurisdiction and to give local au-
thorities the opporiunity to convey any new wnformation the
Classification Committee should have available to it when they
consider whether to approve the furlough.

10) Classification Committee May Still dpprove:

In the event that the police chief and/or prosecutor indicate
a belief that the furlough is not appropriate, the Classification
Committee may still approve the furlough, but the panel must then,
in a memo to the inmate’s file, docament the rationale for so doing.

* Again, we emphasize that success or failure is uot to be measured simply by the
return of an inmate to the institution on time.

100



a) Comment:

This would allow the Classification Committee some autonomy
while at the same time forcing it to have a valid reason for grant-
ing the furlough despite the objections of local law enforcement
agencies. The documentation would also permit a reqular review
of the process by higher levels of the administration,

11) Pre-Ifurlough Terification:

Prior to the grauting of any furlough, the proposed turlough
plan and purpose must be verified as to their suitability and
legitimacy, The Commission rvecommends that the verification
include direct personal on-site communication by Correction and
Parole officials with the prin.ipal or person whom the furloughed
inmate is to contact. This direct communication should he docu-
mented and made part of the inmate’s file.

a) Comment:

This requirement substantially reduced the likelihood of inmates
aiving false or non-existent addresses as furlough destinations as
has been done in the past. The March 1976 Division Standards do
contain such a procedure.

12) Furlough Applications Three Weeks in Advance:

It is recommended that requests for furlonghs be vequired to
be tubmitted three weeks in advance of the proposed effective
date of the furlough.

a) Comment:

This requirement would enable the various evaluations, verifica-
tion and contacts previously recommended to be made,

13) Authority to dpprove Furloughs:

The Commission recommends that ordinarily the full Classifica-
tion Committee be the only body with the authority to approve
furlough requests. Ilowever, it is also suggested that the super-
intendent of the institution be permitted to overrule the Committee
in certain cirenmstances, but only upon writing a speeial memo-
randum explaining hig action which is to be placed in the inmate’s
file and forwarded to the Commissioner for his concurrence. Only
with this concwrrence may the inmate leave on furlough.

a) Comment:

This procedure would strike a balance between the unfetiered
discretion the superintendent had in the pust, and the Mareh 1976
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Standards which authorize only the Classification (Committee to
approve furloughs. Tt is felt that under the March 1976 Standards
the Classification Commitiee, which consists of subordinates to
the superintendent, could be subjected to undue influence by
the superimtendent. The S.C.I. proposal would place the re-
sponsibility directly upon the superintendent and the Commissioner
should the Committee be overruled. The proposal would allow
exceptions in special circumstances of which the Superintendent
and Commissioner have special knowledge, while at the same time
severely lLimiting that discretion to only legitimate purposes.

14) Police Contact after Furlough Approved:

The Commission recommends that after the Classification Com-
mittee had decided to approve a furlough request, the police chief
in the locality visited should be notified of the crime for which
the inmate was convicted, the time period of his furlough, and the
locality he is restricted to.

a) Comment:

The Commussion does not wnitend this requirement to serve as
a form of harassment but rather as a safeguard to the community.
This motification will help to strike a balance between the public
safety and the value of reintegration to the inmate. While some
notification requirement is ncluded in the March 1976 Standards
and was contained in past standards as well, a survey conducted
by the S.C.I. indicated that i the past this procedure was not
faithfully adhered to.

15) Post-Furlough Evaluation:

Additionally, the Commission recommends that, subsequent to
each furlough and prior to the granting of any succeeding furlough,
the success or lack thereof in accomplishing the purpose of the
furlough should he evaluated and verified by direct communication
by Correction and PParole Division Personnel with the principal
or person with whom the furloughed inmate was in contact during
the furlough, as well as with the inmate himself. Copies of such
evaluation should be made part of the inmate’s file and forwarded
to the Parole Board.

a) Comment:

This post-furlough evaluation would prohibit the practice ai-
tested to at the hearings of rubber stamp approval of furloughs
subsequent to the initial request, and also serve to remind the
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immate and the administration of the goals and objectives of the
program. Additionally, the evaluation will aid the Parole Board
m determining the release readiness of the immate.

16) Furlough Limited to Specific Location and Curfew:

It is recommended that furloughs should limit the inmate geo-
graphically to a specific location and include a night hour curfew.

a) Cornment:

N.J.S. 4. 30:4-91.3 authorizes furlough grants to “‘a specifically
designated place or places.”” The Commission suggests that this
statutory mandate be more closely adhered to. The Commission
points out that furloughs were never intended to be a license for
an mmate to travel at will around the state or across state lines at
all hours of the night and day, and such conduct is not necessary
to meet legitimate furlough objectives.

17) Spot-Checks:

The Commission recommends that there he spot-checks by Cor-
rection and Parole personnel to see that geographical, curfew, and
other furlough conditions are complied with, It is suggested that
personnel be assigned this duty on a rotating basis.

a) Comment:

Testimony at the public hearings indicated the problems created
by lack of some supervision i the community. Occasional off-duty
checkiing was shown to be imadequate, suggesting that routine, but
unprediciable, visits are necessary.

18) Diary System:

The Commission also agrees with the suggestion offered by
Professor Doig of Princeton University that a diary system be in-
augurated by Correction and Parole. This system would require
inmates on unescorted furloughs to record their location and
activities in one-half hour increments. This diary could be turned
in upon return to the prison or on a daily basis for use in verifica-
tion of the inmate’s past whereabousis.

a) Comment:

The use of such a method, along with the periodic spot-checks.
would help to curb the abuses by immates attested to at the hear-
ings. It is also believed that requiring the inmate to account for his
time will encourage him to conduct himself i a manner in keeping
with furlough objectives. Furthermore, the diary would be «
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valuable aid in the post-furlough verification and evaluation pro-
cedure. Where sertous discrepancies between diary entries and
surveillance or verification reports are found, prohibition from
further furlough participation and other appropriate sanclions
would be in order.

19) Disciplinary Action for Furlough Violations:

The Commission further recommends that an inmate who fails
to meet the conditions of his furlongh be subjected to disciplinary
action including loss of ‘‘good time’’ and loss of future furloughs.
Additionally, it is recommended that serious abuses of the furlough
privilege, such as crossing state lines, should be prosecuted under
appropriate escape statutes.

a) Comment:

Testimony at the hearings indicated that in the past there were
varying definitions among the institutions for terms such as lateness
and escape with varying disciplinary measures as well. The Com-
mission endorses the most recent standards which do attempt to
standardize the definitions and penalties pursuant to those amd
other violations. The Commission also strongly supports the man-
date contained in those standards that all offenses of a possibly in-
dictable nature be referred to the prosecutor for review.

20) Citizens Committee to Monitor This and Other States’
Programs:

Finally, the Commission recommends that a citizens committee
be created for the purpose of studying the various practices, pro-
cedures, developments and results of the furlough programs in
New Jersey and the other thirty some odd states and Federal
Government which have such programs. The Committee would
make an annual or semi-annual report, including possible recom-
mendations for change in the New Jersey system.

a) Comment:

It is the view of the Commission that the New Jersey program
should be allowed to benefit from the experience and mistakes made
w other jurisdictions. Testimony at the hearings pointed owt that
many of the very same problems which created the need for the
S.C.1. mwvestigation had been cxperienced by other states. It s
hoped that the proposed committee would permit preventive rather
than corrective measures to be the rule in the future and also instill
public confidence in the existing program.
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B. Iiscorted Furlough Program

1) Reimbursement for Escorts:

In addition to the laudable reforms promulgated by the former
Division of Correction and Parole which include & master list of
all eligible escorts, an orientation procedure for escorts and in-
mates, and a State Bureau of Investigation criminal check on all
escorts prior to their serving as escorts, the Commission recom-
mends that escorts be allowed reimbursement by inmates for trav-
eling expenses at the rate of 15 cents per mile. The escort would
be required fo submif a voucher verified by the inmate to the fur-
lough coordinator. The money would then be taken from the in-
mate’s institutional account through the appropriate business
remit procedure.

a) Comment:

The Commassion believes that the present system, wherein 1o
reimbursement 1s provided for, is unduly burdensome on those
who would act as legitimate escorts. Reimbursement for traveling
expenses which is above board and out i the open, is an equitable
and realistic method that would help reduce the occurrence of in-
mates paying fees for escorts, a practice attested to at the hearings.

2) Criminal Sanctions:

As a further deterrence to escorts charging fees, it is recom-
mended that a statute he enacted which would impose criminal
sanctions on an escort who requests or receives compensation other
than that allotted for traveling expenses.

a) Comment:

Such a statute, of course, would give some teeth to the regula-
lion prohibiting compensation for escorts.

C. Work Release Program

1) FEvaluation before dpproval:

Prior to approving a work release for an inmate, Correction and
Parole personnel should check out, analyze and evaluate the
validity, usefulness, and suitability of the employment situation
and make a conscious determination that the particular work
release oppartunity will be of positive help to the inmate in reach-
ing a legitimata correctional goal. An effort should be made to
place the inmate in a work situation related to his prior experience
or anticipated employment after his release from confinement,
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The pre-release inquiry should determine exactly who will be the
inmate’s employer and the person to whom the inmat> will report
while at work.

a) Comment:

This requirement would help to insure that the work situation
18 genuine and one with the potential for fulfilling work release
objectives. This pre-verification, along with the recommendations
to follow, would also redure the likelihood of ‘“no show’’ jobs, a
subject we heard much testimony upon at the public hearings.

2) Police Check on Unknown Employer:

If an employer’s reputation is unknown or in any way in doubt,
the State Police should be asked to check on that employer.

a) Comment:

This procedure would prevent the occurrence of an inmate being
released to an employer with known criminal ties or one suspected
of criminal dealings.

3) Police and Prosecutor Contact Prior to Approval:

The Commission recommends that prior to a work release gruni,
the local police and prosecutor be notified of the circumstances of
the work release sitnation.

a) Comment:

The purpose of this contact is to get additional information on
potential employers and their employees to aid in making decisions
on the swuitability of such employment.

4) Eight-Hour Work Day:

The Commission recommends that work releases be authorized
only for a normal eight-hour working day, plus travel time, unless
the employer certifies, on pain of criminal penalty for giving
willfully false information, that longer work hours are necessary
for the proper conduct of the business.

a) Comment:
- This regulation would preclude the routine granting of worlk
hours covering early morning to midnight, seven days a week, a
siuation which testimony at the hearings indicated existed in the

past. The duration of work release must be strictly limited to job
related hours.
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5) Weekly Certification by Employer:

The Commission further recommends that an employer certify
to Correction and Parole officials, on a weekly basis and again on
pain of criminal sanctions for willfully false information, the
number of hours worked by the inmate and that the employer was
not reimbursed by the inmate or another individual on the inmate’s
hehalf.

a) Comment:

This requirement again addresses itself to the past indulgence
wm ““no show’’ jobs and the practice of employers not really paying
the salaries to participating inmates. The threat of criminal sanc-
tions 1s a necessary deterrent to such practices.

6) Employer Contract:

The Commission also recommends that a work release employer
be required to sign a contract which would spell out the employer’s
supervisory obligations and which would stipulate that the contract
could be cancelled if the employer did not make appropriate records
and other information available to Correction and Parole officials.

a) Comment:

This procedure would help officials to determine icho has the
responstbility of supervising the inmate while on the job site and
also require the employer to have accurate accessable records
needed for verification. This contractual obligation is appropriate
and not an overburdening demand since employers can and do
benefit from the use of work release labor.

7) Police Notification after Approval:

After an inmate has been approved for work release in a com-
munity, the local police should be notified of the date the inmate
will begin work, his hours and conditions of employment, how the
inmate wili be transporied to and from work, and the crime for
which the inmate was incarcerated.” Additionally, police should

be given a follow-up notice as to the date of termination of the
employment.

a) Comment:

Again, this is not meant to be an tmvitation to police to harass
participating prisoners, but rather as o courtesy and precaution
to local police. Due to staff limitations, any supervisory aid or

wmformation the police can provide to prison officials should not be
discouraged.
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8) Inmates Apprised of Rules:

It is also recommended that when an inmate is approved for
participation in the program, he should be furnished with a list
of standards of conduct and work performance with which he is
expected to comply and advised that non-compliance with those
standards may be the basis for termination of his participation
in the program, criminal proseccution, or other disciplinary action.
The inmate should he required to sign an agreement to abide by
those conditions and to keep a copy of the agreement on his persomn.
A copy of the agreement should be given to the work release
emiployer as well,

a) Comment:
This procedure would mnsure that all parties are fully aware of
the terms and conditions of the work release arrangement.

9) Spot-Checks at Job Site:

The Commission further recommends that Correction and Parole
persomnel make unscheduled visits at least twice a month to the
work sites of the participating inmates. Additionally, it is recom-
mended that where an inmate has found his own employment or
where an inmate is released to work for a velative or to conduct
his own business, special evaluation and serutiny be given.

a) Comment:

Testimony at the public hearings indicated that the recommended
spot-checking, particularly for the three lakter mentioned cate-
gories, 18 essential in order to preserve the integrity of the pro-
gram. These wvisits, along with the other recommendations
contained in this report will help defeat the schemers who would
attempt to defy the system,

10) Separate Quarters:

The Commission also urges that a continuning effort be made to
place participating prisoners in quarters apart from the general
inmate population. Additionally, procedures must be established

by the Depavtment to prevent and control the introduction of
contraband into those quarters.

a) Comment:

The use of separate quarters would help to lessen the pressures
and demands other prisoners subject the work release inmmates to
with regard to bringing contraband wn from the outside. Searching
procedures would also help to reduce the comtraband problem.
attested to at the hearings.

108




11) Prisoner Employment Service:

The Commission recommends that a Department level prisoner
emplovment scrvice be created to operate in conjunction with the
New Jersey State Employment Service in an effort to locate jobs
for work release candidates. '

a) Comment:

The Commission feels that the value of the work release program
to society and the inmate is such that grealer efforts should be
made to find jobs for qualified prisoners. Among the benefits of
work release are that inmates learn and develop skills, pay their
way at the prison, allow them to accwmulate some savings and
adjust to civilian life—hopefully reducing the instances of
recidivism.

12) Inform the Public:

Finally, the Commission recommends that special channels of
communication be developed with state and local officials, citizens
grou)s, social and husiness organizations, private cuterprises and
other agencies in order to inform and educate the publie to the
useful goals and special problems and needs of the program.

a) Comment:

Communicalion of this nature will apprise the public of actions
the institutions are undertaking and it is hoped that by pointing
out the legitimacy of the program, a positive atmosphere will be
generated and with it bring public understanding and support.

D. Community Release Program:
1) Objectives Defined and Verified:

The Commission reconunends that clear and legitimate goals of
the community release program be formulated and that such
veleases not be granted unless there is a thoroughly researched,
evaluated and verified finding that participation in the program
will contribute to the attainment of those goals. This finding
should then be documented and entered into the inmate’s file.

a) Comment:

The community release program has in the past been run in a
highly discretionary manner with few guidelines. This program
should only be utilized in exceptional cases and not, as in the past,
to grant pre-parole release privileges to favored inmates who are
unqualified for either work release or furlough. The above recom-
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mendation would require a legiiimate documented purpose before
such a release could be granted.

2) More Supervision:
The Comumission further vecommends that the Correction and

Parole officials assume greater responsibility for supervision of
the released inmates including more on-premises spot-checking.

a) Comment:

Testimony at the public hearings showed that the commumnity
release program was another source of abuse of the system. T'he
recommended procedures would help to assure that participating
mmates are adhering to the conditions of their releases.

3) Civilian Supervisor:

It is also recommended that where a civilian is in charge of the
community release project to which an inmate is assigned, that
civilian have the vesponsibility of verifying, under oath and threat
of criminal sanctions for giving willfully false information on the
work hours and attendance performance of the inmate, The civilian
supervisor should also supply the agents of the Department of
Corrections with the work schedule and anticipated duties the
inmate is slated to perform.

a) Comment:

Testimony of the public hearings, particularly with respect to
Jerry Swan, showed that the civilian supervisors may be kept
wnaware of the comings and goings of an inmmate and may never
have any contact or communication with prison officials. The above
recommendation will reduce the likelihood of similar occurrences
with o mintmum of effort.

1. Education Release Program:
1) Pre-Release Verification:

As with community release, the Commission recommends that
the Correction and Parole authorvities initiate policies and pro-
cedures which emphasize greater pre-rvelease verification of the
legitimacy and usefuluness of the release plan. In this vegarvd, it is
suggested that a potential education release inmate be required to
discuss his educational goals and background with a college
counsellor and administrator before heing permitted to enter the
program.
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a) Comment:

Testimony at the public hearings indicated that with respect to
the course of study an inmate might undertake, there was little, if
any, coordination between the inmate, the college, and the prison.
The suggested requirement would allow for the college to have
some input with regard to advising the inmate of those courses of
study for which he is unqualified or of those areas of study that
would be most suitable to his goals.

2) More Supervision:
As it has in other programs, the Commission recommends that

the Department of Corrections increase its supervision and spot-
checks of participating inmates.

a) Comment:

Testimony at the public hearings indicated that the freedom
given the immates and the lack of supervision by prison officials
resulted i various transgressions by immates involved in the pro-
gram. The Commission concludes that additional surveillance
procedures are necessary to curb such activities.

3) Counsellor of Campus:

It is further recommended that the Corvections Department
assign a counsellor to the campus at least once a week for the
purpose of meeting with participating inmates to discuss the spe-
cial problems they may be encountering. This should be required
where there are five or more inmates attending a particular college.

a) Comment:

It is felt that such couselling is necessary to increase the chances
for a successful program by helping the iwmate to adjust to the
new demands he will face at the college.

4) Security Alerted:
The Commission further recommends that the Department of
Corrections alert the security personnel of the educational insti-

tution to the presence of inmate students at the institution and
to the inmates’ schedules of hours and designated courses of study.

a) Comment:

This requirement would allow the college security force to take
any added precautions they deem appropriate and could help the
limited prison staff by providng some additional supervision of
participating prisoners.
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5) Attendance Taken:

It is also vecommended that the facully members of a partici-
pating institution be rvequired to record the attendance of inmates
at their designated classrooms and courses. 1t is further suggested
that an inmate student with two or more authorized absences be
suspended from the program.

a) Comment:

This requirement would help to assure that either inmates ure
going where they are supposed to be going or they are no longer
wm the program. The inmate must be made to recognize that he is
being given a special privilege and does not have all the rights
that other students on the campus might have.

) Record Keeping:
1Y Centralized File System:

The Comnission recommends that all records and other papers
~—ov verified copies of those records aud papervs—uvelating to all
inmates in the prison system should he placed in a centralized
file, with the aid of appropriate computer technology, subject o
maximum security precautions.

a) Comment:

The testimony at the pudblic hearings, as swmmarized in this re-
port, regarding incomplete, misfiled or missing information in
connection with inmate files clearly mmdicated {he need for a cen-
tralized reenrd keeping system subjeet to the most sophisticated
and thorough checking, verification and security procedures de-
vised by experts and which is effectively executed by employees
of assured integrity assisted by applicable computer technology.

2) Inventory of File:

The Commission recommends addilionally that the central file
contain chronological inventory sheets detailing documents placed
in an inmate’s file, the date when so placed, and by whom so placed,

a) Comment:

This practicz would enable prison officials to get a quick over-
view of what is contained in an mmate’s file without having (o go
through every document in the file. TWith the aid of this system,
it could easily be determined that an inmale 1is not eligible for
furloughs or other privileges.
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3) Entries in Iile Signed:

It is also recommended that any one who authors an entry in
any immate’s file be required to document that entry by his or
her signature.

a) Comment:

This requirement is in response to testimony that in the past
entries concerning such crucial matters as time computations for
parole consideration could be made anonymously. The signing pro-
cedure creates responsibility and accountability of those who make
entries in the central file.

4) Inmate Access:

Tt is further recommended that the Department of Corrections
adhere to a practice whereby no inmate will work in any area in
which access may be had to classified information, mail, funds,
prisoners’ personnel records, prisoners’ personal property and
prisoners’ classification reports and summaries thereof.

a) Comment:

The testimony at the public hearings clearly indicated the critical
importance of instituting this policy. The Commission also notes
that this recommendation is not limited to removal of inmate clerks
from the classification and furlough offices. Inmate runners and
porters must likewise be denied access to sensitive areas, as welb
as other inmates who work in areas where the enumerated materials
might pass. The Commission endorses and encourages further the
efforts already made by the Department to implement such a policy.

5) Verify Documents:

Finally, the Commission recommends that no court or other
agency opinion or ruling affecting an inmate’s status be entered
into an inmate’s file until the integrity of that ruling or opinion has
been thoroughly checked with the issuing court or agency.

a) Comment:

The verification of all documents before entrance in the inmate’s

file would preclude the phony document Pizuto-type siluation that
was attested to at the public hearings.

&) Miscellancous Recommendations:

1) Effort to End Contraband:

The Commission recommends that policies and procedures be
instituted sufficient to insure that the importation of contraband
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into the prisons is deterred by effective measures including regular
systematic and mandatory searches of returning inmates and
aggressive efforts to cxpose corrections persommel possibly in-
volved in such importations.

a) Comment:

Testimony at the public hearings indicated that trafficking in
narcotics and other contraband was commonplace at the prisons.
The Commission strongly urges that serious efforts be made to put
an end to this practice.

2) Commumication with Attorney General:

The Commission also recommends that there be regular and sus-
tained communication between Corrections Department officials
and the Attorney General’s Office on the question of whether or
not to prosecnte for offenses committed by inmates while on release
or elsewhere.

a) Comment:

Testimony at the public hearings brought out the fact that prison
officials are left to make decisions as to whether pre-parole viola-
tions or other possible offenses commitied by immates should be
handled internally on an admanistrative basis or brought to the
attention of prosecutorial authorities. It is the Commission’s belief
that the prison system should be serviced wilth continuing legal
wnput and should not wait for a crime-of-the-century situation to
seek or receiwve advice from the Attorney-General’s Office.

H. Closing Statement:

This report will now be concluded with an excerpt from the
closing statement as read by Chairman Joseph I. Rodriguez at the
adjournment of the public hearings June 3, 1976:

As we stated at the opening of these hearings, the
Commission believes pre-parole release programs are
a vital part of any modern correctional system striv-
ing to succeed in successfully returning inmates to
society. We support the programs and state again
that the principal purpose of these public hearings
has been to fuel the fires of reform of the programs
to a point where they will receive the full level of
support they deserve.
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The S.C.1L is available to appear before any legisla-
tive or executive panel to urge that funds be pro-
vided for the hiring of additional non-inmate
personnel to fully carry out and maintain reform of
the programs. Furthermore, the Commission realizes
that overcvowing is a serious problem in the state
corection system and is a constant presure for re-
leasing inmates. The public should understand
that, unless public funds are forthcoming to expand
prison facilities and adequately staff them, there can
be no total cure for the ills of the system. The public
must not labor under a false sense of security that
those dangerous to society are firmly incarcerated,
because the reality is that corrections institutional
space in New Jersey now remains static while the
number of those being incarcerated is increasing
sharply.




NURSING HOMES PARTICIPATING IN NEW JERSEY’S
MEDICAID PROGRAM

INTRODUCTION

Since December of 1974, when Medicaid and Medicare payments
to nursing homes began to undergo public serutiny, several agencies
and committees of New Jersey government became involved with
one more aspect of the inquiry. In December of 1974 the Governor
requested the State Commission of Investigation to conduct an
evaluation of New Jersey’s system of Medicaid reimbursement.
Also, in December of 1974, the New Jersey Attorney (feneral’s
office announced that it was probing the alleged interests of Dr.
Bernard Bergman in New Jerse; nursing homes. Later, that office
set up a special portion of its Enforcement Bureau to deal speciifi-
cally with possible criminal activities and fraud in the area of
reimbursement to nursing homes and other providers. This unit
has already produced a number of indictments, In January of
1975, Governor Byrne announced the formation of a cabinet-level
committee to study the problems of Medicaid reimbursement for
nursing home care. That committee issued its report on November
13, 1975, and the recommendations relating to property costs reim-
bursement reiterated several of the suggestions initially made hy
the S.C.I. on April 3, 1975, in its first interim report on nursing
home reimbursement. The New Jersey Legislature also ereated
its own committee to examine nursing homes in January of 197..
That committee, chaired by Senator Jolin Tay of Middlesex
County, examined the quality of care in New Jersey nursing homes
receiving Medicaid reimbursement and other aspects of the
program.

Because of the attention being given to other facets of the
Medicaid system as it relates to nursing homes, because reimburse-
ment of land and building costs presents one of the largest cost
factors in Medicaid reimbursement and because investigators
involved in the area have realized that it is this component of
reimbursement which is most often abused and most in need of
reform,* the S.C.I. continued to direct its attention to this area.

v See, e.g., Reimbursement of Nursing Home Property Costs, Pruning the Money Tree,
Report of the New York State Moreland Act Commission on Nursing Homes and
Related Facilities, January, 1976; Report on Nursing and Relaied Facilities, Tem-
porary State Commission on Living Costs and the Economy, April, 1975; Report of
the Ad Hoc Comanittee on Capital Cost Reimbursement Rates, New York Public
Health Council, October 25, 1975.

116

I S S



In the first report issued by the Commission in April of 1975,
the genesis of a cortain schedule of ceilings for rentals and imputed
rentals was examined along with other components of the property
cost reimbursement system created by the Divisior of Medical
Assistance and Health Services (DMAHS) of the Department of
Institutions and Agencies. One of the primary conclusions of that
report was that the schedule of maximum rentals and imputed
rentals was inflated so as to permit unnecessary profits.

Specifically cach nursing home operator operating his institution
under a lease was allowed to ““cost’’ for Medicaid purposes the
amount of the lease up to certain maximums supplied by the rental
schedule of DMAHS. That rental schedule purported to identify
per-bed rental ceilings which corresponded to construction costs
during the year of initial building. Tor instance, if the schedule
alloyed a maximum of $1,000 per hed for a home built in 1970 and
the home contained 100 beds, the maximum rental allowance would
he $100,000.* Obviously, if the rental schedule was inflated, the
programs would overpay leasces.

After concluding that the schedule was inflated, the Commission
undertook to serutinize a number of New Jersey nursing homes to
determine the extent of the problems. In this inquiry attention was
focused not only upon leasees but also upon owner-operators who
are compensated for their property expenses (debt service, taxes,
insurance and a return on equity) on a dollar-for-dollar basis with
no ceiling whatsoever.

Having completed its investigation work on the second phase
of the inquiry by the Spring of 1976, the Commission thereafter
prepared a report of its findings. Beeause those findings, which
will be discussed in more detail hereinafter, illustrated that the
system was heing bilked to so substantial a degree, however, the
(‘fommission also resolved to hold publie hearings preceding the
release of the report. Some highlights of those hearings follow.

A Key Witness

One of the first witnesses at the opening of the Commission’s
public hearing on October 13, 1976 was also one of the most reveal-
ing in testimony that corraborated S.C.I. Chairman Joseph

* There were also several ancillary provisions which effect the amount of reimbursement.
For instance, leases executed prior to December 31, 1970 resulted in the lease receiving
125% of the schedule amounts, presumable on the assumption that they could not have
been negotiated with knowledge of the rental schedule maximums.
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Rodriguez’s contention thal ‘‘smart-money manipulators use lease
and sublease pyramiding to realize excessive profits, to the detri-
ment of the Medicaid program and the taxpavers of New Jersey.”
He was Joseph D. Cohen of New York City, who once lived briefly
in Lakewood, N. J., the administrator of Iast Orange Nursing
Home run by Garden State Nursing Home, Inec., of which he was
president and owned 80 per cent. His almost accidental entry into
the nursing home business was also revealing, as to the case with
which he gualified not only for operating in New York but also hy
automatic licensing reciprocity in New Jersey. ITe was called as a
subpeenaed witness by Michael R. Siavage, counsel to the (‘om-
mission:

Q. When you first became nterested in the nurs-
wmg-home business, what did you do as gour first
activity to get involved in the nursing-home business?

A. My first activity was to go take the necessavy
schooling, both te gain the knowledge plus to get the
license to be permitted to operate a nursine home.

And about when did that happen?
In 1970, I believe.

Okay.
Or 1969. 1969, 1970, around there.

How long did you go to school, if you can recall?
It was a hundred-hour session, what they call. I
thmk it was over a period of three weeks ddllV, full
days.

PO PO P

Q. Did you become employed in o nursing home in
New York to gain experience?
Yes.

Did you act as administrator there?
Yes, I did.

What’s the name of that nursing home?
Parkway Manor Nursing Home.

PO PO

Q. Were you looking around at that time, also, for
a nursing home of your own to become mwolved m?
A. That was my intention from the beginning.
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Q. Did it matter to you whether that nursing home
was i New Jersey or New York?

A. Well, I weighed all factors and I decided I
would rather go to New Jersey.

* % * *
Examiwarion 3y CoMmissioNEr KADEN:

Q. Mr. Cohen, what was your occupation before
yow went into the nursing-home business?
A. Real estate.

Q. What nature of real estate business?
A. Primarily buying and selling.

Q. In the state of New York?

A. No, most of my real estate was in Jllinois and
Michigan and only a short while in New York. In New
York my real estate was limited to managing.

Q. Buying and selling what?
A. Residential properties.

Q. What first caused your interest in the nursing-
home business?

A. T had a divoree, and I was forced abruptly to
give up my business. In fact, much of my funds was
tied up in litigation. And I came to New York to get
change of seenery and, fortunately, I got married and
T was looking for some new form of making a living,
decided upon the nursing-home business,

Q. Isthere any person in particular who suggested
to you the possibility of the nursing-home business?
A. My wife.

Q. Did she have any background in it?

A. No. Her feeling, she kept pushing. She said my
nature was such, I liked to help people and it seems
to be a pretty good business, and with my feeling for
people and so on I should he good in it.

Q. You said you took a course to qualify yourself
as a nursing-home administrator. Where was that
course?

A. That was in—given in the Jewish Home and
Hospital for the Aged in Manhattan.
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[Wherenpon, the witness confers with counsel.]

Q. As a result of that course, did you obtain a
license as an administrator under the regulations
of the State of New York?

A. Well, T spent—yes. But during the time I was
taking that course and prior to taking that course I
made it my business to visit many nursing homes,
especially people that I knew from before and were
friendly to me, and learn all about it to gain the
necessary background to be able to properly run a
home.

Q. What do you mean people that you knew from
before and people that were friendly to you? People
in the nursing-home business in New York?

A. People who I knew from school days primarily,
who went into the nursing-home field and they were
willing to teach me.

Q. What was the nature of the course that you
took?

A. It’s a prescribed course by the state for
people who want to be licensed. They must take this
course and then take a test.

Q. Any person who takes this course for a hundred
hours and takes an examination can become licensed
to operate a nursing home in New York?

A. At that time, yes. Today there are require-
ments for in service and so on.

Q. What did you have to do to obtain equivalent
license i New Jersey?

A. The New York standards were, I think, even
higher than New Jersey standards and I was able to
—reciprocal agreement,

Q. In other words, having taken o hundred-howr
course and obtained a license in New York, you were
then able, without any further evidence of your back-
ground, to obtain a license to be o nursing-home
adwinmistrator in the state of New Jersey?

A. Yes.
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Seliing Beds

1t was Mr. Cohen who first disclosed to the Commission that
sotting up a nursing home corporation did not necessarily follow
a traditional pattern for launching corporations. IHe descrihed a
proctice in the industry known as ““selling beds.”” The Commission
decried this practice for more reasons than mercly the lack of
contact between the bed owner and the actnal operation of the
nursing home, but also more importantly because the scheme had
the obvious potential of being a device to withhold from admin-
istrative agencies which oversee the Medicaid program the actual
identity of the people involved in the ownership of nursing homes.

Alv. Cohen, a part owner of Perth Amboy Nursing Home as well
as the operator of the East Orange facility, reinforced publicly his
testimony at the Commission’s private hearings at which he told
of garnering the $525,000 necessary to launch the Perth Amboy
home by selling beds for $3,000 each through what he deseribed as
“social contacts.”” Simply put, as the Commission learned from
Mr. Cohen and others, for a cash investment of $3,000 per bed a
person was guaranteed an interest in the Perth Amboy Nursing
Home that assured him a profit of $400 per bed annually, over and
above the profit of the entrepreneurs. Such an investor could
purchase as many beds as desired.

A. Yes. I own an interest in Perth Amboy
Nursing Home.

Q. Andwhat interest do you own in Perth Amboy?
A, It’s approximately 22 plus some fraction of a
per cent.

Q. Approximately 22 per cent?
A. Yes.

Q. You nitially characterized your percentage
Lefore the Commmission as 57 265ths; is that correct?

A. Thatwould be—well, T can give it to you exactly
that way. It’s 57/250ths.

Q. 250ths. Now, what does the 250 refer to in that
fraction?

A. The total number of beds in the nursing home.

Q. So might we say that you own 57 beds ount of
the 2502

A. Yes, correct.
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Q. Isthat a common mode of nursing-home-owner-
ship in New Jersey; that is, the ownership of ¢ portion
of the beds, based on your expericnce?

A, Yes, on my experience, rather than work with
percentages, you work with beds. It means the same
thing.

Q. There is a pructice i the industry known as
selling beds; is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. How is that done? Do you know?

A. Well, it’s someone wants to go into a nursing-
home operation and he’s looking for partners to go
in with him, it’s a matter of trying to figure a method
how to divide it so that each one knows exactly what
he has and to make it easier for reinthursement, later
for dividing profits if there are any, hopefully, to
have a definite system to know what percentage is
yvours, being everything in nursing-home bed business
is done on a per-bed basis; all your auditing, hook-
keeping is kept on a per-bed basis; aulomatic statisties
coming through would come through on a per-hed
basis. It’s easier if a man knows he has so many beds
and cach bed produces so much, that’s his share.

Q. Did you get a group of investors togelher to

mvest i Perth dmboy Nursing Home?
A. Yes, I did.

Q. Did you receive any beds in retwrn for that
function?
A. Yes, I did.

Q. How many out of your 57 beds did you receive
i return for that function?
A. 50.

Q. And I would imagine that the other seven beds
you invested in with cash; s that correct?
A. Correct.

Q. How much was your investment in those other
seven beds?
A, $21,000.

Q. Approxzimately $3,000 per bed?
A. Correct.
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Q. TWould it be fair to say that your 50 beds which
came for your expertise in the field were worth about
$150,000?

A. Well, it's move than just expertise. There was
a lot of work and so on, but it was for services ren-
dered.

Q. Al right. Now, I would like to posc a hypo-
thetical for you, and consider myself to be one of your
social contacts to whom yow would sell a bed. What
would you say to me to attempt to influence me n the
deal with regard to Perth dmboy, for instance?

A. T would try to convinee yvou that you would be
able to get a reasonable return on your money and
with reasonable security. I mean, perhaps, a little
better security than in other industries.

Private Patients Favored

Mr. Cohen spoke with more candor at the private hearing than
in public on what Mr. Siavage characterized as ““talk’’ of Medicaid
patients being put on waiting lists to get into many nursing homes.
Finally his private testimony had to be made public by the S.C.L
counsel :

Q. Let me read you two questions and answers in
your ltestimony in cxecutive session and ask if you
still agree with it.

“Question: Do you have any opinion on why
there 1s a waiting list other than the fact that
there is stmply=—

“Answer: Sure, I have an opinion. I know the
reason,

“Question: What is the reason?

“ Answer: Beeause If T were in a neighborhood
where T could get private patients, I wonld keep
beds vacant for a long time and wait for the
private patients vather than take the Medicaid
patient.

“Question: Is that done n areas where private
palients are available to nursing-home operators?

““ Answer: Definitely.”’

Q. Would that be a correct statement?
A. That would have to be modified.
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Q. You would modify it today?
A, Yes.

Q. Al right.
A, Twould have to modify. Tt isu't an incorrect
statement, but it has to be modified.

An Investment Profit of $1.2 Million Paid by Taxpayers

As shocking as it was complicated was Mr. Cohen’s revelation
about the pyramiding transactions for launching the Tast Orange
nursing home facility through a lease, a lease assignment and a
leaseback arrangement that involved two forveign speculators—
Yehuda Gertner of Venezuela and Menachem Kurniek of Belgium-—
and which guaranteed a 50 per cent Ilnvestment gaim of §1.2
million on a facility that was built for $2.1 million. My, Cohen
testified that on January 12, 1971 he signed a contract under which
Philip Kruvant of South Orange built the nursing home and leased
it to Garden State Nursing Home, Tue., for $272,000 a vear. In
return Garden State was to give Mr. Kravant a servies of notes
for 475,000 to be paid back over 10 vears and a letter of credit
for $75,000. But Mr. Cohen, apparently in need of funds to carry
out the contraet with Mr. Kruvant, found a savicur in the form of
Mr, Gertner, a so-called wealthy toy manufacturer from Caracas,
who was on the search for investment opportunities in the United
States:

Q. All right. Now, who introduced you to My,
Gertner? .
A. My brother-in-law, Mr. Besser.

Q. And did youw Tave megoliations with Mo,
Gertner?
A. Yes, I did.

Q. Why did you? What was your purpose n
negotialing with Mr. Geriner?

A. 1 needed money in order to be able to run my
business.

Q. Okay. How much capital were you in need of?
A. Iwasinneed of alot more than I got from him,
but I took whatever I could get.

Q. What was whatever you could get?
A. The $75,000 for the letter of credit that T needed.
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Q. That was, essentially, the one thing that you
needed now in that agreement, is that rorrect, the
$75,000?

A. Plus I wanted seenrity, because according to the
agreement I was personally liable for the first six
mounths’ rent, which added up to $136,000. Anything
went wrong, 1 couldn’t afford that kind of a loss. M.
Gertner could better afford it than I could.

% ¥ &

Conmnrssiozer  Porrocx: What did you know
about him, about his background at the time yon
met him?

Tue Wirxess: Just what T heard from my
brother-in-law.

Commissionenr Ponrock: And what was that?

Tue Wirxess: That he’s a very successful
businessman and that he has a, primarily, a tov
factory in Caracas and that he looks for invest-
ments in the United States, or was looking for
some investments in the United States.

Coarnrzsstones Pornock: All right. But you
had had no prior connection or relationship with
My. Gertner?

Tue Wiryess: None whatsoever.

Coanirssioner Porrock: This was the first
time you met him?

Tae Wirwzss: Yes.

Comanrssiover Porrocx: And if T understand
your carlier statements correctly, the reason you
neaeded Mr. Gertner was in ovder to obtain the
initial cash to go forward with this project?

Trr Wirness: Yes.
By Mgz, Stavaes;

Q. By the way, Mr. Cohen, when is the last time
you spoke to Mr. Gertmer?

A. When is the last time I spoke to him? Probably
six or eight months ago. e was here and T met him
in synagogue.
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Q. I show youwhat’s been marked for the purposes
of identification Lahibit C-10, which purports to be a
copy of an assignment and amendment of lease made
effective the 15th day of Jamuary, 1971, between
Garden State Nursing Home, Inc., as the assignor, and
Yehuda Gertner residing at Avenida Marques del
Toro, Number 8, Caracas, Venezuela, and before I ask
you zf you recoguize fhaf, on the 12th of January you
did also agree to lease the nursing home from JAr.
Kruvant, Is that correct, if you recall?

A. Yes. Well, based on your document, yes.

Q. Now I ask you if you recognize Exhibit (*-10.
A, Yes,

Q. All right. This memorialized your agrecment
with Mr. Gevtner to put up some money, some con-
sideration, other raluable consideraiion, and he then
beeame the assignee on a lease?

A. Right.

Q. All right. Now, let me summarize it. if I can,
at this point with respecz‘ to just these two documents,
and bear with me for a moment.

Mr. Kruvant agrees with you to build a nursing
lome and lease it to you for $272,000; 18 that correct?

A.  Correct.

Q. And Mr. Gertner gives you §75,000 of cash that
you need and you agree to assign your lease with
Kryvant to hin.?

A. Correct.

Q. Now, one more thing happens in this chain; is
that correct?

A, I—vell, you better say what. I’m not sure what
ou’re driving at.

9. dfter becoming your assignee on the lease from
Liv. Kruvant, Mr. Gertner leases back to you; is that
correct?

A. Correct, correct.

Q. Allright. What 1s the amount of the lease from

Ir. Gertner—I’m sorry—yes, Mr. Gertner Lack to
you?

A. T know it better on a per-bed basis rather than
total fignre.

126



Q. Al right.
A. $1,700 a bed plus $100 a bed for furniture, which
is $1,800 a bed.

Q. Iow many beds are i East Orange Nursing
Home?
A. 195

Q. Does that come to $351,0002
A. T think that’s correct.

Q. Mr. Kruvant has a lease to you for $272,000;
is that correct?
A. Correct.

Q. Okay. Now, after the home opens, to whom
do you pay your rent?

A, Actually, T pay that portion of the rent that’s
due to Mr. Kruvant directly to him, and the balance
I pay to—at present it’s the assignee of Mr. Gertner.

Q. Al right. Adccording to the documents, you
would be paying Mr. Gertner 3551,000; is that correct?
A. Right.

Q. But to shortcut things and make them easier,
you simply paid Mr. Kruvant directly $272,000 and
the balance to Mr. Gertner?

A. Yes. Well, not just to make it easier. It was
IKruvant’s desirve that it be done that way.

Q. How much is Mr. Qertner getting? TWhat is
the difference Letween the 272 and the 8512 Accord-
ing to those amounts, is it basically 79,0002

A. I thought it was 78, but close enough.

Q. Al right. So that, to summarize it, and re-
ferring to this chart which is Exhibit (-3 for the
purposes of identification, assuming that the state
reimburses the full $551,000, $272,000 is going to
Mr. Kruvant and $79,000 is going to Mr. Gertner; is
that correct?

A, Correct.



Q. Now, one more indiwidual enters the chain in
approximately June of 1974; is that correct?
A. I think it was May 15th, '74.

Q. All right. What is his name?
A. Menachem Kurnik.

Where does he live?
Belgium.

Antwerp, Belgium?
Antwerp, Belgium.

PO PO

How does he enter the picture, if you know?
m 71(’90 does he come from?

A. Well, Yehuda Gertner was very unhappy with
the deal in spite of the fact it looks like he’s doing
so well on the chart. He wasn’t doing very well and
he had fears he would lose his money and wouldn’t get
his money out, and I at the same time had fears I may
have to go bankrupt. So he deeided to go out and he
got this Menachem Iurnik to—you know, he took a
reasonable caleulated risk, so to speak. If it goes
well, he’ll get a nice vetwrn. If it goes sour, he'll
lose everything.

Q. He assigned his position to Mr. Kurnik; is
that correct?
A. Correct.

Q. Do you know what the terms of the agreement
between Mr. Kurnile and Mr. Geriner were?
A. No, I do not.

Q.. All right, Mr. Gertner gave you the §75,000 for
your agreement with Mr. Kruvant, is that correct,
or he gave you a letter of credit?

A. A letter of credit.

Q. All right. Ie also became the obligee on «a
series of notes; is that correct?
A. Correct.

Q. And that series of notes will be paid back by
Mr. Kruvant ov2r ten years; is that correct?
A. Yes.
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Q. hat is the term of the lease between Mr.
(rertner and yourself in years, number of years, if
you reeall?

A, Twenly years with a twenty-year rencwal.

Q. Al right. It’s a twenty-year lease. Would it be
Jair to say that for Mr. Gertner’s investment of
§75,000, then, he’s receiving $79,000, according to the
documents, for a period of twenty years?

A Well, T believe T once pointed out that it wounld
take close to five years for him to get back his first
15, Thereafter you’d be right.

Q. Al right. Let’s not analyze the investment.
Let’s jusi—the question is

A. No, it wouldn’t be twenty years. T'm answering
vou specific. Tt couldn’t be twenty vears because—
wait a minute. From the time—see, he put up the
money in 1970, beginning of *71, and it took two years
to build. Se, I mean, so you had money tied up, and
then it was furniture, so you wouldn’t get a retumn
right away. But then once it started, he would get
what vou said.

Q. For how long?
A. TFor twenty years.

Q. Okay. Have you ever multiplied $79,000 times
19.5 years or lwenty years?

A, No, but I’ll rely on your figures.

@. Al right. My figures are in the area of
81,580,000 which he is receiving for an investment of
873,000,

ConnyusstoNer Porrocx: 1Vt was that figure
again?
Mr. SBravace: It's approximately—well, 19.5
vears would be exactly $1,540,500.
By Mz, Siwvage:

©. Could you have found another lender to give
you the §75,000 at perhaps better terms, Mr. Cohen?

A. If the rules and regulations of New Jersey
would have been otherwise, T probably could have.
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Q. Al right.
A. But under the rules that they had, it was very
difficult.

Q. Do you think you could have found a bank that
would have given you a severty-five-thousand-dollar
loam for 104 per cent annual interest?

No.

Q. Okay

A. Tecan only explain it, if you wish, but, no.

. No. that’s all right.

How the deal mysteriously gravitated from the Venezuelan
toymaker to Mr. Kurnik, the man from Antwerp, was related by
Mzr. Cohen, at least to the extent of what he knew or nurported to
know of the details of the switeh:

Q. Now, has Garden State Nursing IHHome ever
actually made out a check to Mr. Gertner in the
amount of $79,0002 Have you ever paid Mr. Gertner
a seventy-mine-thousand-dollar check? Have you erer
given him any currency?

A. T haven’t given him anything.

Q. Never paid him any monecy?
A. No.

Q. Now you can explain to us why you have never
gwen ham the §79,000 o year.

A. Because his obligation was, as you mentioned
earlier, to pay for the series of notes or furnituve,
which added up to a little over $75,000, in addition to
which he had to pay for any furniture that was a
necessity for the proper operation of the nursing
home, and before I would start paying him anything,
the first money, the money that was due him for rent
would be applied directly towards these fuirniture

payments.

Q. All right. So, instead of paying Gertner his
$79,000 a year, he had certain obligations under the
lease is youwr testimony?

A. Correct.
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Q. Which you paid for and used as a setoff against
that seventy-nine-thousand-dollar-a-year obligation
to him?

A. Correct.

% # % *

Q. All right. Is that the furniture that you pur-
chased for Mr. Geriner in satisfaction of his obliga-
tions?

A. That’s the furniture that I paid for, yes.

Q. All right. Was it in satisfaction of the obligu-
tion of Gertner under the leases?
A. Part of the satisfaction, right.

Q. Al right. Was the balance of those moneys paid
to Mr. Gertner? This total amount, by the way, is
$150,000. Would you like to examine the document?

A. Of which Mr. Kruvant paid $75,000.

Q. All right. So this represents §75,000 of
Gertner’s obligalion?
A. Right.

Q. How long was Gertner obligated to—I’m sorry.
Strike that. How long were you obligated to pay the
$79,000 to Gertner; what period of time?

A. Tor the life of the lease.

Q. Al right. In actuality, how long did that exist
before Mr. Kurnik came in the situalion?
A, Till 1974; May of '74.

Q. All right. Was it in cxistence in 19722
A. Yes.

Q. W asitin exislence in 19732
A, Yes.

Q. Adnd it ceased in May of 19747
A. Yes.

Q. So it lasted aboutl twwo and a half years?
A. Correct.

. And yow paid an obligation worth $75,000 for
Mr. Gertner. Did you end up at the end of this owing
Gertner money?

A. Yes.
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How much was it, do you recall?
I believe it was $30,000 or so.

Did you ever pay him that money owed to him?
No.

. Did you have discussion with him concerning
that amount?
A. Certainly did.

Q. Was he upset at the fact that he was not
receiving it?
A. Yes.

@. Did e decide then to get out of the deal, so to
speak?
A. Yes.

Q. And he assigned to Mr. Kurnik?
A. Yes.

@. Do you know anything of the negotiations
between Gertner and Kurnik?
A. I do not.

Q. Do you know where they took place?
A. I do not.

Q. Did they take place om foreign soil, to your
knowledge?
A. Ipresume so, but I have no real knowledge.

By Comarssroner PARLEY:

Q. Let me just understand this, Mr. Cohen. As I
understand it, the State of New Jersey, based upon
the Gertner Kast Orange lease, that would be this
lease, pays you $351,000 a year?

A. Yes.

Q. That’s correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And then you, theorelically or lLiterally, have
two landlords. You pay $272,000 of that to Kruvant;
18 that correct?

A. Correct.
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Q. If you added the 79 onto the 272, we come back
to the 3512

A. Correct.

Q. But you have not been paying this money to
Kruvant because you have some kind of an amorphous
arrangement about buying furniture?

A. That was in the past. T have been payving it
lately.

Q. I sce. How many years

A, Gertner never got any money, but Kurnik has
gotten money from me.

Q. IIow much money has Kurnik received?
A. T could do a little computation.

[Whereupon, the witness confers with counsel.|
A, About $120,000.

Q. And that will be continued to be paid?
A. Yes,

Q. dnd it will be paid out of this sum; is that
correct?

A, Right.

(. What is the total amount that ever came to
Iast Orange Nursing Ifome from this red line,
whether it be the Kurnik or the Geriner lease?

A. You're talking total amount of dollars was
$75,000.

Q. Al right. So you've got $75,000 and you ve
bought some furniture out of the 351 that you got
directly, correct?

A Right.

Q. If you multiply the 79 by the 20 years, we come
out with approximately 1,580,000, more or less, cor-
rect?

A. Correet.

Q. So for 75,000 coming in in cash and you duying
some furniture, which you were already paid for by
the State of New Jerscy, theoretically, the balance of
that will be paid out along this red line?

A. Well, that, that is correct from the dollars. But
there was another major consideration that Mu.
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Gertner had to, had to—gave to Wast Orange Nursing
Home beyond the 75,000 in cash.

Q. But according to the documents, and let’s just
stick with the documents for the time being.
A. Well, according to——

Q. You would agree that all East Orange ever got
was 75,000, but, theoretically, pursuant to the terms
of the lease, if it ultimately is run out to the end, 1his
red line will pick up about $1,500,0002

A. The dollar figure, the dollar figures that you're
restating are correct.

Q. dnd the source of that million-five on the red
line is from the State of New Jersey, which is paying
you this 351 a year?

A. Correct.

Q. On the bottom line, as I see it, at least from
the documents, is that for o scventy-five-thousand-
dollar cash investment, cither through Gertner or
Kurnik, wltimately New Jersey will be paying close
to a million and a half dollars?

A. Correct.

Q. How can you defend that as far as the tax-
payers of this state are concerned?

A. T only can explain what my motives were and
what my thoughts were at the time I entered into the
deal and negotiated the deal.

I went into the nursing home and I want—avould
have preferred to operate it myself without having to
eome onto outside people to help me. I began to—as
I got deeper into it, I realized that the operating
capital, startup costs may run much higher than I
had originally anticipated, and I had to find some
means to finance myself.

The most obvious thing to me was to try to get a
partner to go into this deal with me. But the rules
and regulations of the state have no room for a
partner in the nursing-home field, because the only
money you can make is your salary and beyond that
you have to expect to lose a little bit because they
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don’t reimburse you all your costs, most of your costs,
and no profit factor. So I couldn’t possibly interest
an honest person to become a partner of mine.

Q. So what did that leave you?

A. That Ieft me one other choice; try to go out and
make a loan. I couldn’t do that, either, because again
there would be no way in the world for me to be able
to tell the man where I'm going to get the money to
pay back the loan because never will I make a profit.
T can’t get back the money I lost originally.

Q. What was your last option?

A. My last option was so-called what you call a
loophole, whatever vou want to call it. The only
place would be in the real estate area would be to
have a man do what T did; is to sign it and sign it
back.

Q. So let me rephrase it from legitimate tramsac-
tion, no can do; bank, no can do. So, you go into the
outer extremities of legitimacy and there is where you
find the loophole?

A. Now, only one thing, though, I do want to point
out; that at the time when T entered it, I say again
I had in mind very much this chart and I knew more
or less what the state considers a fair amount to pay
for a home. When I negotiated with Mr. Kruvant,
and it was heavy negotiations, went on for a long time,
I was very well aware that I was negotiating what
vou would call a very good lease, well helow what most
people were negotiating in the nursing-home field,
and mainly hecause Mr. Kruvant was putting up a
building on my—on the strength of my lease. In
other words, he didn’t want to invest until he knew
he had a customer, and it was bhecause—and it was
very particular who he chose for a customer, and
because of that T was in a position to drive a hard
bargain with him to leave me a little room so T counld
turn around and get someone else to enter the deal
and still come into the reasonable amount so that the
total amount of money that the state is spending is
not more than it would spend on any average nursing
home.

* $ * ¥

135




In a further explanation of the pyramiding paperwork involving
his entry into the nursing home business in New Jersey, Mr. Cohen
told how he had lacked ‘‘start-up’’ cash and how the lease he
signed with Mr. Gertner of Venezuela provided, among other
benefits, a vehicle for purchasing furniture for the nursing home—
through public funds.

Examivarion By CoMMISSIONER POLLOCK :

Q. I recognize from your testimony which I have
heard here today that, prior to entering the nursing-
home business, you, indeed, had been in the real estate
business in New York.

A. Right.

Q. And that, notwithstanding that, you did not
have sufficient initial cash for your start-up cost,
right?

A. Correct.

Q. And so you had to get the 75,000 from Mr.
Gertner, okay?
A. Correct.

Q. And beyond that, you didn’t have sufficient
funds to go out and purchase the furniture?
A. Correct.

Q. So that the lease that you signed with Br.
Gertner, which I thank is marked C-11, provided for a
vehicle for you to purchase the furniture for lhe
nursing home?

A. Correct.

Q. And that lease contained the rental payment,
which I guess the figure is $351,000 a year?
A. Correct.

Q. So out of that rental payment is coming the
money to buy the furniture to make the nursing home
switable for occupancy by your tenants?

A. Correct. If I may just inject, I den’t know if it
makes any difference, I mean there’s a certain amount
of money that I knew I needed altogether in the
nursing home. Whether the 75 was for the furniture,
I knew I didn’t have enough money to cover all
aspects of what I needed. So, I mean, it happened it

136




was earmarked this way for furniture. I could have
just as well taken my money for the furniture and
used his money for something else. I worked out this
way. I had to put up a lot of money of my own in
addition to the $75,000.

Q. But anolher nursing-home operator who had
sufficient capital for this venture would not have had
to include in his rental arrangement a sum sufficient
to purchase the furniture?

A. Correct.

Q. And,indeed, 1t’s the rental set forth in C-11, the
$351,000, which is one of the figures on which you
qualify for retmbursement for public funds, right?

A. Right.

Q. So, in effect, from public funds, based on the
rental set forth in C-11, you are obtaining the money
to buy the furniture to make the nursing home switable
for occupancy by your tenants?

A. T don’t fully understand the question. I mean,
if T can rephrase it, if you permit me to rephrase i,
what I did perhaps then would answer. I needed a
large amount of money to open up the home because
until vou fill up a home vou have tremendous expenses
and you don’t get reimbursed on those expenses, and
you have to be in a position to lose that money. Now,
I had, I think at the high point, I had about $200,000
of my money in the home and I saw there is a limit
how much. That was about all I could possibly go
and expect—I thought it would be less, wound up I
was short. I neecded additional money. It wasn’t
furniture or this ox that. Just to be able to operate a
nursing home in the state of New Jersey I needed
additional money, and I turned to Mr. Gertner and
I used this vehicle, this method of getting $75,000
additional in order to operate the home.

Q. Yes. Butit was because you didn’t have enough

money of your own?

A. Yes. If I didn’t have to buy furniture, I
wouldn’t. That’s very true. By the same token, if T
didn’t have operating expenses, I would have money
for furniture.
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Q. It was your own lack of personal finances in
going into the real eslate venture that resulted in the
sublease C-11 being signed wn which the rental was
bumped up to the sum of 351,000 so you could make
a go of it on your real estate investment?

A, Well, I mean I had—I don’t know what you're
driving at, but what I'm trying to point out, I mean,
if this would hay . been a gravy train that wounld he
I couldn’t possibly lose and only could make and
everything would be fine, I probably could have raised
the $75,000 by selling some of myv land holdings. T
have other assets, but T didn’t have the liquid money
and I didn’'t want to, you know, just simply tie myself
up hand and foot in a risky adventure, and I went as
muech as I could my own and the rest 1 raised this
method.

$1.580 Million for $75,000

Mr. Cohen conceded that the New Jersey Medicaid program was
not designed to enrich nursing home speculators, such as the ast
Orange deal had done through foreign wheeler-dealers. And he also
conceded that loopholes in the Medicaid law and regulations should
be closed to keep people from ‘“getting rich unnecessarily and un-
fairly’’—but that the reforms should not proscribe private in-
vestment in and operations of facilities. He expounded at some
length on his philosophy on how the nursing home business should
operate.

BExaminaTioNn BY COMMISSIONER POLLACK :

Q. Okay. Andunder the documents as drawn based
on Mr. Kurnik’s —strike that—Mr. Gerlner’s initial
moestment of $75,000 cash, Mr. Gertner and now Mr.
Kurnik, indeed, stand to receive, or stood to receive,
$1,580,000; 1s that right?

A. Yes.

Q. dnd that’s American tazpayers’ money going
to two foreign investors on the basis of a seventy-five-
thousand-dollar cash investment, right?

A. Right.
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Q. Do you believe that the Medwcaid program for
reimbursement for nursing homes was intended to
provide « one-million-five-hundred-eighty-thousand-
dollar return to a foreign tnvestor on a cash invest-
ment of $75,0002

A. That was not the puipose of the Medicaid pro-
gram, by no means.

Q. You know, the one other thing that troubles me
i addition to some of the other statements, includ-
ing the most recent one, is that you have been testify-
ing here for about two hours and, if my recollection
serves me correctly, the whole thrust of the testimony
and your involvement and that of Mr. Kurnik, {hat
of Mr. Gertner is that this became, in effect, an attrac-
tive real estate investment because of the introduc-
tion of Medicaid in 1971 and nowhere in the state-
ments made thus far have T heard any concern
cxpressed about the quality of care provided the
patients. It’s all a bed is worth so much and the bed
is the mode of computing the real estate invest-
ment.

A. Yes. T am in full agreement with vou that the
main purpose of the Medicaid program is, and should
be, pafient care, maximum patient care in the most
efficient manner, and by ““efficient,”’ T mean the most
economical, too; most economical to give the best
results.

T'm in full agreement that this is the correct goal
and purpose and should be the purpose, and T feel
that, although what vou’re trying to do at this
particular hearing, which I understand what you’ve
driving at, is basically a correct thing, but I’'m afraid
that it’s going to baclfire and you’re going to destroy
the underlying purpose that I just stated what vou
agree with me is the purpose, because it is true that
there probably are some so-called loopholes, like per-
baps this, what happened here may be a form of a
loophole.

However, the basic concept has to be that, if von
want to attract reasonable people to operate nursing
homes in a reasonable manner at an efficient way, you
have to allow them some incentive. You have to know
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that we Dbelieve in the capitalistic system of govern-
ment; that people work better when they have some
incentive, not just for pure idealism. I mean, I may
feel that I chose the nursing-home deal hecause I
bappen to like people, and T think I'm very proud of
the fact I take good care of them, but I won’t deny
that my underlying purpose of going into the field was
to make a living, make a comfortable living, And if
vou take that away from the narsing-home field,
vou’re going to wind up with defeating the very thing
what you’re trying to drive at. In other words,
you're trying to save dollars for the government and
you're trying to bring about a tremendous expendi-
ture, becanse you're going io encounrage a system of
waste and inefficient operations of nursing homes.
I don’t mean you as such. I'm talking if you block
out all forms of a person being able to get a return
on his investment and if a man operates a home cffi-
ciently and saves money and he can’t make anything
on if, it's going to wind up with government-run
homes and voluntary-run homes, which have proven,
and it’s known, will cost at least two to three times as
much to operate. Now, so, what I believe is the correct
theme is to block up loopholes. There is no reason
for, you know, having people getting rich unnec-
essarily and unfairly and so on and so forth. How-
ever, what is very important to work hand in hand
at the same time is to make sure that the rcasonable
person who’s not trying to get enviched, who honestly
wants o enter the nuvsing-home field hecause he
thinks his personality is such that he could render a
service and vender good service, that he should be
able to operate in a way that he wouldn’t have to
come on to such type of arrangements. He should
be able to go to the bank and say, ‘‘Look, in the nurs-
ing-home field, if T operate correctly, I'm going to be
able to pay you back because the state will reimburse
me for whatever I put in, whatever you loan me.”’

“More Than They Deserve . . "

Mzr. Cohen said he and his wife were drawing more than $38,000
a year in salaries out of the Iast Orange nursing home husiness
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even while he was on the verge of bankruptey. As for the for-
eigners with whom new leasing arrangements were negotiated on
top of the original lease, Mr. Cohen admitted they got more than
they deserved but that they regarded it as essential for the gamble
they were taking rather than a gouging of taxpayers.

Q. What was the salary you drew out of the nurs-
g home for last year?
A, 27,500.

Q. dnd no dividend?
A. No.

Q. Iow many other members of your family do
draw any salary out?
A My wife.

Q. What did she draw?
A, Approximately, T think, 11,000,

Q. And yet based on this stalement that you have
Just made, because of your own personal circum-
stances at the time you enteved this venlure, you now
find, indeed, just stated very graphically, that two
other investors have been, in effect, if I may use the
word, gouging and have their hands deep into the tax-
payers’ pockets of Lhis state. 1s that atrue statement?

A. Well, as [ said before, they did—1 don’t know
what happened between Gertner and IKurnik, but M.
Gertner definitely took a visk and the proof of it was
a risk because I know I was on the verge of bank-
ruptey at the beginning. 1 knew 1 almost couldn’t
make it because with the feeling, I was running above
the ceiling, and [ kept losing money. 1 just didn't
kuow what to do and I couldn’t meet my payments to
him. And when Kwimik took over, he knew 1 wounldn 't
be able to pay him at first. We were counting on
as [ said beforve, the stroke of the pen that would
change some of these rules or give a higher ceiling,
so om, =0 forth.

So tliere was a definite risk. I mean even though
they arve getting tremendouns—and T feel, like yvon say,
that they’re getting morve than they deserve-—I have
to say that, in their defense, it isn’t—youn know, when
you say gouging, thev look upon it as business people
taking a gamble.
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Q. They have no interest in the service fo the
patients, do they?
A. No, not at all.
Commissroner Porrocxk: Thank you.

Mr. Cohen explained how he had long needed a storage room in
Bast Orange that would cost $30,000 but that he lacked the incen-
tive to undertake the project because, were he to borrow from a
bank, if he counld, he'd get state medicaid reimbursement for only
the interest and not the principal. He said he probably counld
make another ‘‘deal’’ such as the Gertuer-Kurnik scheme but
“T don’t want to go into another arrangement like this.”’

Questioned by Commission Chairman Rodriquez, Mr. Colien said
S.C.I. probers were the first to confront him with the multi-leasc
deal, since no one ever came around to clieck the books.

Q. All right. Let me ask you this, if I may.
A. Yeah.

Q. There 1 an cxcessive umount of money goes {o
the Gertners and Kurniks out of this country; is that
right?

A. That is right.

Q. If we drove them out, would that drive out the
Cohens? Yes or no.
A. Tf you dc not change vour laws, ves,

Q. All right. So we have to be paying out $79,000
a year and you can’t put up a thirty-thousand-dollar
facility and yet the State of New Jersey is putting out
3851,000 a year, someone’s getting 79,000 and you’ve
got to struggle to put wp a thirty-thousand-dollar
facility?

A, One second. 1 don’t think 1 was understood
correctly there. I could raisc the $30,000 to put it up.
T'm saying, T have no way of being reimbursed. T
have no incentive to do it, what I said.

Q. You don’t have the incentive because you have
entered nlo « deal that you're paying out $79,0002

A. No. That’s the part that apparently didn’t
come across. I agree that what that part should he
blocked. The people shouldn’t be able to make that
kind of money.
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Q. So far as that part’s concerncd, we are just
throwing money away
A. Right.

Q. ——as far as the nursing homes wre concerned?
A. T agree with that. T don’t think that will back-
fire in your face. That’s good.

Q. Did anybody come around lo check the home o
find this fact out, to confront you with this lease, to
say, ‘‘Listen, there’s a lot of this money leaving and
18 it a smart thing to do as far as you're concerned?’’

A, No.
Q. So we are lhe first ones who uncovered this
transaction?

A, Well, T don’t know if vou're the first ones to
uncover it.

Q. First ones lo confront you with it?
A. Tirst ones.

@. Even though leases have been filed in the past?
A. Right.

Exit Mr, Coben

In his concluding remarks, Mr. Colien recapitulated portions of
his previous testimony in response to final questions from the
(‘fommission.

Yes, he had negotiated a deal with Mr. Gertner, he said, on
Dee. 18, 1970, a year before he signed the lease with My, Kruvant
for the Bast Orange nursing home property. He was not aware,
Le continued to contend, that the arrangement with Gertner came
only 13 davs hefore a state regulation would expire that would
allow him a 125 per cent medicaid state reimbursement rather
than 100 per cent. He said Mr. ICruvant was not aware of his
deal with My, Gertner “‘till well afterwards.”” Thercfore, Mr,
Kruvant was never given an opportunity to mnegotiate a better
deal, such as the $351,000-a-year instead of the $272,000-a-year
lease that was negotiated by him with Cohen. Mr. Cohen said he
feared that any suggestion of that opportunity might have caused
Mr. Kruvant to fear Mr. Cohen lacked the wherewithal to carry
out the project and he might have ‘‘packed out altogether.””’
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That $75,000 arrangement under which Mr. Kruvant purchased
the furniture for Mr Cohen’s nursing home had bheen crucial but
the reassignment or leaseback-ahead-of-time arrangement with
Mr. Gertner that produced the $75, (OO xubioct to complete reim-
bursement by the state, was not known to Mr. Ilruvant,

Exammwarion py CHAmMAN RODRIGUEZ :

Q. All right. Now, is it possible to get the reim-
bursement before you actually had patients in the
nursing home?

A. No, T don’t believe so.

Q. All right. So let’s go back again to the other
question you answered aboul the furniture. Then
the furniture had to be purchased before you were
opened?

A. Oh, yes.

Q. And you had to have patients in the beds?

A. Yes.
Q. Al right. Then you start receiving reimburse-
ment?

A. Correct.

Q. All right. Here’s my last question. When was
the first time that you disclosed to Kruvant the iden-
tity of Gertner or Kurnik?

A. I can’t give you an exact time, but I can give
you an approximate time. One of the things that wor-
ried me was that, according to the terms of the lease,
he had a right to refuse, to turn me down becausc I
couldn’t assign without his permission for six months
after I entered into the deal with him, and so T wanted
to wait, you know, as long as I could. But more than
anything I wanted to make sure that he starts—see,
he wasn’t sure he wanted to go into this nursing-home
deal altogether. IHe had this huilding——

Q. Pardon me. Let’s see if I understand that. You
had an agreement with him not to divest yourself of
the lease for sixz months?

A. Thad agreement with him that I would, should,
needed his permission to, approval if [ demdc if I
wanted to divest myself,
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Q. And you committed yourself to him on that pro-
vision of the lease on December the 12th, 19712
A. Pardon?

Q. And you committed yourself to Kruvant when
you excculed the lease with him, that you would not
convey your interest?

A. I didn’t commit myself. It’s a statement in—I
mean that he doesn’t have to recognize an assign-
ment within six months without his permission.

Q. But that agreement was in the document
A. Right.

Q. —iwhich you signed in 19712
A. Right.

Q. But you, in fact, already—
A. Right.

Q. —had some many days before that- alman
done it?

A. Right.

Q. And you didn’t tell him at the time you entered
into the agreement with hum?
A, No, I did not.

Q. Plus you didn’t give him the opportunity to

merease the rent if he would put up more money“?
A. Right.

Examivation BY COMMISSIONER FARLEY:

@. Mr. Cohen, may I ask you just one question,
hypothetical. If you had §75,000 in cash extra on or
about January 1, 1971, you wouldn’t have needed
Gertner, would you?

A. No, I mean I would never get reimbursed the
475,000, but I wouldn’t have bothered with Gertner.

Q. If you had the additional $75,000, you wouldn’t
have the Gertner deal?
A. Correct.




Q. So, for the lack of Mr. Cohen having that
$75,000, New Jersey’s going to pay 1.5 million dollars
to Gertner and Kurwik, residents of Venezuela and
Belgium, correct?

A. Correct.

What Mr., Kruvant Didn’t Know . . .

Mr. Philip Kruvant, the owner of the properiy that Mr. Cohen,
et al., subjected to a swirl of contractual restructuring, didn’t know
until the S.C.1. inquiry that his $272,000 lease had been rearranged
into a $351,000 lease and that the State of New Jersey was paying
all the extra freight. Mr. Kruvant was the final witness on the
first day of the Commission’s hearing into the matter:

Exayivarion 8y THE CIZAIRMAN :

Q. Mr. Kruvant, I have just one. To clarify in my
mind, when you entered into your lease with Mr.
Cohen, which was back in January 12th, 1971,—1is that
correct?

A. That’s correet, sir.

Q. Were you aware in or about that time n 1971,
January, of the presence of Mr. Geriner?
A. No, I was not.

Q. Were you told or was it suggested to you that,
if you were to pay for the furniture yourself, that
perhaps the lease might be increased to $351,000 «a
year?

A. T did pay for the furniture.

Pardon me?
I did pay for the furniture.

You did pay for the furniture?

Yes. I made that statement. It was my money
that went for the furniture. If he lent me money, he
lent me $75,000. I took that money and I agmcd to
pay it back over a period of years, and that was for
advancing money, from my point of view, for the total
investment; to assist in the total investment I was
making.

»e.o S
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Q. Then were you aware then, Mr. Kruvani, that,
when you executed your lease with Mr. Cohen for a
two-hundred-seventy-two-thousand-dollar-a-year re-
turn, that he already had entered into another docu-
ment whereby he was going to pay $351,000 a year?

A. T knew nothing of that agreement.

Q). Based on his testimony to us, stmply because
that investor was buying the furniture, that would not
be a true statement?

A. No, I have no knowledge of that. I say, at the
time I knew nothing about the transactions hetween
Myr. Cohen and Mr. Gertner. All T knew, he was
assigning his lease, to which he had no objection,
and he was going to operate it and pay the rent, and
one day I met him, as I stated before, casually. M.
Gertner I mean. That’s as far as I knew of that whole
transaction.

Mg. Comammax: My, Farley.
Exanivatioy By COMMISSIONER ITARLEY :

Q. Mr. Kruvant, something comes to mind. I gra-
tuttously put this on the record: that I think yow are
a sophisticated investor and you negotiated for about
etght or nine months with Mr. Colien with respect to
determining a rental on this property. Is that correct?

A. No, not only rental. The rental was probably
agreed much sooner. This lease is a verv complex
lease and this lease tied in with F. I1. A. commit-
ments and approvals by T II. A. and final approvals
by the nursing authorities of the state, and producin ;
this, it was really quite complex. It’s—I don’t know
—mayhe fifty, sixty pages long.

Q. If I may distill it, though. After this long

negotiation
A. Yes.
Q. —wherein you gave him a completed unit, to

wit, real estate plus furniture and all the facilities,
correct?
A. Yes.

Q. You were going to get 272,000 a year?
A. Correct.
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Q. Andovi uf that 272,000 a year that you now get,
you admit this is about a 15 per cent return on your
money?

A. Yes.

* * * »*

Q. All right. So, as far as you were concerned,
the $272,000 was an adequate swm for you iv lease this
property for twenty years?

A. Yes, ves.

Q. And areyou aware that the State of New'Jersey
18 paying $351,70 a gear for the lruse of this prop-
erty?

A. I learned that very recently before this closed
meeting where I was called maybe a month ago. Ifirst
time I knew anything about that.

Tae CHamrMaN: You first heard it {from ux!
Tan Wnxess: Yes, from yvou.

Q. So, notwithstanding the fact thii you are doing
quite well, ] would think will the 272,000 « year that
you get, New Jersey s paying about $80.000 « year
more than thal,

A. I don’t follow. I don’t follow that.

Q. Well, I think you would have to concede (o me
that after this deal was finally put n a finalized form
and you began getting your 272,000 a year

A. Yes.

@. You have made a reasonably good investment.
A. Yes.

Q. Now, the only thing that bothers me is if the
272,000 a year seems to reflect a decent rental value,
why should the State of New Jersey be paying 351,000
toward subsidieing this rent? You don’t know?

A. T can’t auswer a question like that. If you ask
me sonlething about myself—I can’t answer a ques-
tion like that.

Q. I kenow you can’t. The point that I'm making,
sir, 18 that

A. Tunderstand your point, but I can’t answer that
kind of a question.
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Q. But you are getting a fair rate of return on the
272,0002

A. Yes. T have a Iegal agreement that T’m aceept-
ing that and I was satisficd to make that agreement
on that hasis and I did.

Lxit Mr, Kruvant

As he coneluded his testimony, Mr. IKruvant finally had to
concede that Mr. Cohen ot al. had gotten the better of the deal—
or redeal. Counsel Siavage rcopened this area of discussion:

Q. Did you feel, as « businessman, that you had
negoliated a beneficial {ransaction to yourself on the
272,0009

A, No,no. I felt that under the civeumstances, that
considering, considering the risk involved with this
properly, which, as T said, was a single-purpose prop-
erty, the success of which was not the building but
basically the success of the operator, that 15 per cent
return was on the low side for {hat kind of risk prop-
erty, actually.

Q. Did you feel—and this may be an unfair ques-
tion, you may not be able to answer it, but did jyou
feel, or did 3Mr. Cohen give you any indication that he
felt, the deal was a beneficial one to ham?

A, He entered into the negotiation and consum-
mated a deal. T assume he thought it was a good deal,
otherwise he wouldn’t have gone into il. T can’t
answer.

Q. ITe was poker-faced?
A, T can’t answer for him.

¥ ¥ x *
ExamiNarioNn BY COMMISSIONR [FARLEY :

Q. I would just like to ask another couple of
questions, Mr. Kruvant. You will have to take them
in a hypothetical form. Assuming you were getting
the rents that New Jerscy is paying, to wit $351,000,
will you accept my mathematics that this would
hypothetically increase your input by $17,0002

A. Yes.
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Q. And that would show about close to a 50 per
cent return on your investment?
A. T assume, if your calculations are right.

Q. And that’s a pretty good deal?
A. T wish I had it.

Examivarion 8Y Trae CHAIRMAN :

Q. Were you aware that it was capable of being
reached back w 19712

A. I can’t answer a question like that. I can only
tell you what I did. What somebody else did I have no
way of knowing.

Experts Confirm Gross Excess Payments

Two highly expert, professionally esteemed appraisal authori-
ties, Robert Aubrey Stewart Miller and James C. Kafes, were the
lead off witnesses at the second and final S.C.1. hearing day. They
are principals in a partnership specializing in real estate analysis
and evaluation in Fort Lee, N.J. They arve, naturally, aceredited
members of the American Institute of Real Iistate Appraisers and
of American Society of Real Tistate Counselors. They provided
expert—and illuminating—testimony on three nursing home cases
on which the S.C.1. subjected the spotlight of a public hearing, the
Edison Nursing IHome, the Lincoln Park Nursing Home and the
East Orange Nursing Home. S.C.I. Counsel Michael Siavage hegan
with Mr. Kafes:

Q. With respect tothe East Orange Nursing Home,
Mr. Kafes, yesterday the Commission took testimony
concerning that home and you have been apprised of
the essential facts surrounding those tramsactions,
have you not?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. Al right. I'irstly, are you aware of the con-
struction costs of that facility?

A. Well, according to the figures supplied to me, I
believe the total project costs were about $2.2 million.

Q. All right. Now, yesterday in Commission
testimony 1t was ilustrated that there was an in-
dwidual who was malking an exorbitant, I think by
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anyone’s characterization, rate of return involved in
a lease transaction, in an assignment and o leaseback.
A. I’'m aware of that.

Q. Okay. I want you to disregard for the moment
the fact that there are three individuals imvolved in
the lease on that home and assume only that the State
of New Jersey is paying $951,000 to that home in
rental, which is the correct figure, I belicve. Is that
correct?

A. Yes, it is.

Y * it %

Q. Okay. Suppose for a moment that I am one of
your clients and I seek your advice on real estate
consulting and I come in to you with a signed lease
for §351,000 per year for a term of twenty-two years.
Okay?

A, Yes.

Q. dnd further suppose that I plan to build that
nursing home for $2.1 million and finance it with a
1.9 million-dollar mortgage at 9 per cent for twenty-
tiwo years, mterest only in the first two years, and I
would ask you what your advice would be to me with
respect to that deal on the basis of the fact that my
mcome 18 $351,000 a year as opposed to the expenses
on that mortgage.

A. And the only expense is the mortgage expense!?

Q. That’s right.

A. Well, T would say that the deal looks like a real
winner. If you can get a net rental from a fairly
eunaranteed source for 351,000 per annum and vou
could crcet a property for 2.2 million, T would say
in using traditional methods of capitalizing that
income into an expression of value, you could create
a value here of around 3.4 million.

The fact that you have constructed for 2.2 million
means that immediately you have created an unreal-
ized gain of 1.2 million. So I would say it’s a very
attractive investment.

Q. Al right. Let’s suppose that yow were a New
Jersey resident and a New Jersey taxzpayer.
A. Certainly.
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Q. Okay. Suppose it was your tax dollars that were
supporting the $351,000 a year on a value of 2.2
million. Would you want that to continue?

A. No, I don’t think I would. If the system pur-
portedly is designed to reimburse reasonable costs,
I certainly wouldn’t want to pay this figure.

Exanvrvarion or Mr. Kares By CoMMISsIONER POLLOOK :

Q. Assuming, as the facts seem to be, that the cost
here is 2.2 and the income s 851,000, this is a lot
more than a real winner or an attractive investment,
which is the term that you used, recognizing that the
mcome 18 being generated by public funds. I don’t
want to put words in your mouth. I can put some
words in my mouth. But does this not sound to you
like a grossly excessiwe return?

A. Well, sir, that’s a moral question.

Q. No,there’s a matter of economics. Recognizing
your expertise in appraising property, your famil-
tarity with nursing homes, does it net sound to you,
as an expert in this area, that a return of $351,000
a year, giwen the conditions that exist in New Jersey,
on ¢ 2.2 million-dollar investment 18 excessive, just as
a matter of economics?

A. Well, this is true, yes. You know, 2.2 million,
given the fact that the source of this 351,000 is a
secure one and it goes oun . v a long time, I would
have to agree with you.

Because there 1s a shortage on beds, right?
Surely, surely.

So the risk here is low?
Very low.

pO PO

And the rate of return—and I want to use words
wzlh which you agree and I want to——

A. Sure.

Q. —use words which are fair and accurate. Is not
the return grossly ewcesswe, given the market?
A. Yes, it is; yes, it is.
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Examination or Mg, Kares 5y CoMMISSIONER [PARLEY :

Q. Mr. Kafes, I would like to look at that same
problem in another way.

You are a purported expert in the field. Now,
taking that figure of 2.2 million, what would you
think vis-a-vis the taxpayers would be a fair rental
value?

A. Well, if we take into account the mortgage
portion of the figure, now that first mortgage is
$1,914,000.

. Correct.

A. We understand the debt service is 185,000, so
there is a remaining imputed equity investment here
of $300,000.

Q. 293,0002
A. Rig‘ht.

@. Olkay.

A. We would apply a reasonable capitalization
rate to that investment of approximately 11 per cent.
That would give us an income there of $33,000,
which, added to the 185,000 for debt service, should
provide a reasonable rate of return.

Q. Al right. So that would come out to 208,000.
Now, sir, let me just follow that through. The ecx-
cessive rent being paid, in my judgment, then, is the
difference between 351,000 and 208,000. Would you
agree?

A. That would be a fair statement.

Q. Just so that the report would be complete, that
would be $1438,000 excess rent?
A, Correct.

CommisstoNER FARLEY : Which would certainly
comport with Commissioner Pollock’s comment
that it was excessive. Thank you.

Commssioner Porrock: By over 50 per cent.
Fxcuse me.
Ixamivation or Mr, Karss sy CommissroNer PoLLock :

Q. By over 50 per cent it’s excessive, right?
A. Yes, it is.
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ExanmivatioNy or Mg, Kares 5y THE CIIAIRMAN :

Q. So, then, basically, Mr. Kafes, if I understand
your testimony, accepting their figures or the pro-
ject cost figures and breaking it down this way,
143,000 is what is jumping out quite obviously as the
excessive rent?

A. Correct.

Edison Nursing Home

The Commission at its public hearing questioned expert
witnesses on ‘‘pyramiding’’ financial transactions counnected with
two other facilities, the Bdison Nursing Home in Middlesex County
and the Lincoln Park Intermediate Care Center in Morris (lounty.

Sc far as the Kdison Nursing Home was concerned, the testi-
mony underscored the complaint emphasized in the (fommission’s
written report issued in conjunction with the public hearings that:

Since there is no limitation upon the amount of debt
financing which the Medicaid program will allow, in-
formed entreprencurs will sell nursing homes at
highly inflated values as long as the state continues
to underwrite unlimited debt.

As an explanatory preface to the public hearing action on the
Edison facility, here is what the Commission said in part under
“‘comments and observations’’ in its written report on the situna-
tion:

On October 13, 1970, the amount of financing on the
nursing home was the amount of the outstanding
mortgage ($1,943,665) plus the amount of the afore-
mentioned note from 465 Plainfield Corp. of W.B.W.
Assoclates ($916,720) for a total of $2,860,385. After
the first vear, the nursing home hecamme a more than
909 AMedicaid facility and remains so to this date.

The result, of course, is that the State of New Jersey
has paid the overwhelming majovity of the intevest
on this indebtedness since it was incurred.

The aforementioned figure, $2,860,385 is more than

$360,000 in excess of any appraisal that has ever been
10110 on the nursing home, including appraisals that
were done some two years hefore this transaction.
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The figure is also over $1,000,000 in excess of the total
construction cost listed on the initial F.H.A. applica-
tion when the home was being built. Finally, the figure
is also more than $360,000 in excess of the value
placed on the home by the owners themselves in their
‘arious tax appeals. It is true that the sale included
an amount of $300,000 for good will, but the cost re-
ports filed by the institution indicate nowhere that the
financing on the institution pertains to anything but
the building.

James C. Kafes, the appraisal authority who had previously
dissected the Hast Orange Nursing ITome transaction was ques-
tioned L S.C.T. Counsel Siavage on the financing of the Tdison
Nursing Home:

Q. Now, Ur. Kafes, have you also been provided
wilth materials on another nursing home, known as
Edison?

A, Yes, T have.

Q. I would like to refer you for a moment to Ex-
hibit C-17, which purports to be a chart illustrating
certain construction prices in an eventual {ransaction
with regard to that home. The approximate constric-
tion price of Edison Nursing Home was how much?

A. One million point nine.

Q. All right. And this is according to the F.H. 4.
application for this particular project; is that correct?
Ao Yes, it is.

Q. nd includes not only construction costs, but
also
A, Indiveet charges.

Q. Indircet charges. All right. And when was
Edison Nursing IHome built?

A, In 1965.

Q. Now, subsequently to the home being built, was

permanent finanecing obtained upon it?
A. Yes, it was.
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Q. What was the amount of the mortgage on that
home?

A. The amount of the mortgage was for $2,225,300,
and it was granted by the Garden Staie National Bank
July 1st, 1965.

Q. Al righl. Now, is that approximately $230,000
m excess of what the project costs were, or about
$5800,000, I would say, i cxcess?

A. Well, according to the figures supplied, it ap-
pears that he obtained the procecds of a morigage
$300,000 in excess of his actunal cost.

Q. Al right. So that he was more than 100 per
cent financed in 19657
A. That’s true.

Q. Now, between 1965 and Qctober of 1970 did any-
thing happen?

A, Well, nothing affecting the ownership interest
until Qetober 13th, 1970, when the nursing home was
sold.

Q. Al right. Now, on (hat date—have you been
supplied with the terms of that sale?

A. Yes, we have. The overall price was approxi-
mately $3 million comprised of the following: The
buyer received $150,000 in cash. lle assumed the out-
standing mortgage of about a million-nine, and he
took back a note for 916,000.

Q. So at this point on that sale in October of 1970
what was the total financing on the home?
A. 2.86 million.

Q. And that is « combination of the assumption of
the 1.9 mortgage plus the note for 916,000, s that cor-
rect? \

A. True. Yes, it is.

Q. Now, referring you again to Lahibit C-17, what
18 the apparent vehicle to raise the financing from 1.9
million to 2.8 million tn 19702

A, Well, it wonrld have to be that second mortgage
note for 916,000.
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Q. Al right. Now, I show you, Mr. Kafes, what
has been marked Kahibit C-25 for the purposcs of
identificalion, which purports to be a note in the
amount of $916,726 between 165 Plainfield Avenue
C'orporation and W. B. TP. Associates as a co-part-
nership of men tnvolved in owning the nursing home
stnee 1965. 1 ask you to cxamine that note for a
second.

A. Yeos, sir.

Q. Doces it appear to be a secured instrument?
A. No, it doesn’t. It just appears to be a note pay-
able.

Q. All right. So might we say, then, that that note
18 basically an unsecured cbligation?
A. T think we could.

Q. In the amount of 916,000 at an inlerest rate
of 7-1/2 per cent for a term of ten years?
A. Correct,

Q. And as we said before, that’s the vehiele that
gets this value up to 2.8 million; is that correct?
A. Yes, it is.

Q. Now, Mr. Kafes, I’m showing you what pur-
ports 1o be a copy of the 1972 cost report for this fa-
cility, that is Edison Nursing Home, which has been
cxtracted from Exhibit C-16, wlhich is the cost report
filed from the Division of Medical dssistance and
Health Services, and I’'m referring you lo Eahibit 5
of that particular cost report to a particular line, that
is, the mortgage payable line, and I ask you what that
figure is?

A, $2,867,7009.

Q. Can you draw the conclusion from that par-
ticular line that it appears that the nine-hundred-
sizteen-thousand-dollar wnote s included in the
financing?

A. Yes, the numbers seem to add up to that.

Q. Al right. What is the interest rate that that
home is claiming on that mortgage expense?
A, 5.25 per cent.
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Q. dnd it’s not the same as the 7V, is it?

A. No, i1t 1sn’t.

Q. It’s the mortgage interest on the initial mort-
gage of 1.9; 1s that correct?

A. Tt would apyp:ar to be.

Q. Could you tell by looking al that cost report
that $900,000 worth of financing is an unsecured
obligation?

A. No, you couldn’t.

Q. All right. Now, based on your understanding
of New Jersey’s system of Medicaid reimbursement,
will the state pay the debt service on this obligation?

A. They’ll pay the intervest portion of the deht
service, ves.

. Al right. That’s a cost reimbursable item; is
that correct?
A. Yes, it is.

Q. dAnd the problem, is it not-——strike that. Based
on your understanding of the system, could this note
be n the amount of $1,000,000?

A. T don’t see why not.

Q. And it would have been reimbursable; is that
correct?

A. That’s true.

@. Could it have been wn the amount of $2,000,000?

A. T believe it could have.

Q. Or $5,000,000?
A. 1 would say, ves, according to your rules.

Q. Now,the beneficiary on that note is a co-partner-
ship by the name of W. B, W. dssociates, who are the
same ndwiduals who built that nursing home; is that
correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. I show you what’s been marked Exhibit C-26
for the purposes of identification, which appears to be
the I'ederal Iousing Administration building loan
agreement, or a copy thereof, and ask you if you
recognize that,

A. Yes, I do.
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Q. Al right. Now, from that document and from
the financing that we have already reviewed, are we
able to compute what the initial invesiment of W. B.
7. Associates, under the name of another entity, was
in this nursing home?

A. The original investment. Well, they have a
total here of a million point seven forty-four, but I
think we concluded a million-nine if we count the in-
direct charges in. T don’t know where they’re listed
on this form.

Q. All right. But, as we said before, they got
fimancing in the amount of 2.2, so that already they
had made essentially $300,000?

A. That’s true.

@. So from those documents, it appears that not
only didn't they invest anything in the construction,
but they made approxrimately $500,000 as the proceeds
of the financing?

A. Correet.

Q. All right. Now, between 1965 and 1970 were
you able to compute what their investment in thal
nursing home was?

A. Well, disregarding the negative three-husdred
thousand-dollar investment, it appears the only
charge he may have had is the breakdown, is his debt
service payments over the period.

Q. Okay. Do you have a figure for that debt
service?
A. Yes. That came out to about $280,000.

Q. Al right. So his investment over fire years,
their wnvestment, excuse me, over five years is ap-
proxumately $250,0007

A. Correct.

Q. In 1970 what did they receive in return for that
imvestment of $280,000¢
A. They received a cash down payment of $150,000

and a note for $916,000, which totals about a million-

o-sixty-six.
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Q. All rght.

A. Now, if we igrore for the moment the time value
of money, that is to say, :f we don’t discount the note,
that indicates a differential between what he’s re-
ceiving and what Le's paid out of approximately
$746,000.

Q. Seven-hundred-forty-six-thousand-dollar profit.
Now, let’s stay with that for a minute. The casi
of $150,000, which is in that seven-hundred-forty-six-
thousand-dollar figure,

A. Correct.

Q. —was supplied at the time oy the sale, correct?
A. Yes, it was.

Q. All right. WWhat’s the rest of his income that
makes up the 746?
A. Well, that comes from the mortgage note.

Q. Al right. It comes from the mortgage noie
of 916,0002
A. Correct.

Q. Which 1is a reimbursable cxpense through
Medicaid?
A. Yos, it is.

Q. And which then 1s therefore being paid by the
State of New Jersey?
A. Correct.

Lincoln Park Care Center

The Lincoln Park Intermediate Clare Center contained 526 beds,
of which 294 were certified for Medicaid purposes at the time of
the Clommission’s October, 1976 hearing. The facility is a joint
venture of two corporations. The operating corporation is Lincoln
Park Nursing and Convalescent Iome, Tne., owned by Jerry Turco,
and the land on which the nursing home is sitnated is owned by
Mimi Holding Co., Ine.,, which in twrn is owned 60 per cent hy
Mr. Tureo and 40 per cent by his wife, Delores. A proposed sale
and lease of the facility by the Turco holding corporation to David
Schwartz of Brooklyn, following applications for a ceitificate of
need for a change of operator from the State Health Department
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and certification of an additional 226 beds for Medicaid, came
under particularly close serutiny by the Commission, which said it
was “‘illustrative of the many and varied problems of the present
system of property cost reimbursement as it exists in the Medicaid
svstem in New Jersey today.”’

Under ““‘Comments and Observations’’ in its written report on
this phase of its investigation—reprinted here as an explanatory
prelude to public hearing testimony on this nursing home’s trans-
action—the Commisison stated:

The schedule of maximum rental allowable is alleg-
edly reflective of construction costs. The Lincoln Park
facility was constructed for approximately $3.75 mil-
lion and the ‘“imputed rent’’ figure which would be
employed on Lincoln Park’s cost report, assuming
1009 Medicaid certification, is $311,618, vet the actual
carryving charges for the faeility (mortgage interest,
insurance, depreciation and a return on equity)
amount to only $504,637. This is true, even though
there is no equity on the part of the owner in the
present facilitv as listed on the cost report. According
to Mr. Schwartz’s testimony, the beds which are not
presently certified for Medicaid purposes are lying
vacant, TIf the certification is approved, however, the
owner, due to the deficiency of the present system,
will be allowed to report a figure over $300,000 higher
than his actual earrving charges. Moreover, the possi-
bility of certifving the additional beds has surfaced an
opportunity which is presently being taken advantage
of by the proposed purchasers and lessec.

The final result is that a home that was built and
finished in Noven ber of 1974 for $4 million, is sold
onc yvear later for $8 milliow. It is the belief of the
(Clommission, as supported by the conditional nature
of the documents involved, that sunch a transaction
could not and would not take place if it were not for
the existence of the property cost reimbursement
system of Medicaid.

The most disconcerting factor, however, is that no
portion of this increased cost is being applied to
patient care. Mimi Holding Co., Inc., in the person of
Mr. Turco and his wife, will have nothing to do with
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the operation of the nursing home, but will be collect-
ing $250,000 per vear after having received $1.2 mil-
lion in cash on an initial investment which was 100%
financed. Mr. Schwartz, likewise, will also have
nothing to do with the operation of the nursing home
and will be collecting a net retnrn of $210,261 per
vear for three vears and $385,056 per vear for 18
additional vears. JMorcover, there is no present
administrative regulations or statute existing either
in the laws of New Jersev or the regulations of
DMAHS or the Department of Health which would
prevent this situation from occurring. The Depart-
ment of Health, as has been stated, has already
granted one of the certificates of need necessary to
consummate the transaction. Tt is because of this
fact that the Commission decided to examine in
detail the present procedures existing in hoth of the
aforementioned administrative agencies for dealing
with sueh transactions.

Mr, Kafes’ equaliy respeeted parviner in real estate appraisals
and counseling, Robert Aubrey Stewart Miller, gave expert testi-
mony on the Lincoln Park deals, as introduced hy Counsel Siavage:

Q. Now, for the next few moments I’m going to
refer you, Mr. Miller, to Exhibit C-18, which purporis
to be a chart concerning some of the transactions with
respect to Lincoln Park Intermediate Care Center.

Hawve you been supplied with information that tells
you when construction was completed on 1hat home?

A. Yes, we have.

Q. And when was it completed?
A. In 1974

Q. All right. What was the project cost for the
mstitution?
A. Approximately $4 million.

. Now, I'm showwmg youw what’s been marked
Fahibit C-28 for the purposes of identification, which
purports to be a copy of an agreement, dated 21
November, 1974, between Mimi Holding Company, the
owner of Lincoln Park, and David Schwartz, indi-
vidually, of 1262 45th Street, Brooklyn, New York,
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and I refer you specifically to Page 2 of that exhibit

and to the chart which has been marked Exhibit

('-18, and ask you to review for me the terms of a

particular sale for $§8 million on November of 1974.

Particularly, is the first provision of thut agreement

that the buyer will assume a mortgage of $4 million?
A. Yes,

Q. Is another provision that he will provide $1.2
million in cash?
A. Yes.

Q. dAnd will he also assume «a three-hundred-
thousand-dollar mortgage?
A. Yes.

Q. Finally, will he supply to make up the total 3&
million a purchase money mortgage in the amount of
2.5 million?

A. That is correct.

Q. Now, perhaps you should erplain what a pur-
chase money mortgage is, Mr. Miller, at this point.

A. Tt’s simply the form the mortgage takes when
the seller agrees with the buver that he will provide
some financing. Normally, if’s normally subordinated
to the first or any prior mortgage that’s already exist-
ing on the property.

Q. Al right. Is there any institutional financing
wm that 2.5 million-dollar mortgage?
A. Not in this case.

Q. It's the buyer to the seller. correct?
A, Yes.

Q. dnd the total, therefore, is 88 million. agree-
ment of sale dated approximately nine months after
the completion, correct?

A. That’s correet.

Q. Now let’s take it one step further and I will
show you what’s been marked for the purposes of
identification C-27, which purports to be a copy of «
lease, dated May of 1975, between Lincoln Park csso-
ciates and Lincoln Park Intermediate Care Center,
and I ask you again to refer to the ¢ wri. At this point
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Lincoln Park Associates on this additional deal which
has not yet come to fruition will buy for §8 million,
and what you have w front of you is a lease between
that entity, Lincoln Park Associates, and Inncoln
Park Intermediate Care Center?

A. That is correct.

Q. What is the total amount on the lease?

A. The lease calls for annual payments of a
million dollars and, as the term is for twenty-one
vears, the total lease payments would amount to $21
during the life of the lease.

Q. $21 million?
A, $21 million, correct.

Q. Now,let’s stay with that for a minute and again
ask you another hypothetical with respect to advising
a client, and I would just like you to compare the
mallion-dollar per-year rental with the four-million-
dollar construction costs and ask you if recouping 25
per cent of construction costs i the first year of a
lease 18 a mice investment.

A. TIbelieve so.

Conrssroner Porrock: Well, again, I don’t
want to intrude, but it’s a lot more than a nice
investment, isn’t it?

Mz, Mmier: I would state it plainly and say
it’s an excessive return.

Q. Now,with respect to the mortgages on the home,
would it be usual or wnusual for an institutional
financer to place himself in the third position on o
2.5 million-dollar mortgage on a building that was
built for 4 million, which had a mortgage of 4 million
on 1t already?

A. Aninstitutional purchaser I don’ believe would
make such a loan. It would be highly improbable.

Q. Yet in this particular situation the seller of this
home is reasonably assured of his mortguge pay-
ments, isn’t he?

A. Ob, he is, I would say, absolutely assured.
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Q. Why s that?
A. Because of the reimbursement schedule, which
provides for him to be paid from the state.

Q. And that would be through this lease of «a
million dollars; is that correct?
A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar, essentially, with what the
annual payouts on these three instruments here are?
A. Yes, T believe so.

Q. Would the total be approximately $794,000 «
yeor?
A. Yes.

Q. All right. So that the individual who buys for
8 million in this net-net lease has exrpenses of about
794,000 a year; is that correct?

A. Those are his debt obhligations.

Q. Right. If it’s a net-net lease, he has no other
obligations, correct?
A. None.

Q. And he’s receiving §1 million « year; 18 that
correct?
A. Yes.

Q. So that even with the obligation on the 2.5
purchase money mortgage, he still has an excess
mecome over expenses of over $200,000 a year; is that
correct?

A, Yes.

Q. Now, I show you again what’s been marked for
the purposes of identification C-27, which purports
to be the lease upon this facility, and I’m referring
you to the first page of a rider annexed to that lease,
and I would like you to read to the Comunissioners
a paragraph entitled *‘ Rent Querage.’’

* % ¥ %

Q. Does that paragraph mean to you that. at least
with respect to the rent overage, that the lessor and
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lessee are keying themselves into the amount that
will be reimbursed by Medicaid?
A. Undoubtedly.

Q. Now, with respect to Exhibit C-28, which 1
agawn show you, which purports to be the agreement
of sale for Lincoln Park Nursing I ome, I'm referring
you to Page 21 and I would ask you again to do some
reading for us of Paragraph 23 of that agreement.

# #* * *

Q. All right. Now, does that paragraph mean to
you that there is going to be an application for a cer-
tificate of meed to certify an additional wumber of
beds in excess of 294 which are already certified?

A. Yes.

©. Does it also mean to you that this transaction
is apparently dependent upon an application for that
certificate of need?

A. Yes.

Q. Al right. In summing up, them, between the
agreement of sale and the lease it appears that the
lease will not take place unless the certificate of need
is gramted for the additional certification and that,
if the lease does go into eff :ct, there will be a depen-
dent clause on exactly the amount of rent that will be
reimbursed by Medicai, .

A. Yes.

ExayxaTion or M. MinLer By ConryIssIoNen Faruey:

Q. Mr. Miller, with respect to this property, it
was completed in 1974 and it had o four-mallion-
dollar mortgage on it, so I assume the state would
have been paying maybe « 9 to 10 per cent mortgage
carrying fee, which would be 860,000 or 400,000,
correct?

A. Thelieve so, possibly a little more than $400,000.

Q. Yet in the event they’re successful in having
these additional beds put into the Medicaid system,
that fouwr-hundred-thousand-dollar carrymg charge
naid by the state would escalate to $1 million q
year?

A. Ixactly, yes.
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Q. Adnd that’s in a period of one year?
A. Yes.

Q. So that the state’s carrying cost, if they’re
successful in this project, from 1974 to mow would
jump up from approximately 400,000 to a million, or a
difference of 600,000?

A. Yes.
Q. Taxpayer dollars?
A. Yes.

Exasrzaron or Mr. Mmnrer By ComaissioNer KADEN

Q. I make the same point with respect to the
Luncoln Park Howme. This pyramid which produces
what is clearly an excessive and exorbitant return to
these entreprencurs begins wilh the construction of a
nursing home for 34 million. The construction con-
tract in this particular case, is it not, is between
related parties? Qwners of the land contract, essen-
tially, with themselves for construction of a home
for 8.75 million; is that right?

A. We always have—yes, that is right.

Q. Okay. Fromchat we know, ts there any way of
testing at this moment the reasonableness of that
construction figure, in other words, the first figure in
this pyramid rather than the last?

A. Only by physical inspection and some inde-
pendent survey that might disclose, of course, that it
didw’t cost that at all; that it might have only cost
three and a half million dollars. On the other hand,
subsequent additions, which have not been charted,
may show that it cost higher. The only background
we have for the figure adopted in here is supplied
from the contractors.

Q. From the contractors themselves, who, in turn,

were the saume parties that own the land?
A. Related parties, yves.
Exanmizarion or Mr. Mitner 8y CoMMISSIONER FARLEY ;
Q. With respect to the point that Commissioner
Kaden brings up, which is certainly valid, however,
the fact that an instilutional bank, the Rochester
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Savings Bank, came in and put in a 4-million-dollar
mortgage on there would seem {o give some credence
to the value of the property, would you not agree?

A, Well, if you don’t mind me entering into some-
thing else that probably hasn’t been mentioned, the
placement of a mortgage in that amount depends to a
large extent on the income that the facility can
generate.

Q. So if you can generate an excess rent, them
you can get a greater mortgage?

A. And any lender will place more eredence on the
income obtainable than he will on the construction
costs. If he can satisfy himself there is a suitable
margin over the construction costs, he feels that
everything is fairly secure. The only reason he’s
going to aceept this income is that he can himsel{ lonk
at a reimbursement schedule supplied by the state
and find that there is a maximum amount shown, a
maximum level shown on that reimbursement
schedule, and it’s not difficult for him to do the mathe-
matical caleulations.

It was shown as a maximum and, theoretically, of
course, you can he granted rates or allowed rates
below that level.

Q. I would like to nail that pownt down, and I
absolutely agree with you. So, what in effect you are
saying, it 1sn’t the value of the property as much as
the potential rental from a guaranteed source, to wit,
the State of New Jersey, which is the inducement for
mortgaging?

A. That’s all that creates the value, and the more
secure that income source is, the better the value that
yvou can create from it.

Kach time you can reduce your risk, you can add a
Tittle more to the value.

Examinarion or Mr. Mimnner 3y CoMMISSIONER POLLOCK :

Q. Mr. Miller, since Mr. Siavage completed his
questions of yow he’s brought to my attenlion another
document, which s cuaptioned ‘‘Memorandum of
Understanding entered into this 29th day of January,
1975, between Lincoln Park Adssociates as landlord
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and Lancoln Park Inlermediate Care Center, Inc., as
tenant,”’ the same parties as are identified in the
lease, wlich has been marked C-27 and to which your
attention was previously drawn. I would ask you, if
you would, to read Paragraphs 8 and 9 from this
memorandum of understanding. Read it out loud, if
you will,

A, ““In the event that during the term hercof the
amount of rent reimbursable to tenant under Medicaid
regulations which may he applicable from time to
time is less than the net annual rent payable here-
under, then for any period of partial disallowance of
rent reimbursement, =ueh net annnal rent shall be re-
duced to the amount for which tenant shall be entitled
to full reimbursement. But in no event shall the re-
duction be such that the net rental is reduced below
$860,000.””

Q. If you be so kind as to read the next paragraph.

A. “Notwithstanding that the parties shall here-
after initial a copy of the lease for the demised
premises in the event any conflict or inconsistency
between the provisions contained herein and those
contained in the lease, the provisions hereof shall be
confrolling.”

. So the way we bottom out with this s, here are
Lwo parlies, the lessor Lincoln Park dssociates and
the lessee Lincoln Park Intermediate Care Center,
entering inlo an agreement, the rental for which is
keyed to the reimbursement provided by the slate,
right?

A, Yes,

Q. dnd yel the state was not represented in this
leasing process, was it?
A. Not as far as T know.

Q. And presumably the interests of the public,
the state, the taxpayer, was dependent, therefore,
wpon some other process, presumably, to protect the
interest of the laxpayers?

A. Yes.




Exarivartoxr or Mr, MinLer sy ConmissioNir KADEN :
Q. I don’t want to lose sight of the first step in
this transaction because 1 think it’s cxtremely im-
portant to understand. 1s it not accurate to say that,
as @ result of the Medicaid system and the guaranteed
reimbursement that is part of that system, the Twreos,
the initial owners and builders of this property, were
able, at the end of the year when they had sold the
property to Mr. Sclucartz, they were left in a position
of zero investment, land thal they had paid some
826,000 for and a purchase money mortgane that gare
them $250,000 a year? Is that an accurate sum-
mary.
A, And more.

Q. —of those positions?
A. And more.

CounisstoNer Kapex: Plus, if T might add-——

Q. Plus §1.2 million in cash. So. to summarize the
position of the Turcos as a result of this system, they
bought a piece of property in 1966 for $26,000; they
wound up i 1974 gelting 100 per cent financing or
more to construct a nursing home; selling it to Mr.
Schwartz a year later and winding up with $1.2 million
wn their pocket, $250,000 coming in crery year, all of
which was paid by the tazpayers of the state of New
Jersey?

A Exactly. If T might just earvy that a little
further, the three-~there ave three elements, really, in
the proceeds from this transaction: that first one
being a million-two; the second one heing $250,000 a
year for the fifteen years, at the end of which is one
single payment, also, of $350,000 which they receive.
If one was to consider at this moment buying those
rights, in other words, if somehody olfered those to
me at this moment, the right for that mouey now and
some money a little later and eventually $550,000, and
I was to conclude that a 10 per cent retwrn on nmy in-
vestment was adequate because I’'m fairly secure in
all of these amounts, I would be willing to pay on a
ten per cent rate about $3,200,000 right at this moment,
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. Okay. Sothat for a zero mvestinent, essentially,
the Twrcos have received a net value of $3.2 million,
and they have done that—let me complete this circle—
as far as we know on the facts before us, entirely
within the law and the regulations established by the
state?

A, Certainly as far as 1 can tell.

Foxazuaxarion oF Mg, Minier By Tne CuARMAN

Q. dMr. Miller, when we are {alking aboul these
amounts and the reimburseement schedule and an in-
crease or acceleration of money from zero threstment
to 8.2 million, one thing I want to make clear is that
the intention of this money that we arve lalking about
and the mortgage money aud the cost of construction,
project cost, are dollars that the slale is paying cut
without any purpose of it reaching the better quality
care service; is that right? 1¢'re simply lalking
aboul the land cost?

A. Exactly. Tt reaches as far as the entity that
owns it, but then it’s diverted out to other participants
in this whole thing. It never reaches the people for
whom I think it should be intended, the people for
whom {he services are heing provided.

Q. Then there is also another ingredient they’re
receiring that goes info the operational costs of the
home?

Ao Oh, guite a different area altogether,

Q. Sowe are not talking about the dollars reaching
the beds, we are stmply talking about the dollars going
wito construction of the building and debt service?

A. That’s true.

The Audit Function

Until recently, the audit scetion of the Division of Medical
Assistance and Health Serviees had the responsibility of setting
the individual rates for eaech nursing home and validating {hat
the payments to cach specifiec nursing home were correet (hrough
its auditing procedures. The audit seetion employed 25 people,
ineluding its chief, of which 20 are classified as field auditors.
The bulk of the work of this section is processed by these 20 field
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auditors. In order {o better understand the funectioning of the
andit sceetion, the Commission, on two occasions, took the testimony
of Mr. Nicholas J. Perroni, Chief Auditor and Administrative
Head of the Audit Section. An auditor has three basic functions.
During the course of a particular year, the nursing home files a
““cost report’’ for its last year of operation. In that cost report
is inetuded all of the operating cxpenses of the facility for the
past vear. A cheek of that cost report is made by an auditor at
a ‘‘desk review?” for the accuracy of the mathematical computa-
tions and the proper reporting of the amounts involved. Subse-
quent to the computing of the total overall operating expenses of
the homie, that amount is divided by the total number of patient
days (number of beds occupied in the facility for the past year)
and the rate for the coming year is computed. It is important to
note that other than the checks for proper reporting and proper
mathematical compulations, the desk review is in no way a fune-
tional audit.

The remaining {wo funections ave, in fact, actual audit proce-
dures. One is a per diem field audit. This validation is a complete
check of the Looks and records of a nursing home and results in
the verification of the figures supplied to the Division via the
cost rpeort. Where deficiencies are established by the per diem
audit, resulfing in an overpayuwent to the facility for a particular
vear involved, a monetary recovery is recommmended as a result
of the per diem aundit.

Another funetion of the auditer is called an income aundit, As
opposed to the per diem auditf, the income aundit validates only
other sources of income which the nursineg home receives from
patients housed in the faeility. Example of such other income
would inelude 8.8.1. benefits and the like. These amounts, of
course, should be deducted from the overall operating expenses
so that there is a direct effect upon the Medicaid reimbursement
received by the home for the year involved. Again, where defi-
ciencies are evidenced, a monetary recovery is recommended by
the auditor for the particular vear involved.

Beeause of the importance of the S.C.I.—recommended reforms
in the anditing procedures, Counsel Saviage nxplored the process in
detail with Chief Auditor Perroni:

Q. Al right. Now, a desk review, you would nol
characterize it as an audit, would you?
A. No, not necessarily, no.
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Q. In other words, if somebody spent $100 on lamb
chops
A. We wouldn't know that on desk review.

Q. By the same token, if someone told _ou they
spent $351,000 on rent, you wouldn’l know on desk
revicw how much they spent?

A. That’s corrcet. We’re taking their word what
they write on the report.

Q. Now, the first type of audit is something called
a per-diem audit., Would I be wrong wn saying that
that’s the only true full-blown audit out of the three
that we have mentioned?

A. That’s correet. This ix done at the facility.

Q. Okay. You audit all the transactions concerned
with the facility for the year with which you are con-
cerned; 18 that correct?

A. That’s correct, their operating expenses.

Q. And this is the one where you would look be-
hind the 8100 for lambchops; is that corect?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And you would look behind leases, ¢t cetera?
A. We would. Whatever is available to us.
% % % ¥

Q. Al right. Let’s stick with the end of 1975, then.
dpprozimately 110 audits were completed out of the
221 nursing homes that exist, which means, does it not.
that almost half of the homes had not been audited by
12/31/75 om a per-diem basis?

A. Half the homes had not had approved audits,
ves.

* e * *

Q. Okay. Now, I would like to turn to this par-
ticular column concerning suggested recovery on both
audits. What does the word ‘‘suggested’ mean?

A. This is what the auditor has recommended to be
recovered.

Q. What’s the longest term that you have seen on
recovery?

A. We have not gone beyoud six months.
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Q. All right. Do you charge them interest for
that period?
A. No, we did not.

Q. Okay. Is any penalty charged to the homes that
are overpaid?
A. There was not.

There 1sn’t one now?
I believe there is one now, sir.

Is that a recent enactment?
Yes.

Have you ever computed what the ratio is for
the dolla;s spent upon your section versus the dollars
recovered by your section on any informal basis?

A. Yes. It was $7 recovered for fiscal year 75, and
it’s been, it’s been dropping a little bit because of the
mere activity and the nursing homes know we’ce out
there.

Q. What is it down to now, do yon know?

A. It may be down to about four ard a half dollars
for each dollar spent.

PO po

Q. So for every dollar the State of New Jersey
mwvests i your section, they get approxzimately $4.50
back right now?

A. Currently.

O Some Homes, No Audits

The (‘hief Auditor said no audits were made on some of the
facilities cited by the S.C.I. as prime examples of Medicaid payout
excessex to nursing homes. And, Mr. Perroni noted in response
to a h\'pothctical question, because of certain regulatory loop-
holes, excessive payments would have been made anyway :

Q. Let’s assume for a moment that, with regard
to Iast Orange Nursing Home, that Mr. Gertner was
not involved in that transaction at all and that he had
not assigned or leased back and Mr. Kurnik was not
wm the tramsaclion. Let’s assume there was just a
lease between Kruvant and Cohen. Do you follow me?

A. Yes.
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Q. You are familiar with the facts of that case; is
that correct?
A. Yes.

% * * *

Q. I want you to assume that the lease between
Kruvant and Cohen was 351,000,
A. All right.

Q. Let’s assume that three-fifty wus under the
maximum, okay? dre you with me?

A, Yes.
Q. Did you hear Mr. Kruvant testify in the after-
noon?

A, Yes, I did.

Q. Did you hear him say that he’d love to have
Mr. Gertner’s deal?
A, Yes.

Q. Well, in my hypothetical he has Mr. Gertner’s
deal, and I think he testificd that it has increased his
cash flow to something like fifty per cent return a
year, correct?

A. TUh-huh.

Q. Is there any way that you can knock out my
hypothetical under the present regulations?
A. Under the hypothetical, no.

More Auditors, More Auditing

The Commissioners in questioning the chief auditor expressed
concern about the limited auditing personnel and salary ranges:

Iixanmixarion 8y CoMMISSIONER [POLLOCK :

Q. It also seems to me, based on what I have
learned over the last couple of days, that the protec-
tion of the public interest depends upon you and your
auditing procedure.

A. Right.

Q. Would you agree with that?
A. Yes.
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Q. Adnd I recognize, I’'ve heard everything you
said, and I understand the problems you have with
madequate staff in terms of numbers and the need to
attract persons with better qualifications, and my
question 1s, and I pose it most earnestly, what sug-
gestions can you make with respect to the auditing
of nursing homes that we can avoid and prevent the
excesswe payment of Medicaid moneys based on
property costs?

A. Well, one is, adequate staff would be one and a
better salary schedule to become—to do more aundits,
and the other is maybe on the property cost of getting
back-—getting first historical costs, or give them a
fair return from those first historical costs rather than
accepting inflated deals later on.

Q. You know, I just offer this comment gratu-
wously, and that is that this is precisely what’s done
with respect to utility regulation. In New Jersey we
use original cost, historical cost, as the basis for the
rates, and, ironically, the same kind of pyramiding
of costs on which rates are predicated which we have
observed over the last couple of days occurred sev-
enty-five years ago w the utility industry, so that all
I can say at this comment, this point, is I endorse—it
seems to me that there is much to be said yor your
suggestion.. Can you get more specific, though, with
your staff? If yow could have the staff you wanted
to do the job, have you gwen this matter sufficient
thought to say what it is you would like to have? And
if you haven’t given it a thouyht, just say so. But if
you have, again, 1 would like lo gel as specific as
possible with you as lo what you think you need to
do the job belter.

A. T think we need a professional staff of approxi-
mately seventy-five personnel and additional aneillary
staff.- I'm talking about clerical personnel.

Q. You have to go from twenty-two to scventy-
five?

A. Yes. I think we could do audits every year
with a staff of that type, and that’s what we would
like; an annual basis. If we cannot go for the annual
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hasis, I would not like to go below a senu-annual
basis. I would like to go——-

Q. One more question, if 1 may. dssuming you
could have the audits with the degree of frequency
that you would like to have, are you satisfied in your
own mind that the persons on your staff, assuming
you had fifty-three more of them, would have the suffi-
cient expertise to find the situations where the parties
have engaged in transactions that would appear to
suggest that inflated property costs are being used
as a mode of recovering cxcessive Medicaid money?

A. I think we could, sir.

The Commission in its written report made public during the
publie hearing, urged among many other recommendations, that
the anditors be empowered to subpena records and compel testi-
mony under oath. My, Perroni said such additional powers would

have been helpful in connection with the abuses revealed by the
inquiry.

Fxamixariony 3y CoMMISSIONER JTARLEY

Q. Al right. Now, hypothetically, going to this
East Orange sttuation which we discussed yesterday,
if you had suspicions that there were other docu-
mentation that was not being shown to you, does your
department have any subpena power lo force a per-
son to produce all documents relating to the rental of
a gwen facility?

A. Our division bas not, sir.

@. Do you have any power to put someone under
oath and compel them to answer questions with
respect to rental?

A. No, I do not, sir.

Q. Do you feel that if your division on your depart-
ment had the power to subpeena and the power to put
veople under oath, that it would significantly assist
you m downg an auditing job?

A. It would significantly assist us, sir, and I under-
stand we’re doing a revision in our division to try and
secure subpena powers,
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Q. And by the use of the subpoena and pulting
people under oath, that the
A. We could uncover some of these otlier leases
that were not uncovered through normal channels.

Swift Corrective Action

The swiftness with which certain responsible state officials and
agencics took corrective action on some Medicaid problems, even
as they were being revealed by the Commission’s investigation, was
snggested by Mr. Gerald J. Reilly, the director since January 5,
1975 of the Division of Medical Assistance and IHealth Services.
(Called by Counsel Siavage, Mr. Reilly reviewed many facets of
the overall Medicaid problem with the Commission:

Q. Mr. Reilly, I belicve you hare been present
for every moment of the last two days of hearings. Is
that correct?

A. Almost every moment.

Q. All right. Did you have a preconceived notion
concerming the property cost reimbursement sysiem
under Medicaid before coming to these hearings
whizi began yesterday?

A. Yes.

Q. What was that notion?

A. It was that the property reimbursement svstem
was outmoded and no longer appropriate and requir-
ing modification.

Q. IHHave these last tiwo days of hearings corrobo-
rated that to you in your mind?

A. They have more than corroborated it, they have
greatly strengthened it. I believed that the system
was flawed, but I did not conceive of the kinds of
manipulations that have been exposed these last two
days.

Q. In regard to that, perhaps it’s appropriate to
ask you here and mow, Mr. Reilly, whether with
respect to the transactions that were described yes-
terday, referring to East Orange Nursing Ilome in
particular, whether your division has taken any
action n that regard.
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A. T believe the transactions described with regard
to East Orange Nursing Ilome warrant our taking
action to cease paying the $79,000 a year that had
first gone to Mr. Gertner and then Mr. Kurnik on
the basis that that was not a true lease; that was a
disguised loan, and that the true lease was the two-
hundred-seventy-two-thousand-dollar Icase with AMr.
Kruvant; and, further, that we will begin an immedi-
ate audit at Fast Orange Nursing Home with a view
to recovering any funds that may have heen
inappropriately expended pursuant fo that false
lease.

Q. Now, with regard to your notion that the reim-
bursement-or-property-cost system in the program
is outmoded as you had it before these hearings and
as 1t’s been, as I said, corroborated in the hearings,
is the Division of Jedical Assistance and Health
Services taking any action in conjunction with the
Department of Health?

A. Yes. Im conjunction with the Department of
Health, we are atlempting to design a property reim-
burscement system that eliminates the kinds of abuses
we have seen demonstrated here for implementation
in the next fiscal vear,

Q. Now, if I could lay a foundation for it. The
Department of Health awill enter into a contract, as [
understand it, to dcvelop and compute rates for
nursing homes beginning in 1977, as I said, in contract
with you, the Division of Medical dssistance and
Health Services; is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. dud in conjunction with that task, are they
presently working on what is called cost models for
other areus of reimbursement to nursing homes?

A, Are vou talking about the operating cost of
nursing homes?

Q. Yes, sir.

A. T thinkit’s fair to say they’re presently working
on it. I think it's their intention to largely adopt
with some modifications the revised approach that
we have taken this year to the operating cost.
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Q. Are you, vis-a-vis what you have heard this
morning with respect to our recommendation, satisfied
with that progress or, to put it very plainly, are you
more impressed with the suggestions which you heard
this morning?

A. Well, I'm extremely impressed with the sugges-
tions I heard this moruing. I don’t know whether it’s
fair to make a value comparison between that and
what their consultants may propose. T haven't seen
fully what their consultants may propose.

I do know that the basic principle or concept that
their consultants are discussing is very siwmilar to
your proposed approach, and that is that we develop
some mechanism to look past and through all of the
various financial arrangements to come up with some
unit cost, real estate value per hed.

I think that the technique that you have proposed,
building upon what the Moreland (‘ommission sug-
gested, is perhaps at a more advanced stage of devel-
opment than what I have heard from the consultants
currently working with the Department of Flealth.

Another Call for Audit Reform

Mzr. Reilly backed up what his chief auditor had testified to
earlier, as to the inadequacy of the auditing staff and process:

Q. Do you consider the present number of audits
being completed by that section to be sufficient, first
of all?

A. Totally insufficient.

Q. All right. Now, what do you ascribe as the
reason for that insufficiency?
A. Lack of adequate staff.

Q. And did you receive that additional number
of auditors?
A. No, we did not.

Special Probe Unit

The possibility that the aunditing process might benefit from an
additional state appropriation of $400,000, which would be matched
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by the federal government, under then-pending legislation was
discussed. Myr. Reilly indicated that the S.C.I’s own activity
could influence the kind of heefing-up that might occur.

IBxanmizarioxy 3y CoMMISSIONER POLLOCK :

Q. What does that translate out to im terms of
auditors, for instance?

A. Well, that would translate out into about
forty-five auditors.

Q. And you may not have had the opportunity to
sufficiently reflect on whether or not that’s how you
want to spend the 400,000, but if you have, is that,
indeed, what you intend to do?

A. Well, T think under the general rubric of pro-
gram integrity and program control, but there may he
more cost effective ways of using that money. It may
not be wise to spend it all on aunditors in the tradi-
tional sense.

For example, it may be wise to take some of that
money and huild into the division a speeial investiga-
tive unit capacity to put together a team of lawwvers,
accountants, C. P. A. accountants and so forth, to do
some of the kinds of intensive follow-on investigation
that T know must have happened within the S, . I. to
untangle these kinds of arrangements, and use
another portion of the money for the normal auditors
to conduct the routine aundits, and perhaps that may be
a more cffective way of using the resources.

Millions of Dollars Could be Saved

The Commission in its discussions with Mr. Reilly was not only
anxious to obtain a projection of the potential savings that might
result from implementing S.C.1.’s and othier Medicaid reforms but
also how such savings would benefit the Medicaid clients and the
taxpayers.

IExanirNvaTtioNy By COMMISSIONER JKADEN :

Q. Iave you made any attempt to estimate what
the potential savings might be by the implementa-
tion of the kind of reforms the Department of Health
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18 working on or the Commission has proposed as you
heard this morning?

A. Well, T could extrapolate very rapidly from
what has been discussed here. If $22 million is the
whole property cost, and if perhaps the basic system
allows an over-compensation of bhetween 30 and 50
per cent on those costs, take 30 or 50 per cent of 22
million, you may be talking about $6 or $7 million on a
real property side.

And T think T would like to make a point made
earlier; that every dollar inappropriately spent on the
real property side is a dollar we don’t have to spend
on the patient-care side. We have to go after it.

Q. The Commission’s inquiry, of course, is focuserd
on this one major cost element. In your experience,
13 the same, at least if noi in degree, some potential
savings consistent with the institution of similar re-
forms and procedures for reimbursement affecting
other costs than nursing-home care?

A. No, I think traditionally the operating costs
have been the sector that has beea squeezed. T think
I would argue that we have under-funded operating
costs of the course of the year because of the exist-
ence of the administrative ceilings. It was misguided
public policy that let the leaseholders make the profit
and took the money out of the operating side.

I think our new operating cost system, which I'd he
happy to deseribe for you, if you would like, is an
extreme improvement over what we have done in the
past and, in fact, encourages provides incentives for
patient care, provides incentives for administrative
efficiency and so forth.

I don’t think the operator side, I don’t think there is
that mueh order in the operating side as there is in
this side.

* * * *

Q. Is there any lesson that you draw from that
that might guide public policy makers in the future
w the development of programs that involre pay-
ments for health services or other services?

A. I think we have to be willing to invest sufficient
resources to buy the talent and creative intellect
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necessary on the front end of very, very large pro-
grams to be able to cope with the kinds of individuals
we are going to have to deal with, particularly if we’re
going to attempt to mix the public sector and the
private sector in the provision of services. I'm sure
the Turcos had the best lawyers and the best ac-
countants and the sharpest cost-cutting architect they
could find when they designed their bunilding, and
I'm not sure that the state provided itself with an
armament to deal with that.

ExanmivaTiony sy Toe Crsmyax:

Q. Mr. Reilly, the question thal concerns me, and
I wonld want this point, at least, for my mind to be
as certain as possible, I undeystand you to say that
every dollar that goes out for the reimbursement of
property costs is aless dollar or-dollar less per patient
care?

A, T’m saving, every inappropriate dollar. There
arc appropriate dollars that we have to spend for
property. Tt’s a real cost of operating a nursing home.

Q. Yes. The cxcessive dollurs that we have been
hearing about?

A. Yes, it’s a dollar that we do not have to spend
for patient care.

Q. All right. So, then,if we come up with, or there
finally 18 aroused at, a realistic way of compensating
or reimbursing for property costs, a reasonable way
of doing that, and at a savings to the state, would
that, therefore, then indicate that there miglt be more
money for the quality-of-care dollar to the patient?

A. 1t would free up resources. Then we'd have to
make the deecision to use them there or some other
way, but it would make the resource available.

Q. Well, what concerns me 18 comments that if
we start to reduce the payment on the reimbursement
for property cost, the emotional argument that you
are now affecting the total dollars going into the nurs-
ing home and atlempling to relate that cut to qualily
care isn’t really accurate in light of the facts that
we have been hearing?
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A. I thinkif we could do it rationally and carcfully
it would to enhance patient care and not to harm
patient care, if that’s the question. If the question is
will this harm patient care, it could if we did it in a
fashion that was chaotic and thoughtless. But if we do
it in a rational, reasonable way and attempt to avoid
payoif in the industry, 1 think it will enhance patient
care.

Q. Perhaps my question wasn’t understandable,
but that’s the answer I was hoping we would hear.
A. Then I must have understood it.

Q. If we do this rationally, we will be freeing up
more dollars,
A. Yes.

Q. —apparently, for the quality-of-care dollar that
goes to the nursing beds?

A. Yes. We’re going to get back the $79,000 from
Mr., Kurnik and perhaps be able to hire some more
nurses or have better-—have scrambled eggs instead
of cereal for breakfast.

“Character and Fitness”

John Reiss, Assistant Commissioner of Health for Ilealth Plan-
ning and Resources Development, the last witness at the Commis-
sion’s public hearing, discussed among many topics the adequacy
of what little ““character and fitness review’’ was required in the
New Jersey’s Mcdicaid nursing home regulatory process:

Exanmivarioxy By Coxmissionin [KADEN :

Q. Can I ask one more question? In the regulatory
process, including the certificatc of meed, including
the rate-setiing procedure, where in that process s
there an evaluation of the character and background
of an applicant or an operator?

A. At this point there is none in that process. The
question has been raised whether or not it should be
part of the licensing process, because that’s where
it is, and so that character and fitness is taken into
account at that point.
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My own feeling, at this point I haven’t won this
argument, is that the licensing comes last. It comes
after all of those other processes have been under-
taken, and it would make sense to me to ‘nclude that
kind of provision in the certificate of need application
at the very beginning. At this point it isn’t.

Q. In other words, if the principal entrepreneur
m the nursing-home venture today were someone who
had been convicted of Medicaid fraud, either in New
Jersey or another jurisdiction, that fact would not in-
fluence the decision carly in the process of regulation?

A. Obvicusly we would notify such an individual,
if we identified the fact that, if he got a certificate of
need approval, et cetera, that he still wouldn’t get
licensed to operate the home. Put 1t would not at this
point, and we are told we cannot use it to influence
the issuance of the certificate.

Exanmimvariony By CoMMISSIONER POLLOCK :

Q. But it is necessary on the licensing aspect?
A, Tt is necessary on licensing.

Q. A character clearance?
A, Yes.

BxanmvaTion 3y CoMMISSIONER IKADEN :

Q. Does licensing apply only to the administrator
or to the institution itself, including its owners?

A. The institution itself, I'm not—I presume that
that includes owners. No, it doesn’t. It includes the
operator. So the owner could be a convicted criminal,
but if it was rented to somebody else who operated it,
that would not be taken into consideration in the
licensing arrangement.

@. Isthere any discussion going on about the char-

acter and fitness problem among reg
A. There has been. There isn’t currently.

ExaymizaTion By ConMISSIONER POLLOCK :

Q. You know it’s astonishing, because you have,
wm order to get a license to operate a solid-waste
landfill or to pick up garbage, you have to pass a
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character test. It would seem to me, if character is
relevant on those two issues, it certainly is relevant
on the ownership and the operation of a nursing home.

A. It is considered for operation, but not for
ownership.

BExamivariox 8y ComMMIsSIONER JCADEN :

Q. I would say, at least for my own par?, that I
would consider instituting some kind of character
and fitness review at the earliest possible stage of
the regulatory procedure to be essential. We have
learned, both in New Jersey and elsewhere, about the
potential abuse of public funds nad public trust that
takes vlace in the Medicaid system, and I would think
it’s the least we can do to assure that people who have
violated those statutes, have been found guilty of that
violation, not come to New Jersey to de business in
the future.

A. Tagree. The position that I have just described
is that which has been given to us by the office of the
attorney general, and I think that unless that position
is changed, it might require change in the statutes.

CoaruissioNer Kapex : Well, that may be some-
thing that this Commission looks into as well.

IN CONCLUSION . . .

S.C.I. Chairman Joseph H. Rodriguez wound up the two-day
hearing with a summary statement on the Commission’s findings,
conclusions and recommendations. In his summary, he emphasized
that the Commission’s purpose was constructive and that the
agency hoped its recommendations, once implemented, would have
a balancing impact that would ““provide an efficient and cost-
conscious system of Medicaid reimbursement while making the
industry attractive enough to hold most legitimate present in-
vestors and attract new ones.”” Mr. Rodriguez concluded:

We, in New Jersey, like to consider ourselves
leaders in the field of surveillance of our Medicaid
payments, but with respect to this particular aspect
of our endeavors, we are lagging far behind our sister
states. The intent of the S.C.I. is not to be punitive.
The recommendations which we offer today are in-
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tended to provide an efficient and cost-conscions
system of Medicaid reimbursement, while making the
indusiry attractive enough to hold mo+t legitimate
present investors and attract new ones. The Commis-
sion believes that the best solution to the problems
portrayed over the last two days is the enactment of
the aforesaid recommendations and that the worst
solution would be to do nothing at all.

The Final Report
Angmenting the public hearing, as has beeu stated earlier, was
the issnance, on the final day of that hearing, of the Commission’s
“Final Report On the Property Cost Reimbursement System For
Nursing Homes Participating in the New Jersey Medicaid Pro-
gram.”’ That report specifically examined a number of additional
nursing homes and the administrative agencies wita regulatory
responsibility.
Some of the most noteworthy findings of the report were:
1. That there are profiteers and opportunists with invest-
ments in substantially Medicaid funded nursing homes in

the state who recoup returns as high as 105% annually
and have no connection with the operation of the facility.

2. That there has been a large number of nursing homes
participating in the Medicaid program which have never
been andited.

3. That due to the lack of anditing, substantial overpayments

have occwrred to a number of homes examined by the
Commission.

4. That theve is no effective control by either the Department
of Health or DMAHS on escalating property cost expenses.

5. That communication between the two agencies with the
responsibility for administering the program is extremely
poor.

6. That there exists a combine of loosely connected groups

of New York -based entreprenenrs who control a substantial
percentage of the Medicaid heds in New Jersey.

A summary of the recommendations of that report is as follows:

1. That while a completely new system of property cost reim-
bursement is being implemented, certain controls on escalat-
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ing property cost reimbursement should be adopted by the
Department of Health.

9. That construction costs on new facilities and additions be
strictly controlled since they will directly affect reimburse-
ment,

3. That additional auditors be hired by DMAHS and that an
educational program be provided for them to further in-
erease their efficiency.

o>

That Senaie Bill 594, presently pending hefore the New
Jersey Legislature, be substantially strengthened as to
reporting requirements Dby individuals with intervests in
nursing homes and that that knowledge be utilized by the
administering agencies.

5. That communication hetween DMAHS and the Department
of Health be created by the institution of a standing com-
mittee on property cost reimbursement and ownership.

6. That the entire present system of property cost reimburse-
ment be completely overhaunled along a pattern suggested
initially by New York’s Moreland Commission with modifi-
cations suggested by the S.CT.

The Comunission, aided by its expert consultants, examined
several possible new systems and discarded all but the Moreland
Commission recommendation. Iven that approach was substan-
tially modified in a number of important respeets to arrive at the
S.C.I.°s final recommendation. The new system was first disclosed
in the public hearing and is wuscussed in detail in the final report.
Essentially, that system proposes 1) a bulk appraisal of all nursing
homes participating in the Medicaid program in the state to arrvive
at a true value (neither a market value nor a replacement cost)
2) the application of a percentage figure to that value to arrive
at a yearly ¢‘fair rental’’ reimbursement and 3) the reimbursement
of the fair rental amount over the ““useful life’’ of the facility.
The system avoids the inflation of the rental schedule and the in-
ducement to fraud of unlimited debt service reimbursement while
providing a reasonable return to the prudent and honest investor.
As the Commission stated in its final report:

The Commission is also aware, however, that it
must be mindful of the realities of the industry in-
volved in making its legislative recommendations.
Any legislative recommendations, therefore, must
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avoid the temptation to be punitive in character and
must necessarily strike the proper balance hetween
providing an ecfficient and cost-conscious property
cost reimbursement to nursing home operators, while
at the same time presenting the attractiveness of a
return, on investment vo that an adequate number
of investors are attracted into the program.

Continuing Efforts

Subsequent to the public hearing and the issuance of the final
report, the Commission persisted in its effort to revamp the
property cost reimbursement system via its recommended ap-
proach. DMAMS and the Department of Iealth had already been
engaged in restructuring of other cost centers of the reimbursement
system and Commission representatives have met on several oc-
casions with those agencies to explain the Commission’s recom-
mendation and urgt its adoption. As this Annual Report went
to print Director Reilly of DMAIS and the Department of Health
were exploring ways and means to cffectuate the initial stages
of the Commission recommendation.

Additionally, Senate Bill 594, which the Commission recom-
mended be strengthened, was amended on the floor of the Assembly
to comport with the suggestions.
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PRACTICES AND PROCEDURES OF PRACTITIONER
GROUPS PARTICIPATING IN THE NEW JERSEY
MEDICAID PROGRAM

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

As part of its evalnative probe of the entive Medicaid program
in New Jersey made at the request of Governor Brendan T. Byrne,
the New Jorsey State Commission of Investigation assigned one
of three investigative teums to look into the arca of health services
encompassing providers of other than nursing home and hospital
care. Among the major components of this seetion of the program
are dentists and physicians practicing in groups or otherwise
associated by virtue of sharing space at a common facility. The
practitioner phase of the investigation focused upon the workings
of individual medical facilities devoting at least 76% of their
practice to Medicaid and bringing in substantial amounts of Medi-
caid money and the manner in which these facilities are adminis-
tered by the New Jersey Division of Medical Assistance and Health
Services.

During the course of this investigation, staff of the Division’s
small Burean of Medical Care Surveillance provided valuable
assistance to the Commission. We wish to publicly express grati-
tude to Division Director Gerald Reilly and Surveillance Burean
Chief Boniface Damiano for extending many courtesies and total
cooperation. The S.C.I. also established a working liaison with
the United States Senate Select (‘ommittee on Aging which
reviewed the Medicaid Program on the National Level.

Evidence obtained by the Commission on scme twelve sample
facilities suggests that only a small minority of practitioner groups
receiving substantial Medicaid moneys engage in improper or
questionable conduct. However, the Commission recognized that
the potential for the abuses outlined in this report was great and
accordingly, the Commission recommended the following steps to
promote program integrity, guard against unnecessary utilization
and ultimately, conserve State and Federal tax dollars.

The principel thrusts of these recommendations, which are
reviewed in some detail subsequently in this report, ave:
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* Promuleation of a scheme to identify and register
on an annual basis, medical facilities receiving sub-
stantial amounts of Medicaid moneys.

* Periodie inspeetion of such facilitics for proper
procedures and cleanliness.

* OQutlawing  percenfage arrangements  between
lacility owner-operators and practitioners.

* Iistablishment of a liaison between the Division of
Medical Assistance and Health Services and an insur-
ance clearing house to obtain accurate information
on payments made by insurance companics to physi-
cians on behalf of Medicaid recipients.

¢ Addition to the staft of the Bureau of Medieal Care
Surveillance of undercover agents who would pose as
recipients seeking medical cases to ferret out:

“ping-ponging—practice of requiring a patient
to see several specialists in the same facility with-
out suedical need

Cfamily-gangine'—practice under which covered
family members ave scen by facility personnel
without initially requesting care.

““churning’'—practice of unnecessarily requiring
patients to come to a facility for billable visits.

‘‘steering’—practice of divecting patients to
specifie specialists or pharmacies.
use of para-professionals; requirements to sign
claim forms in blank.

* Notification to reeipients of services billed by
pliysicians.

* Requirve that physicians and radiologists justify the
necd for radiology procedures and holding both the
requesting pliysician aud radiologist separately and
equally responsible for assuring that all requested
procedures are consistent with the patient’s diagnosis.

* Ontlaw divect telephonie links and common en-
tranceways between mediceal facilities and pharmacies.

191




* Reduction in Medicaid reimbursement rates to
pharmacies sharing space in medical facilities.

*Tinforcement of State statutes prohibiting lay per-
sonnel from participating in the practice of medicine.

Medicaid Group Practice—Aspects of New Jersey Mills

In connection with its evaluation of New Jersev’s Medicaid
Program, the Commission determined to examine the yprofessional
group-pharmacy aspeet component for possible abuse. Scerutiny
was centered npon the practices and procedures of relatively large
dental and physician groups, their relationship wi.a other pro-
viders of medical care and services—especially pharmacies—and
the adequacy of existing regulations and integrity monitoring
methods utilized by the Division of Medical Assistance and Health
Services (D.AM.ALELS.).

The Commission focused upon recognized professional groups,
“‘professional centers’’ housing various unassociated tenant prae-
titioners and offices of single practitioners in which other physicians
would regularly share space in either an employee or independent
contractor capacity. At least twelve facilities across the State—
each having at least a 75% volume of welfare patients and bringing
in substantial Medicaid monies yearly—were examined. Books and
records were reviewed, offices were visited by investigators posing
as patients, and sworn testimany was taken from practi-
tioners, facility emplovees, Medicaid recipients and program
administrators.

The facilities reviewed were located in poverty areas in Camden,
Hoboken, Invington, Jersey (ity, Newark, Passaic and Paterson
and housed in places such as welfare project high-rise huildings,
converted stores, warechouses and tenements. Typically, the facili-
ties were divided into a reception area for patients—some of which
were equipped with rows of theater-type seats consistent with mass
production technique—and several smaller compartments used for
patient examination, X-ray services and laboratory services.
Several locations also contained in-house pharmacies.

Each facility had an owner or the equivalent of a business’

manager to supervise the day-to-day running of the operation,
hire and fire physician, nursing and clerical staff, and arrange
liaison with out-of-house specialists and suppliers of goods and
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services., In many cases, the owner of business manager was a
layman.

Arrangements were made between owner or administrator and
physicians who desirve to practice at the facility, In the main,
staff practitioners were comprised of foreign physicians and recent
graduates auxious to put together enough capital to open their
own practice elsewhere. In earlier years (1971-1973) many facili-
tics paid staff physicians a straight salary averaging only $15.00
per hour regardless of the number of patients seen or amount of
services hilled to Medicaid. Salary arrangements between facility
operators and staff practitioners declined because of a fear that
such arrangements might subject facilities to the licensing and
cost review requirements of the Health Care Facilities Planning
Act.

Arrangements shifted to ‘‘rental” or “partnership’ agree-
ments based upon a percentage of the fees earned by the practi-
tioner. The Commission identified specific relationships under
which the amount kept by the practitioner varied from as little as
30% to as mush as 70%. On the average, practitioners involved in
such arrangements turned over 40 to 50% of their earnings to
facility operators or landlords. Typical negotiations with a lay
landlord owner were described by a physician:

Q. Can you give us the terms of the financial
arrangements?

A. Yes. We discussed, and in his terms, I was to
bring my knowledge and niy stethoscope and he would
provide me with space and telephone service and, you
know, all medication, r-- 28, secrctarial work, every-
thing, and o for that - would charge me a definite
amount ot fee.

Q. What was the definite amount of fee? Was it a
percentage?
A. Well, the fee was—ues, it was 50 percent.

Q. How would the 50 percent reach Mr. ***2 Would
you have to write ¢ check or would he write a check
to you after certain deductions would have been
made?

A. Twas to write him a check.

Q. Would you bill Medicaid under your own name?
A. Yes, siv, I billed Medieaid in my own name.
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Then after you recewed a check from Medicaid.
Yes.
0. —would you then just take half that?

A. Yes. I would write him a cheek for half of the
amount that was paid to me.

S pO

Q. Did Mr. *** require any type of proof from you
as to the amount of money that Medicaid had paid
7018

A. All the billing that came to—through *** and
there was a secretary

Q. I sec.

A. —who kept track of it.

The presence of the operator-owner’s secvetary to
keep a watchful eve on billings was not at all
uncommon.

Facility administrators contend that the high pereentage retun
to the center was justified by the space utilized by stall practi-
tioners—including all common arveas——and cxpenses including
salary of nursing and secretarial personuel as well as other
operating costs. The Commission recognizes that certain expenses
are indeed borne hy the facility, but suggests that cconomies of
scale accruing to large facilities should lessen the necessity of high
percentage arrangements. We believe that these percentage
arrangements lead to unreasonable profit for facility owner opera-
tors and foster abuses which will be detailed later in this report.

More recently, arrangements between facilities and staff involved
fixed payments which inerease with growth of practice.

The Commission questioned the owner-operator about his costs
and other arrangements at the center. It came to light that he
leased the entire building for only %225 per month and had
“arrangements’’ returning much more:

Q. You're paying $225 a month for the floor to *** 2
A. Right, sir.

Q. How much rental do you get? Or any company
that you are a principal in, what do they get in rent
month?

A. Several thousand dollars. I can’t give you an
exact number.
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Q. So you’re taking in several thousand dollars «
month as a landlord, correct?
A. Right, sir.

At another facility, a building was leased for $500 per month
by a physician, He himself practiced there, and sublet space to
dentists for $200 per month and to a physician specialist for $350
per week.

At yel another center, physicians paid the lay-owner operator
a weekly fee.

Q. IHow do you determine how much rent a par-
ticular doctor in ane of your offices should pay?

A, Well, they are—the full time doctors, they paid
$300, you know.

Q. Is that a month or a week?
A. This is a week. It depends upon also the
medicines and supplies that they use.

Q. So it would be like a flat fee plus the cost of
whaterer materials they use; is that right?
A, Yes.

Pharmacies also have arrangements with medical facilities. At
one medical group, a pharmacy paid in excess of $1050 per month
rent for some 225 squarve feet of space. It is significant to note
that the rental inereased from $530 to $850 to its present amount
within two years and without any concomitant inerease in space.

Several of these facilities were visited hy investigators from
the State Comunission of Investigation and the Unifted States
Senate Special Committee on Aging. Tn many cases, investigators
reported filthy conditions and questionable and fraudulent practices
by emplovees which will be detailed throughout this report. Our
experience with these facilities, ax partly set out in thisx document,
demonstrates the need for a new approach by the Division of
Medical Assistance and Health Services.

Initially, we recommend thal lPacilities receiving substantial
Medicaid monies and having several staff practitioners be identi-
fied, registered and periodically inspected for proper procedures
and cleanliness. We believe that the Division of Medical Assistance
and Health Services presently has power to promulgate an ad-
ministrative seheme to accomplish this purpose. During the course
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of the Commission’s investigation the Division dvafted such u
scheme and we add our support to it. 'We suggest, however, that =
move effective solution might be to amend existing State health
facility licensing law (N.J.S8.4. 26:2H-1 et seq.)—the very law
which facility operators now seek to evade—to provide for Health
Department jurisdiction irvespective of the nature of the financial
arrangements hefween owner-operators and staff over these faeili-
ties which receive substantial amounts of taxpayer dollars. We
note that sueh a statutory amendwent would also place in the
Health Department power to review and set reasonable rates of
reimbursement for these facilities which, hopefully, would be more
in keeping with the goals of a public welfare program rather than
private profit motive.

Affiliated Radiology Services

Once the treating physician determines radiologic serviees ave
necessary, a requisition specifying the X-ray procedure desired
is drawn. The service may be rendered in one of several wayvs:
The patient can be referrved to a specifiec radiologist or hospital
facility; the X-rays can be taken, developed and ‘‘read™ by a
radiologist member of the group using his own equipment and
personnel ; films can be taken on the group’s equipment by a tech-
nician paid by the group and interpreted by the radiologist whose
office may be located off the group’s premises.

Ideally, in this latter situation, the radiologist will closely su-
pervise the work of the X-ray technician and will himself perform
(or be present for) more esoteric procedures. During the course
of the investigation, however, the Commission discovered ome in-
stance whore a radiologist receiving in excess of $118,000 of Med-
icaid funds between 1972 and 19756 was emploved full time at a
New York hospital. Despite the fact that Medicaid claim forms
signed in his name vepresented that the radiologic services, in-
clnding intravenons pyleography, mammography and tomography,
““were personally rendered’’ by him or by a qualified individual
in his actual presence, office employees—including the X-ray tech-
nician—saw him only once or twice over the years. In the absence
of the vadiologist, nunerous X-rays of questionable medical value
were ordered by office physicians and taken by the teehmician,

Percentage arrangements in a Medicaid setting should be ount-
fawed. As this report will indiecate, they are incompatible with
the goal of providing quality care to vecipients at reasonable cost
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to taxpayers. Such arrangements foster and incite over-utilization
of services, ping-ponging, family ganging and churning. It is
unrealistic to expect practitioners to practice fiscal restraint when
salary is dependent upon the amount billed.

We further urge that an identification system be developed to
indicate on the claim form which specific practitioner renderved
service to the recipient and the precise location where the service
was rendered. Sueh information—which is not now readily avail-
able—will provide program surveillance personnel with casy ac-
cess to accurate information on moneys flowing through particular
locations and facilitate detection of ping ponging, and family
ganging. Tt will also track Medicaid Doctors who wander from
facility to facility. The Conunission discovered one physician who
visited three facilities in different cities a week., Such a practice
raises serious questions about continuity of care and {reating
physician availability to patients,

The testimony also raises serious questions about possible vio-
lations of the Professional Practices Act (N.J.S.d. 45:9-1 et seq.)
by facility lIay owner-operators who sharve in the profits of facility
associated physicians. The Commission will forward a copy of its
investigative record to the State Board of Medical Examiners for
consideration of this and other issues. The radiologist could only
review medical necessity on an after the faet hasis and, according
to the X-ray teehnician, would question the number of films taken
on individual patients.

The testimony raises serious questions about the quality of cave
received by office Medicaid patients in this highly sensitive and
potentially dangerous avea of health care delivery. The record
also raises questions about the conduet of certain physicians which
appears to transgress basic standards of medical ethies in prac-
tice, issues which are bevond the scope of this report.

At another facility, with the radiologist located in a nearby city,
evidence exists that unqualified persons were permitted to take
N-rays. Rather than hire a licensed N-ray ‘feclmician, the lay
group administrator allegedly instructed a licensed practical nurse
(LPN) to take films. If questioned by authorities concerning
X-ray procedures, group personuel were supposedly rchearsed to
elaim that the LPN only positioned the patient and that & physician
actnally “‘pushed the button”’. Questions concerning these allega-
tions to a physician-pavtner of the group drew the following
responses :

197



Q. During your stay at * * * Iealth Group was
there an employee of the health group by the name of
Sonia?

A. Yes.

Q. And do you know how long Sonia was with the
group?
A. I'd say about a year.

Q. All right. Do you know what her duties were;
that is, were they admimstrative as opposed to
medical?

A. I plead the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendinents.

Q. Did Sowia dress i the garb of a nurse?
A. Iplead the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

Q. Do you recall if Sonia dressed in the garb of a
lay person in the office of a doctor?
A. Iplead the Fifth and Fourteenth.

Q. Al right. Now, in the spring of 1974 was there
an X-ray technician—strike that.

In the spring of 1974 was there o young lady at the
® % Teqlth Group by the name of Sonia, who would
take X-rays?

[Whereupon, the witness confers with counsel.]
A. Iplead the Filth and JFourteenth Amendments.

Q. Do you know 1f—strike that.

Do you know whether or not Sonia was a certified
X-ray technician?

A. I plead the Fifth and Fourteenth.

Q. Did you ever hear * * * instruct physicians to
say that they, the physicians, rather then Sonia took
X-rays if anyone should ask?

A. I plead the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

After the group obtained the services of a licensed technician,
problems again developed when the facility’s lay administrator
himself allegedly took X-rays. The physician-partner again raised
constituntional privileges when asked if it was ever brought to her
attention that the administrator may have taken X-rays. The
administrator denied taking NX-ravs hut acknowledged that he
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could position patients and develop X-rays for a physician who
would ““push the button.

Radiologists associated with Medicaid Mills, like other practi-
tioners, often work on a percentage fee arrangement. The Com-
mission commonly found group associated radiologists keeping
only between 35-40% of Medicaid dollars paid for radiology
services with the halance flowing to the facility. Other situations
were encountered in which the radiologist would pay the group a
lower fixed percentage of his fees plus a monthly rental. (30% of
fees plus $100/month is one example of this type arrangement.)

In any percentage relationship, incentive exists to increase
dollars received by increasing volume of work performed. The
-adiologist can maximize his income by billing for as many pro-
cedures as possible on cach patient. The group can rnaximize its
carnings by supplying as many patients as possible to the radiol-
ogist throueh the practice of ““ping-pongine’’. These temptations
often materialize in pressure exerted upon group physicians to
orcder unnecessary X-rays for their patients and radiologists en-
gaging in ‘‘ereative billing’’—billing based upon the number of
readings rather than the number of anatomic areas filmed—and
false billing for services not performed.

When questioned about pressures exerted by the lay group
administrator on physicians to take numerous X-rays, a physician
partner responded:

Did Mr. * * * ever suggest to you that you yourself
showld order a certain number of X-rays on your
patients?

[ Whereupon, the witness confers with counsel.]

A. I respectfully plead the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments and decline to answer the question on
the ground that the answer may tend to incriminate
me.

Tue Cmammax: Doctor, in the event we have
vecacion to rely on those privileges again, the
record will indicate the complete context of your
statement, but you would simply have to say you
plead the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, All
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right? Instead of going through the entire
process.

Q. Doctor, are you aware of any advice or sug-
gestions that My, * ¥

Tar Wrrxess: Ifine.

physicians at the ¥ * * Health Group concerning the

number of X-rays they should order for their

patients?

A.

The radiologist associated with the group maximized his per-
centage earnings by billing Medicaid for an additional esophogram
whenever the group X-rav techmician would perform an uppex
G.I. series and even thoungh the treating physician wounld not ve-
quest such a procedure. The X-ray technician testified that he
only took films for an npper G.1. series and forwarded a Medicaid
claim form to the radiologist which billed only for the procedures

I plead the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

% ES i ES

he actunally performed:

Al

I would do a G.I. series and that would be all.

And then one morning I noticed the forms were on
the counter and then underneath it, the G.I. series,
and in another person’s handwriting ‘‘and esoph-
agus,’” and it had a cerfain amount of money written
on the side.

PO o

PO PO PO

Q.

So ““esophagus’ was added n?
Right.

You didn’t do anything to the esophagus?
No.

Right?
No.

Who signed the form, do you know?
Dr. * * * [the radiologist)

Are you sure?
Yes.

Were the words ‘‘and esophagus’ written in

the same color pen as Doctor * * * [radiologist]
signature? Did you notice that?

A,

Right, yes.
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Q. It was. All right. How many times did this
happen, often?
A. On practically every G.I. series.

This technician was also instructed by the radiologist to take
films other than those requested by the treating physician:

Q. Okay. Did anyone ever tell you or suggest to
you that, as the X-ray technician, you should do more
X-rays than the X-rays requested by the physician?

A. Right, Doctor * * * [radiologist].

Q. Doctor * * * [radiologist]. What did Dr. * * *
say?

A. Doctor * * * requested that if it was a finger,
that I would do a full hand on the frame.

Q. Did he tedl you why you should do a full hand?

A. No.
Q. He just said do it?
A. Right.

Q. And this is even though the prescription or the
written request that you would get from the doctor
requesting the X-ray would say the finger?

A, Right.

Q. What would you do, the finger or the full hand?
A. T would do the full hand.

Q. cAny other particulars, such as « foot, ankle?
Trr Wrtyess: Yeah, He said if it was an ankle

I was to do a foot and ankle.

Q. What about a request for an X-ray of one of
the hips?

A. T was to do both hips.

Q. In other words,if the request said please X-ray
right hip

A. Right.

Q. you would do both hips?
A. Both hips.
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Q. Do you know why doctor would make that re-
request—Doctor * * % [radiologist]?

A. Just for a comparison. But most comparison
studies are done between children under sixteen.

Q. And you say children under sixteen. Were most
of these hip X-rays taken of children?
A. Not really.

When questioned concerning the practice of the affiliated radi-
ologist to engage in “‘creative billing,”” the physician partner
invoked the Fifth Amendment.

Steps can be taken to safeguard the program from over-utiliza-
tion of X-ray services and ‘‘ereative billing.”” Primary physicians
requesting radiologic procedures should be required o document
clearly the medical necessity of such procedures in the patient’s
chart. The requesting physician should then speeify the precise
X-ray procedure desired on a multi-copy combination Medicaid
X-ray requisition claim form. A line should he drawn uuder the
last test required and immediately thereunder the requesting phy-
sician should list the diagnosis and ‘‘rule-outs’’ for the henefit
of the consulting radiclogist and Medicaid surveillance personnel.
The requesting physician should then personally sign the form
and forward it to the radiology consultant for use as a deseription
of services to be rendered and as his own program hilling invoice.
Both the requesting physician and the radiologist should he sep-
arately and equally responsible for assuring that all requested
procedures ave consistent with the patient’s diagnosis. Tf a radi-
ologist helieves that services requested should bhe modified, ex-
tended, or rejected, he should be required to consult with the
requesting physician. Claims not submitted in complete aceord
with the above procedure should he rejected hy the processing
agent.

Steps should he taken to make it elear to providers that radiology
billing should be based on the number of anatomic areas filined
rather than on the number of readings. While, for example, a
pelvie film allows interpretation of multiple anatomic scements,
a radiologist should not hill for readings of “‘right hip,”” *‘left
hip,”” ‘““pelvie,”’ ““lumbosacral spine,”” cte. Only the minimum
number of views necessary to delineate anatomie pathology shonld
be taken.
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The Jommission also suggests that the Division of Medical
Assistance and Health Services give serious consideration Lo the
amount. and method of reimbursement to program radiological
providers. The fact that many providers are willing to accept
35-40% of the present Medicaid fee itself suggests that the fee
may be high. 60-65% of that fee, or the portion taken by the
group, may confain excess profit in addition to monevs sufficient
to cover costs related to radiological procedures.

Not Getting Our Money’s Worth

The Cfommission’s investigation disclosed a number of practices
used by phyvsicians to maximize unfairly the amount of Medicaid
reimbursement they receive. Many of these practices contravene
the requirement (N.J.A4.(". 10:54-1.1) that reimbursable services
be rendered by the physician or in his actual presence:

“Physician’s services’’ means those services
provided within the scope of practice of the profes-
sion as defined by the T.aws of New Jersey, or if in
practice in another state by the laws of that state, by
or under the diveet personal supervision of an indi-
vidual licensed by the State of New Jersey to
practice medicine or osteopathy. Tt includes services
furnished in the office, the patient’s home, a hospital,
a skilled nursing home or elsewhere. Direet personal
supervision means that the servieces must be rendered
in the physician’s presence.

One method of maximizing Medicaid income is to disguise non-
reimbursable treatment through the use of codes applicable to
reimbursable procedures. Medicaid pavs for physiesl therapy
under certain conditions. Payments are not made for **physical
medicine procedures administered by a physician, or physical
therapy which is purely palliative such as the application of heat
per se in any form, massage, routine calisthenies or group exer-
cises, assistance in any activity or use of a simple mechanical
device mnot requiring the special skill of a qualified plvsical
therapist.” N.J.4.C. 10:54-1.7.

At one facility, patients were scheduled to come in for diathermy,
bhydroculator and eleetric muscle stimulator (E.M.S.) treatments
at a time when the physician was not in the office. A facility clerical
employee who operated the equipment testified as follows:
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Q. I see. Now, would you run this EMS and hot
pack machine when Dr. *** was not in the office?

A. Sure. That’s when we used it. We used it
mostly in the morning beecause when he came in he had
patients to see, and, you know, if we had a patient in
there taking treatment, it would tie the room up and
we needed the room. So -we advised most of the
patients to come in in the morning for their treatment.

Q. I see. What about the EKG. Now, was this
another situation where an EXKG wordd be taken in
the morning when Dr. *** would be absent?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that standard procedure?
A. Yes, because it took time and it was also done in
the same room and that took time to do also.

The clerical employee often ‘‘treated’” as many as 30 patients
per day out of the physician’s presence.

Medicaid claim forms were submitted for these services in the
name of the physician. The services rendered were described as
““prolonged office visit’’ and processed for payment by the fiscal
intermediary. The facility’s registered nurse, who handled much
of the Medicaid billing, testified as follows:

Q. When would youw write prolonged office visit?
A. Whenever we give a physical therapy treat-
ment.

Q. But, again, the physical therapy treatment
nught be diathermy?

A. Diathermy, EMS, EMS and hot packs, hot
packs.

The woman who operated the physical therapy equipment and
also gave injections, had no medical training. One of them festi-
fied concerning her background as follows:

Are you a registered nurse?
No.

Avre yow an L.P.N. or practical nurse?
No.

RS
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Q. Do you have any kind of training in the med-
1cal fleld?
A. T'm a medical seeretary by training.

Q. And where were you tramed?
A. Tivon’s Educational Center, 900 Broad Street,
Newark, New Jersey.

Q. And how long did you attend Lyon’s? Tow long
did you study there?
A, Tt was a year.

Did you receive some sort of cerlificale——
Yes.

Q

A

Q. —or diploma?

A. Yes, a thousand hours,

And generally what kind of training did you
?eccwe there? What did they teach you?

A. Well, medical terminology. I had shorthand
already in school, so I had shorthand, medical office
procedures. T had typing. I imagine that’s about it.
English.

Q. Did you learn to operate any lype of office
equipment at Lyon’s, any medical equipment?
A. No.

Like a diathermy machine?
No.

Did you learn how to give injections at Lyon’s?
No.

P PO

Did you learn how to take blood from a patient
at Ljon s?
A. No.

She went on to detail the methods she used to give eleetrie
muscle stimulation treatments:

Q. What’s a EMS and hot packs?

A. Electrical muscle stimulation. That was part of
that machine. It was just like—I never knew heads ov
tails what it did. I was just told that’s the way I had
to do it. You just put the lotion on and you just iron;
give him certain amount of watts. You ask him if he
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feels it. If he feels it, then you just leave him theve
and iron him for ten minutes. Just vub him back and
forth.

Q. And did Dr. * * * leave you instructions as 1o
what degree of voltage you should use with eacl
patient?

A. Well, he showed me a couple of times and he

said you would normally leave it on—Ilike it was just
a knob and it has numbers from one through eight,
and like T used to put it midway, somewhere between
four, five and six, you know, unless the patient said it
was too much. Then T w ould turn it down. That’s all.

One must seriously question the quality and value of these services.

Another abuse involved billing Medicaid for injeetions admin-
istered by a nurse or clerical assistant rather than the physician
under the guise of an office visit. A registered nurse testified as
follows:

Q. You mentioned earlier you gave injections,
right?
A. Yes.

Q. Suppose the patient came in for an injection
and you actually gave the injection. Would you fill
out a Medicaid form

A. Yes.

Q. —if the patient were a Medicaid patient? Al
right. And would you sign it 4n Doctor * * * name?

A. Yes. When a patient comes in for an injection
and walks in the door, it’s an injection that Doctor
©* % has said, ““Mrs. Jones, you come here each week
for an Imferon injection cach week and she comes for
an injection.

The nurse claimed that in addition to giving the injection, she
would check the patient’s weight and blood pressure and ask ques-
tions about general well-being. Again, the services billed were not
rendered by the physician although claims were submitted in his
nanie.

Medicaid was also billed for office visits when patients telephoned
the facility for preseription renewals. Often the decision to renew
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the medication would not even be made by a physician but by a
nurse or clerical assistant. The nurse explained her procedure
when a call from a patient was referred to her by the receptionist:

Q. Suppose she gave it to you, what would you do?
A. Tcheck the patient’s chart.

Q. Then what would you do?

A. See when her last visit was. If it was somebody
who I was familiar with and her medications were
normally renewed, they would bhe renewed. If it was
somehody I was not familiar with or if she hadn’t been
there for a long time, I’d have her come in or I would
hand it over to Dr. * * %,

In addition to the nuvse, clerical personnel in the office renewed
prescriptions. Instructions from the physician called for a Medi-
caid claim to be submitfed in these situations. The medical secre-
tary testified as follows:

A. Yeah. A lot of times T would go ahead and ve-
fill it and I would tell the patient, you know, you would
have to come in and see Doctor some time this week.

@. Okay.
A. Nine out of ten they would never show.

Q. What would happen as far as someone filling
out a Medicaid form based upon my telephone call?
A, You see, 1 never did it. But it has

Q. Would (lhe nurse)?
A. Yes.

Q. Tell, what were her procedures? Would you
make a list?

A. Doctor would tell-—if Doctor was there and 1
told him a patient called and wanted meds renewed
and I renewed it already, he had said get a form and
fill it out. Any one of us could do that. Just fill out
the top part, the name and Medicaid number. We
wowld hand it over to him or (the nurse) and they
would take it from there.

N

P’s filled out is based

* %

Q. But the Medicaid form tha
wupon the telephone call?
A. Right.
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Q. Right. Not the patient coming in to see the
Doctor?
A. Right.

Q. Right, Okay. Do you know what procedure
code—you know what o procedure code 18—
A. Yeah.

Q. ———in Medicaid?
A, Um-hum.,

Q. Do you know what procediure code is placed in
or on that Medicaid form?
A. Triple o-one.

Q. Triple o-one means what to you?
A, Just a regular office visit.

A related problem involved justructions given by facility em-

ployees to patients who would eall in for preseription renewals.

| The veeeptionist deseribed her procedures which were geaved o
getting the patient into the office for a hillable visit:

people on the other end who want to rencw their pre-
seriptions?

A. Yes.

Q. Well,what did you do? What is your procedure
when that happens?

A, Well, T usually tell them to come down and talk
to Dr. * * * about it.

|
l Q. Have you ever answered the phone and gotten

Q. You ask them to come 1  person?
A. Yeah.

Q. What would yauw say to them? Suppose I were
the patient. What would you say to me?

A. Well, say, you know, you hetter come down to
the office and bring your bottles, you know, the empty
bottles and talk to him. If he can renew it, then hie’ll
give it to you. If not, you know, whatever he says.

This is one example of techniques which we label as ‘‘churning”’
or unnecessarily requniring patients to come into a facility for a
billable visit. A medical secretary at one facility described another
teehnique:
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Q. Was there any practice or procedure that you
were aware of on the part of the doctor or anyone
else i the office acting under his instructions to get
patients to come back on any type of a regular basis?

A. T don’t understand what you mean.

Q. Well, for instance, did Dr. * * * ever instruct
you or the receptionist or any other persons working
in the office to instruct the patienis to return next
weelk or the week after

A, Yes, me.

Q. to—all right. How would that work? TWhat
would his instructions be like?

A. Well, he would see a patient and sayv the pa-
tient had a cold. So he would say tell her T would
want to see her Wednesday or Thursday. If they
came in on Monday, tell her to come hack Wednesday
or Thursday to see me.

Q. And would the doctor actually examine these
patients when they came back the second time?

A. He would come in and =ay, you know, ‘“‘How do
you feel?’? you know, ¢‘Ilow’s the medicine working?”’
And they would say, ‘‘Okay.”’ He would say, ¢‘Finish
up your medicine and come back and see me again.’’
That’s what he would say.

Q. So he would want them to come back a third
time?
A. Yeal. A lot of them camec back three times a
week. :

Q. Three times a week?
A. (The witness nods her head.)

Q. What would happen the third time?

A. The same thing. IMe would come in and say,
“How do you feel?’’ You know, ‘“Cold all gone?’’ and
they would say ““Yeah.” ¢‘Okay. Take it easy.’”” And
that was it.

@. Okay. But there wouldn’t be any further

physical examination?
A. No.

Q. On his part?
A. No.
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Another abuse involved billing Medicaid and an insurance com-
pany for services rendered to vecipients in conmection with auto
accidents or workmen’s compensation claims,

A medical assistant, secrefary testified as follows:

Q. Do you know of any instances where patients
who were involved in accidents received payments
from the insurgnce company 0r an msurance company
and some of these payments from the insurance com-
pany went to Dy, * % % 9

A. Yes,

@. But Medicaid was also billed for services that
Dy, ¥ * * yendered to these patients?
A. Yes.

Q. What can you tell us about that type of o
situation? How would that work?

A. Well, that patient—we had an invoice card on
the patients. So whenever they came in, we would put
down the date and at the end of the twenty-five ov
thirty treatments, you know, the seeretary wounld type
the bill up and send it into the lawyer. Meanwhile, if
they were on Medicaid, we still had to fill out a form
and submit the form to Medicaid. That’s all,

Because of this ruse, Medicaid monies could not only be paid
to the physician, but also to pharmacies, laboratories and other
providers of care.

The Division should take a hard stand with respect t¢ this double
billing. Any physician submitting claims to Medicaid who also
claims reimbursement for identical services from another third
party payer should be immediately and perwmanently suspended
from the program.

We further suggest that appropriate State and Federal agencies
consider such conduct in connection with possible actions against
professional licenses and eriminal sanctions.

Rather than relying upon the sccuracy of information provided
on the claim sheets or the good faith of hospitals or physicians
in notifying Medicaid of any irquiries indicating the existence of
an insurance claim, we suggest that the Division consider establish-
ing a liaison with a local insurance clearing house. During the
conrse of the investigation the Commission subpeenaed one such
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clearing house for information relevant to Medicaid recipients
treated by suspect physicians for ‘‘trauma.’”’ The clearing house
was quickly able to provide details of treatment and insurance
company payments for which Medicaid was also hilled.

Other common abuses include ping-ponging—the practice
whereby a Medicaid recipient will he seen hy many or all praeti-
tioners in a clinic, and family ganging—the practice under which
covered family members of the patient are seen by facility per-
sonnel without initially requesting medical care. “‘Family gang-
ing’? often occurs when small children accompany a ‘‘Medicaid
mom”’ to a facility.

A medical secretary deseribed the procedure at one office:

Q. Al vight. Did Dr. * * * himself or did Dr. * * *
mstruct personnel in his office to try to get patients
ta bring their children in to him?

A. Well, no. Ie would ask the patient when they
were there—yvou kuow, if the mother had the child
with her, he would, you know, ask her if, you know,
the child had all his baby shots. Thai’s what he hit
them with most, the haby shot bit.  And she would say
nn or something and he would say get a form, fill out
a chart and then we would start with the baby.

Q. And the mother would retwrn with the badby to
get the shots?
A, Um-hum.

Q. And who would give the shols?
A. Me.

Q. Youwould. Would the Doctor see the baby?
A. No, not unless the bahy was sick.
At one facility, ping-ponging to the Dentist-tenant was common.

Q. And do you know who would, if anyone, make
suggestions to the patients that the dentist be seen?
A. Usually Dy, * * %,

Q. Did he ever make that suggestion in front of
you?
A. Yes.

Q. What would he say?
A. Your teeth look bad. I want you to see the
dentist.
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Q. And would he then escort them to the dentist’s
office?
A. Yes, most of the times he would.

Another employee corroborated ping-ponging to the dentists:
Q. Were there any other medical personnel associ-
ated with Dr. * * *2 How about dentists?
A, Dr.***and Dr. * * %,
Q. Al right. And would they come to Dr. * * ¥
office?
A. The office was right behind us. All we had to
do is walk through a hall.
And werc these two dentists i every day?
Yes. Well, they would take furns.

I see. One of them would b present every day?
Yeah.
And how did Dr. * * * refer people to the
dewtmt? Strike that question.
Did Dr. * * * refer his patients to the dentists?
A. Yes.

Q. How would that happen?

A. He would look in their mouths, you know, and
like he would just ask them, ¢“When was the last time
you saw a dentist?’’ And he would send them right
over to them.

Q. Would this be the same day that Dr. * * * saw

the patient?
A. Yeah,

lopopre

At another facility a physician was pressured by the lay owner
to refer patients to other in-house specialists, even for procedures
which did not require services of a specialist:

Q. Al right. Can you give us an idea of the nature
of his advice; what did he suggest or advise you to do?

A. To have, for example, breast sereening done on
more female patients over age thirty.

Q. This would have entailed the services of the
radiologist?
A. Yes.
Q. On the premises?
A. Yes.
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This facility was visited by investigators from the State Com-
mission of Investigation and the United States Senate Select Com-
mittee on Aging who posed as Medicaid recipients. ach of the
three ‘““patients’’ was greeted by a receptionist who extolled the
merits of the facility and the various specialists who practiced
there. Before each of the investigators was examined or even seen
by a physician, the receptionist made appointments for return
visits with the dermatologist, radiologist, podiatrist, gymnecologist,
optometrist and dentist.

At another medical group a physician described pressures to
ping-pong exerted by the lay administrator.

Q. It started

A. When the Group got downstairs which was
approximately May of ’74 and the new office suites
were reacy and the dentist had then come in the area
and there was an optometrist there part time and then
the optometry office was on the other side of the clinic.
When we got downstaivs., I was told to make referrals
to the dentist, to the optometrist, to the obstetrician,
to the gynecologist and also with the orthopedic
doctor who was coming in eventually. And my answer
at that time, I recall, to Mr. * * * was that if T think
it’s medically necessary for this patient to be seen by
the dentist, T will tell him to go to a dentist, but I will
not tell him to go to your dentist. I will not tell him
to go to this eye doctor or that eyve doetor. 1 will ask
him when was the last time your vision was checked
and examine eyes, which is a normal part of my
routine exam.

Q. Okay. Now, you have indicated to us that Ir.
®® X approached you with suggestions that you make
referrals to certain of the other physicians in the
group?

A. That’s right.

Q. Are youw aware of Mr. * * ¥ or any one else
approaching other physicians and making a similar
request for referrals?

A. Yes. I know that he was quite frequently
harassing, I’ll use the word harassing, Dr. * * * to
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make referrals to the gynecologist and eye, ear, nose
and throat specialist or an orthopedic doctor.

Q. Do you have any idea why he requested the re-
ferrals to be made?

A. T assume that he was looking to ping pong his
patients. That’s an assumption—a presumption on
my part, and that he was going to get a percent of the
billing from the particular consultant, which would
increase his income, certainly not mine.

The physician elaimed that these pressures were one reason which
caused him to disassociate himself from the group. The acdmin-
istrator involved allegedly referred to group patients as ‘“warm
bodies”’ and urged physician staffers to ‘‘keep the warm bodies
flowing.’’ A physician pariner was questioned ahout the activity
of the lay administrator:

Q. Doctor, have you ever heard Mr. *** use lhe
term “warm bodies’’ in connection with the patients
at *** Health Group?

A. Iplead the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

P

®. Doctor, have you ever heard 3r. * suggest
to physicians at the *** Health Group that they
should circulate the warm bodies amongst themselves?
A. I plead the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

The lay administrator’s actions apparently did not end at
advising physicians how to practice medicine. One female Medicaid
recipient told of being examined at the facility hy a ““‘physician
who did not wear a white coat.”’

The individual—who also prescribed medication for the recipient
—was positively identified by the recipient as the group’s lay
administrator.

The Commission also discovered it a prevalent practice for
Medicaid recipients to be required to sign claim forms in blank
and prior to having any service rendered. This practice allows
physicians to bill the program for other than sevvices actually
rendered. United States Senate Select Committee on Aging per-
sonnel who assisted the State Commission of Investigation were
required to sign forms in blank virtually at every facility visited.
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A comparison of claims submitted by the facilities for services
allegedly rendered with detailed investigative notes itemizing
services actually rendered showed gross discrepancies in many
cascs, Physicians billed for injections that were not given, for
blood which was not drawn and for urinalysis and tine tests which
were not performed.

The Commission is also concerned with the amount of time spent
with Medicaid patients by physicians. In several facilities visited,
undercover investigators from the United States Senate Special
Committee on Aging reported that physicians would spend only
minutes with them and give the most cursory examination for
which Medicaid was billed $30.00. Such minimal procedures again
do not appear consistent with quality medical care.

Many of the abuses outlined above—extensive use of para-
medical and even lay personnel for duties which are reimbursable
only to physicians, double billing, ping-ponging and family ganging
—can he and are being detected by the Division of Medical
Assistance and IHealth Services through the use of sophisticated
computer sereens and time studies. We commend the Division and
specifically the Bureau of Medical Care Surveillance for the
effectiveness of current methodology. Hxisting computer program
comparsion procedures, however, do not uncover abusive practices
in each and every case, but only when certain factors are present.
To further protect the integrity of the program, we recommend
that the Division obtain and regularly employ the services of
undercover agents who would pose as recipients seeking medical
cave. The Commission found that the use of such agents provided
a quick, reliable and efficient method of uncovering practices
inconsistent with the aims of the Medicaid program. Evidence
gathered by such investigators, who we envision would be assigned
to the Bureau of Medical Care Surveillance, could and should be
aggressively used by the Division in suspension hearings or
passed along for the review of appropriate law enforcement
agencies.

We additionally recommend that facilities performing substan-
tial amounts of Medicaid work be required to disclose to the
Division the names and positions of employees. This information
which, of course, should be updated periodically, will prove helpful
in detecting use of para-professionals in place of physicians. We
would also suggest that the Division consider legitimatizing the
use of qualified medical para-professionals in certain instances.
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Services rendered by such individuals, however, should be paid at
a rate lower than that now designated for physicians.

Lastly, we urge that steps be taken to insure that recipients be
made aware of services billed to Medicaid on their behalf and be
given an opportunity to challenge the accuracy of plhysician
requests for reimbursement. At the very least, a procedure should
be instituted and strietly followed requiring recipients to sign
only completed, itemized claim forms. We further recommend that
recipients be advised of services billed on their behalf, either by a
Division listing of billings periodically through the yvear, or simply
by adding a copy claim form to be given to the recipient by the
physician at the time of service as a ‘‘receipt’’. We anticipate that
costs incurred as a result of the adoption of either of these
proposals would be offset by savings realized from more truthful
billings. Kither procedure would build a sorely needed ‘‘check and
balance’’ into the existing system.

ALLIANCES BETWEEN MILLS AND PHARMACIES

During the course of the investigation, the Commission discov-
ered a number of questionable relationships between pharmacies
and mills. At one location an owner of the pharmacy and a lay
““entrepreneur’’ also ‘‘owned’’ a substantial interest in a medical
center located less than a block away. The pharmacist paid the
salaries of physicians at the Center and subsequently played a
role in determining the ‘‘vent’’ physicians would pay for use of
the facility. According to the pharmacist, Center patients initially
numbered more than 50 a day and rose to the point where they
comprised about a third of his business. We believe this estimate
to be conservative.

According to the pharmacist, Center patients patronized his
store because of convenience. He claimed that the next closest
pharmacy was four blocks away. In order fo determine whether
factors other than convenience were involved, personnel from the
State Commission of Investigation and the United States Senate
Select Committee on Aging visited the subject medical center.
Following an examination, a physician at the Center contacted
the pharmacy by an auntomatic-dial phone and ordered several
presecriptions for a Committee undercover investigator. The Center
receptionist then directed the investigator to the pharmacy to pick
up her medication.
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In another area, a pharmacy and a medical center located direetly
across the street were sold as a ‘‘package’’ to a pharmacist and
a lay person. Initially, physicians at this Center were paid a salary
and subsequently, arrangements changed to a percentage ““rental.’’
The County Medical Society recently objected to the pharmacist
and bis lay partner acting as owners of the Center. Accordingly,
arrangements were made to the end that the Center was ““sold”’
to a physician. The physician now pays rent to a realty company
whose principals are the former owners, a fee for the former
owners to open and close the facility daily, and a fee to the
“former’’ owner’s hrother who acts as facility bookkeeper. In-
vestigators from the State Comunission of Investigation and the
United States Senate Seleet Committee on Aging who visited this
facility were diveeted to the ‘“‘former’’ owner’s nearby pharmacy
for preseriptions.

A comparison of the location of the medical center and that of
the pharmacy rendering service to significant numbers of the
center’s patients may itself suggest impropriety. Surveillance
personnel should closely scrutinize situations where pharmacics
distant from centers provide service to large numbers of center
patients. The Commission was surprised to find one situation
where the majority of one medical facility’s patients were having
thelr prescriptions filled by a pharmacy located some five to cight
miles away, notwithstanding the fact that at least two drugstores
were located within blocks of the office. Prescriptions from the
one facility alone accounted for 55% of the drugstore’s total busi-
ness and 80% of its Medicaid volume.

Investigation disclosed that the pharmacy was once a tenant
of the physician. When the physician relocated in another town,
direct telephone lines were established to the subject pharmacy.
The physician, as well as his registered nurse and Iay office help,
would phone in preseriptions to the pharmacy and the pharmacist
would then type a seript with the relevant information for his
files. Bvidence indicates that the pharmacist would be supplied
with blank prescriptions pre-signed in the physician’s name by
his registered nurse. These blanks were apparently used in vio-
lation of Federal Law to record transactions involving controlled
substances.

The medical facility involved maintained a cardboard hox into
which it placed drug samples left by pharmaceutical salesmen
and medications returned to the physician by patients. According to
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several present and past employees, the pharmacy’s deliveryman
would regularly pick these up. The pharmacy’s deliveryman re-
called picking up only outdated vaccine and specifically denied ever
taking pills and syrups. He recalled picking up samples ounly
between one and three times a year. While the drug store’s em-
ployee maintained that he personally placed the medication in a
trash receptacle, a real possibility exists that these items were
redispensed. In addition to this possibility, the Conunission has
received material from the State Division of Consumer Affairs
indicating that the pharmacy had been billing the Medicaid pro-
gram for expensive brand name drugs while actnally dispensing
cheaper ‘‘look-alike’” generic drugs.

Another abuse involved the short-circuiting of mormal checks
and balances between the pharmacy and recipients. The phar-
macy's deliveryman would take the prescriptions to the facility’s
patients. The Medicaid claim forms acknowledging receipt of and
requesting payment for the medication were not signed by the
recipients. They were pre-signed in the patient’s name by another
pharmacy employee. With such a procedure, there is no need for
the reeipient to cver see the claim form and no way for the
recipient to compare drugs billed on his behalf with drugs actually
received.

All of the facilities and pharmacies mentioned above were in-
volved with others in an ingenious scheme designed to maximize
personal profits. A lay entrepreneur who owned substantial in-
terests in several medical centers handed together with a relatively
small gvoup of physicians, pharmacists and clinical laboratory
operators to form a company which would arrange for laboratory
tests to be performed and repackage and resell relatively inex-
pensive generic drugs under its own brand name. Stockholders
included the physicians who would write preseriptions for their
corporation’s products and lay medical facility owners. With each
prescription and sale, stockholder equity in the corporation in-
creased. Questions of produet quality aside, such a situation raises
grave questions of conflict of interest and temptation to over-
utilize scant Medicaid program funds.

Problems of steering are exacerbated in physician groups having
an on-premises pharmacy. At one facility the in-house pharmacy
‘“rented’’ some 225 sq. ff. of space iuc in excess of $1,050 por
month. Entrance to the pharmacy was via the facility’s door and
wailting room. A plexiglass partition separated the two areas and
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prevented the patient from physically entering the pharmacy.
Employvees of the facility testified that it was the practice of the
lay administrator to approach patients following an examination
and say in IEnglish or in Spanish, ““You can obtain the prescription
at the pharmacy and vou ean wait in the waiting room,”’ or ** Honey,
could you please take your preseription to the pharmacy and then
have a sceat outside.”” Amnother facility emplovee told of instruc-
tions to direct patients to the pharmacy which were given by the
lay administrator,

Q. Would dr. * * * instruct any of the girls or
any of the doctors to send the patients wn to the
pharmacy?

A, Ispecially he told me himself.

Q. Mr.®* 7% told you to send patients to the phar-
nmacy?
A. Right.

Q. That did he tell you?

A. When the pharmaey was open, he go straight
to the lab and he told me that they should tell the
patient to go to the pharmacy to pick up the preserip-
tion.

Q. dnd along willh his instructions, did you tell the
patients to go to the pharmacy?

A. It was in front of the patient and most of the
patients understands a little bit in English.

Q. So you didi’t have to tell them, they heard?
A, Right.

The facility also maintained a double standard as to whether
a charge would be made for injeetable drugs. Private patients
would not be charged for injectables while the taxpayers picked up
the bill for injectables given to Medicaid recipients. An emplovee
described the practice as follows:

Q. Now, Mrs. ***, suppose « Medicaid patient
comes i and he needs an injection of pencillin, TVhat
would happen?

A. Then the doctor give the prescription and the
patient go to the pharmacy. We tell the patient, “‘Get
in the pharmacy, get the needle,’’ you know, hecause
for the patient it’s very easy to tell that way, and
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come back to the lab and I give it, the needle, to the
patient. :

Q. And at the pharmacy would the patient sign a
Medicaid form for the penicillin?
A. Yes, they have to sign.

Q. So Medicaid would be billed for the penicillin
mjection, right?
A. Right.

Q. Now, suppose a private patient came, somebody
who didn’t have Medicaid or Medicare but was going
to pay cash, and suppose the private patient needed
an injection of penicillin. TVhat would happen?

A. Well, we have a salesman supply some samples,
right, and we got some sample, you know, for like we
have 600 dozen units of penicillin and we keep it for
special patient you know, private patient, and we sup-
ply, vou know. Like a doctor do a little favor, save a
little money.

Q. No charge?
A. No charge.

Q. So the Medicaid patients would have to pay for
the penicillin and the other injectables, right?
A. If the doctor order, yes, yes.

The Commission received material from the State Division of
Consumer Affairs indicating that the subject pharmacy short-
weighted or short-counted medications going to Medicaid recip-
ients, Information from the Division of Medical Assistance and
Health Services suggests over-prescribing of vitamins, prepara-
tions and vaporizers.

In apnother pharmacy, which had a direct telephone link to a
doctor’s office, evidence of the following additional abusive prac-
tices came to light: Medicaid recipients were required fo sign
forms in blank and prior to receiving medication; billing Medicaid
for drugs not dispensed; billing Medicaid for drugs covered by the
program and dispensing a drug not so covered; tracing recip-
ients’ signatures from old claim forms onto blank forms and
billing for drugs allegedly supplied to recipients who were
deceased.
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A major step in reducing program costs was taken during the
(‘fommission’s probe by the Division of Medical Assistance and
Health Serviees. Under present regulations, generie rvather than
brand drugs should be presceribed and dispensed whenever possible.
Additional steps can be taken to further reduce abuse and unnec-
essary expenditure of limited program monies., The Division cur-
rently has the computer capability to develop a prescriber profile
on Medicaid program physicians. This program would analyze
preseribing patterns of physicians and display questionable ov
abusive practices. Unfortunately, the profile is not effectively used
because program providers choose not to supply necessary infor-
mation on claim forms. We recommend that the Division assume
a tongh stance on this issue and reject for payment any claims not
containing relevant information.

To facilitate the gathering of information relevant to program
integrity, we suggest that a standard Medicaid multi-copy pre-
seription.claim form be developed. The name of the preseribing
physician conld be pre-stamped on the form. The physician should
list the medication desired and draw a line immediately under the
last item preseribed and personally sign the form. Space can also
be provided for the physician to list a substantiating diagnosis.
A copy can be kept for the physician’s record and the balance
forwarded to the pharmacy via the patient for use as a deseription
of drugs to be dispensed and the pharmacist’s billing invoice.

Fxisting program regulations prohibiting the referral of
patients to a particular pharmacy by physicians shou.d be hroad-
ened to encompass all facility employees and stringently enforced.
It should be made clear to all that the physician may not require
nor may he recommend that a prescription be filled by a particular
pharmacy; nor may his receptionist or any emplovee do =o.
Patients who ask must be reminded of their free choice of phar-
macy. Any liaison—ineluding direet telephonie connection and
common centranceway—between physician and pharmacist should
ereate a presmmption of impropriety. Landlord-tenant and other
relationships between physicians and pharameists should be sub-
jected to speecial serutiny as to pharmaceutical utilization.

Landlord-tenant relationships present wperhaps the greatest
temptation to overutilize pharmacy services. IEven without direct
steering by facility staff, patients are usunally required to pass
the pharmacy entrance to pick up coats or children before arriving
at the public street. The in-house pharmacy truly has a ““captive’
andience. For this reason, the common entranceway should be
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prohibited. Moreover, when a physmlcm or landlord owns a phar-
macy or has a phal‘macv for a tenant, he is induced to take whatever
steps are necessary to sec that the pharmacy succeeds. In-house
pharmacies also present opporvtunity for profit based upon the
precise natuve of inventory kept and the ability to obtain volume
discounts on drugs. We recommend that the Division take these
savings into COllbldGl ation along with the fact that in-lhouse phar-
maecies primarily—if not exclusively—service patients of the
facility and reimburse these pharmacies at a lower institutional
pharmacy Medicaid rate. We furtber suggest that the profes-
sional boards in their licensing schemes take into account the great
potential for overreaching present when pharmacies enter into
financial relationships with physicians located on the same
premises.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Commission has already recommended substantial changes
in program legislation and administrative practices and procedures
in previous 1epolts on nursing homes, independent eclinical
laboratories and hospitals parhmpatmo in the New Jersey Medi-

caid Program. Many of these previous recommendations—such as

those calling for criminal sanclions against kick backs, establish-
ment of a scheme of financial penalties for incidents of fraudulent
conduet, subpena power and accountants for the Division of
Medical Assistance and Health Services, and increased monitoring
of fiscal agent actions—have effect in several wrogram component
areas. e take this opportunity to supplement the record with
recommendations pertinent to the administratio. of the physician
groups aspect of the program.

1. Shared Health Care Facilities receiving subsfontial amounts
of Medicaid funds should be identified and annuallv approved for
program participation by the Division of Medical Assistance and
Health Services. Practitioners rendering service and the facility
at which service is rendered should clearly be identified. We have
reviewed proposals drafted by the Division of Medical Assistance
and Health Serwccs to achieve these goals and concur with their
substance. We pause, however, to add our own suggestions (in
italics) :

D. Prohibited Practices,—Administrative Requirements

1. Pereentage letting prohibited—The rental fee for letting
of space to providers in a shared health care facility or the
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remuneration of providers for services in such facilily shall
not be caleulated wholly or partially, directly or indirectly,
as a percentage of carnings or billings of the provider for
serviees rendered on the premises in which the shared health
care acility is located. A copy of each lease or details of any
agreement between the facility and any provider and any
renewal thereof shall be filed with the Division.

5. The Commission understands that the separate entrance
requirement imposed by this seetion is applicable to in-house
pharmacies.

6. Claims—All provider claims submitted for services ren-
dered at a shared health care facility shall (a) contain the
registration code of the facility at which the service was per-
formed and (b) he personally siened by the praetitioner who
rendered serviee (¢) contain the code number of the physician
wlho rendered the service, (A1) be personally signed by the
patient who received the goods or service.

8. Orders for ancillary clinical services—.All orders issued
by providers for ancillary elinical services, including, but not
limited to, X-rays, clecetrocardiograms, clinical laloratory
services, eleetroencephalograms, as well as orders for medical
supplies and equipment, shall contain the registration code of
the facility at which the ovder was written and the code mumber
of the provider requesting the service or gods. A line shall
be drawn wnder the last pzod or service requested and the
diagnosis justifying the request and requesting providers per-
sonal signature shall be placed below that line.

10. Direct telephonic links between providers is prohibited,

11. Providers shall not order ancillary clinical services from
providers in which they hold « financial interest.

12. Providers shall not submit claims to Medicaid who also
elaim reimbursement for identical services from another third
narty payor. Al Diformation requested concerning possible
third party liability shall be listed on claim forms.

2, We strongly recommend that the Division obtain and regularly
employ the services of undercover agents who would pose as
recipients secking medical cave. Hvidence of improprieties
gathered by these agents could and should be aggressively used in
suspension hearvings or passed along for the review of appropriate
law enforcement agencies.
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3. Medicaid recipients should be made aware of sevvices hilled
to the program on their behalf and be given au opportunity to
challenge the accuracy of physicians reqnests {or reimbursement.

Lastly, and perhaps most importantly, we recommend that there
be constant and close coordination between Division Surveillance
personnel and those responsible for the review and promulgation
of administrative regulations applicable to program providers.
Many of the abuses identified by the S.C.1. were previously found
by surveillance personnel, and passeq along for further action.
Unfortunately, in many instances warnings of potential wide-
spread abuse noticed by the Burcan of Surveillanve and passed
along to others scem to have fallen through the eracks of bureau-
cracy. The Commission notes that conditions have improved and
many aggressive, explicit regulations have been prommigated
during the course of our own investigation by new Division leader-
ship. We fnlly expeet that sunel efforts will continue.

Copies of the investigative vecord compiled by the Commission
in this probe were forwarded to the State Attorney General, the
United States Attorney for the State of New Jersey, the State
Board of Medical Examiners, the State Board of Pharmacy, the
Division of Medical Assistance and Health Services and the State
Legislature for further review and consideration.
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RECOMMENDATIONS, CORRECTIVE STEPS AND
PUBLIC REACTIONS AS A RESULT OF S.C.IL
INVESTIGATIONS

The law creating the Cfommission reguires it to submit to the
Governor and the Legislature an Annual Report ‘“which shall
include its recommendations.”” By this and other appropriate
means, the statute si 74, *‘the C'ommission shall keep the public
informed as to the operations of organized crime, problems of
criminal law enforcement in the state and other activities of the
(‘fommission.”” This section of the Annual Report, therefore,
summarizes S.(".1. recommendations and the legisiative and regula-
tory actions that resulted from the Commission’s activities and
public reactions to the year's work., This report summarizes in
another seelion the ““eollaterval vesults”” of the S.(LLs investiga-
tions in the form of indictments, trials and convictions stemming
from follow-up actions by state, county and local prosceutorial
authorities.

MEDICAID

As noted elsewheve in this report, statutory and regulatory
steps were taken in responsc to the revelations of abuses and
exploitation of the vast Medicaid system of health care for the
indigent following—and even daring—the Commission’s investiga-
tions, interim ceports and public hearings. These actions included
the Legislature’s enactment of a New Jersey Clinical Labovatory
[mprovement Act, which was reviewed in the last report, while
the Commission’s inquiries into the Medicaid maze was still in
progress. More recently, the Legislature approved and Governor
Brendan I Byrne signed into law on September 15, 1976 Assembly
Bill No. 1435, which increases maximum penalties for bilking the
Medieaid program through overbilling and false billing. The
S.CL In ity last Annual Report emphbasized that it “*strongly
supports the concept and substance of this measure and recom-
mends its immediate adoption.”” The new law effectively provides
for the recovery of severe penaliies, including interest on moneys
improperly received, assessments of up to three times the amount
of moneys wronglully paid, and payments of $2,000 for each exces-
sive claim submitted.




After hearing and evaluating the testimony of the witnesses who
appeared during clinical laboratory hearings, the Commission
noted that many of its recommendations were promptly and
expeditiously adopted by the Division of Medical Assistance and
Health Services.

The highly inflated fee schedule-—whieh facilitated the making
of financial inducement type payments from some laboratories to
their physician customers—was reduced 40 per cent. Language
in the program lahovatory manual was tightened to clearly pro-
seribe the practice by whbich small laboratories subcontracted
particular tests to large velerence facilities and then, in many
instances, marked-up the cost by more than 300 per cent and reaped
windfall profits at the taxpaser’s expense. The manual now
explicitly prohibits the hreakdown of automated component-part
tests into sepavate procedures and the submission of hills to
Medicaid for each to the end that a lab might receive between $60
and $80 for a profile which costs less than $3.50 to perform. A
computer system for analyzing and screening group tests was
developed.

The Division took steps to insurc that laboratovies fully identify
the procedures performe” and for which payment is requested.
In this regard, a requirement was imposed upoi Prudential (the
fiscal intermediary) that all claims he itemized in detail. Aggregate
hilling—which was effectively used by some labs to mask improper
requests for reimbursement—is no longer tolevated.

The Division adopted a hard line with respect to the flow of
inducement type payvments in any form whatever between labora-
tories and physician customers. The relevant and expanded
Medicaid program rule reads as follows:

205.1 Rebates Dby rveference laboratories, service
laboratories, physicians or other ultilizers or pro-
viders of laboratory service arve prohibited under the
Medicaid program, This refers to rebates in the form
of refunds, discounts of kickbacks, whether in the
form of mouney, supplies, equipment, or other things
of value. This provision prohibits laboratories from
renting space or providing personnel or other con-
siderations to a physician, or other practitioner
whetker or not a rebate is involved.
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The Division cured a glaving weakness by obtaining for its
surveillance staff a person with expertise in elinical laboratory
processes and procedure. During its investigation, the Commis-
sion had available to it the expertise of personnel assigned to
the State Department of Health’s Division of Laboratories and
Epidemiology. Because of their technological backgrounds, these
State employees were able to readily identify many program
abuses and make valid judements as to the quality of care being
provided to Medicaid patients by wvarvious lahorvatory facilities.
The Division of Medical Assistance and Health Services now has
similar capabilities.

One problem area which surfaced duwring the hearings involved
the lack of direet and constant supervision over the fiseal infer-
mediary by the Division. While the (‘ommission is aware that
liaison between the fiscal intermediary and the Division is main-
tained primarily through periodic contractor meetings, we believe
it desirable to have a Division representative stationed at the
contractor’s office to censtantly monitor its State Medicaid pro-
cedures,

The (‘ommission recommended that a panel be formed to draft
an equitable competitive bid system for laboratory work based
upon awards of a regional nature. In furtherance of this recom-
mendation, the Commission testified against impractical restric-
tions of federal law before several Congressional bodies.

The New Jersey Legislature must provide additional new statu-
tory tools to deal with problema decumented in the Commission’s
laboratory hearings. To deter the flow of financial inducement
type payments from laboratories tc physicians—whether in private
or government-funded program situations—appropriate criminal
sanctions should be cenacted. Sueh a statute might be modeled
upon sections 650 and 652 of the California Business and Profes-
sional Code, which makes the offering, delivering, receiving, accept-
ing or participating in financial inducement type payments a
misdemeanor puunishable by six months imprisonment and/or a
fine not exceeding $500.

At the conelusion of the second phase of the (‘ommission’s prebe
of gross profiteering in medicaid nursing home faeilities in October,
1976 the Commission urged that Senate Bill 594, requiring full
public disclosure of those who have financial or other business
interest in nursing homes, be substantially strengthened to elim-
inate practices that siphoned health care dollars from patients to
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speculators. This bill, which had passed in the Senate on April
12, 1976, subsequently was amended on the Assembly floor in
accor dancc with the S.C.I.°s recommendations, according to a
spokesmcm for the Legislature’s Joint Nursing Home Study Com-
mission which drafted the or iginal legislation. Tho revised measure
has been on second reading in the Absembly, awaiting a floor vote.

Additionally, subsequent to the issuance of its I'inal Report on
Nursing Homes, the Commission persisted in its efforts to have
New Jersey’s system of property cost reimbursement to Medicaid
nursing homes restructured along the lines suggested by the Com-
mission in that report. Commission representatives met on several
occasions with high-ranking officials of the appropriate admin-
istrative agencies. Those agencies have accepted the Commission
T ecommcndauon which will show a savings of as much as $6 million
per vyear, accmdmg to the Director of the Division of Medical
Resistence and Health Services, and are presently implementing
its initial stages.

Certain nnusually alarming aspects of the Commisison’s comn-
plicated Medicaid inquiry, such as the so-called eclinical laboratory
““chambers of horror’’ and the evils of the ““‘medicaid mills,”’
helped to spur corrective cfforts. In fact, the clinical lahoratory
phase was a pioneering probe that revealed for the first time the
hard facts about unscrupulous ripoffs of the system. These dis-
closures resulted in the appearance before the U.S. Senate Cfom-
mittee on Aging and the U.S. House of Representatives Sub-
committee on Oversight and Investigation of Frank L. Holstein,
the Commission’s HExecutive Director, and former Commission
Counsel Anthony G. Dickson. They testified ahout the S.C.1. prohe
and the scandals it unearthed. U.S. Senator Harrison A. Williams
of New Jersey, reporting his ““dismay’ over the ‘‘widespread
fraund and abuse among clinical laboratories,”’ told the Senate in
remarks entered into the Clongressional Record:

““With respect to the latter, I am pleased to note that the Aging
Committee gives great credit to the New Jersey Commission of
Investigation and to our New Jersey Departnient of Institutions
and Agencies (now Department of Human Services). The Legisla-
ture and the Department responded with prompt implementation
of corrective measures. At an Aging Committec hearing in
February, Frank Holstein of the S. OI explained how the (fom-
mission had conducted a sweeping investigation last year and
documented the practice of offering kmkbac]\s to acquire accounts,
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documented gross overutilization of some laboratory services by
physicians receiving kickbacks and indicated a practice defined as
anconscionable profiteering by small laboratories, brokering
services and other billing for services not performed.”’

THE PRrISON SYSTEM

At the conclusion of public hearings in May and June, 1976 on
the dangerous misuse o° the pre-parole furlough system in the
prisons, the Commission issued a statement of conclusions and
recommendations in which it declared:

“The public should understand that, unless public funds are
forthcoming to expand prison facilities and adequately staff them,
there can be no total cure for the ills of the system. The public
must not lahor under a false sense of security that those dangerous
to society arc firmly incarcerated because the reality is that cor-
rections institutional space in New Jersey remains static while
the number of those being incarcerated is inereasing sharply.”

Since that observation, the Legislature and the Governor joined
to authorize a public referendum in November, 1976 on a $225
million bond issue program for capital construction. Part of this
program provided $80 million for institutions, including new cor-
rectional facilities. This bond issue received overwhelming public
approval and, with legislative authorization, is now being imple-
mented.

At the close of the hearings on the prison furlough scandal, the
Commission also noted that New Jersey’s corrections system ‘‘is
operated on a dav-to-day basis adjusting from one crisis to
another,”” that there has been a ““severe breakdown of effective
conununications, including gunidelines, among the many agencies
that in some manner relate to the correctional system,’’ and that
planning should be initiated ‘“so that the existing correctional
svstem can be brought into the realities of 1976 and not merely
continue as a historical hand-me-down system that simply is not
performing to the standavds requived.”

Since those S.(LI. comments, the Legislature enacted a pro-
posal by the Governor that restructured the sprawling Institu-
tions and Agencies Department into a Department of Hwman
Services and a Department of Corrections, effective in October,
1976 when the Governor signed the legislation into law. The Com-
mission is gratified that this important remedial move foward an
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improved corrections system at least in part reflects its own in-
vestigations into abuses of the former syvstem. As the Cfommis-
sion has emphasized publicly, its probe and hearings were aided
substantially by the contributions of Ann Klein, the former Com-
missioner of Institutions and Agencies who is now Commisisoner
of Human Services, and Robert J. Muleahy 3d, the former Deputy
Commissioner of Institutions who is now the Commissioner of
Corrections.

In addition to these legislative reforms and regulatory re-
straints by the administrators that followed the Commission’s in-
quiry into furlough abuses in the prisons, a series of indictments
and arrests resulted affer the Commission referred its facts and
public hearing transcripts to the Attorney Gemneral and other
appropriate prosecuting authorities, which are reviewed in the
‘‘collateral results’’ seection of this report.

In an editorial on New Jersey’s changing corvection system, the
Trenton Times stated on November 7, 1976:

““New Jersey’s much-troubled prison system ig off
on a new, and we hope better, course. There’s a new,
separate Department of Corrections, whose top
administrators mno longer have their attention
diverted by welfare and mental health problems and
whose offices are being centralized at the Old State
Home for Girls. There’s a new commissioner Robert
Muleahy. And there’s some $20 million in newly-
voted Dbonding authority with which to provide
facilities for about 400 inmates.

“Those developments are all to the good. They
aren’t going to solve all the prison problems, whose
immensity was suggested in five days of public hear-
ings held last spring by the State Commission of In-
vestigation (SCI). But they're a start.”

(GREEN ACRES APPRAISALS

Since the completion of the S.C.I’s investigation and public
hearings into inflated appraisals of land acquived in Middlesex
County under the Green Acres program, the Commission has been
advised by Commissioner David J. Bardin of the Department of
Environmental Protection (DEP) on the progress of the land
appraisal review agreement it voluntarily negotiated with the New

230




Jersey Department of Transportation (DOT). The New Jersey
DOT thus is now controlling all local and county Green Acre
appraiscl work as strongly recommended by the Commission. On
December 18, 1976 Commisisoner Bardin informed Joseph H.
Rodriguez, chairman of the Commission, that move than 120 county
and municipal applicants for Green Acres funds, once supervised
by DEP, “‘have initiated DOT appraisal review procedures.’’

With respect to this S.00.1. inquiry, the Star Ledger of Newark
commented editorially -~ July 15, 1976 that the Commission had
“risely?? recommended that the State DOT assume the appraisal
task, stating:

“The Administrative change tacitly acknowledges
the bull’s-eye accuracy of the S.(.I. condemnation
of the deplorable practices that flourished under
DEP supervision.”

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The S.CI. has for a number of vears strongly urged the
Governor and the Legislature to enact a tongh conflicts of intevest
law to apply to all county and municipal officials and to bhe
administered on a uniform statewide basis. This concern has
been heightened by the C'ommission’s various investigations since
1969 of official corruption and wuethical conduct at the county and
municipal level, including the 1974 publie hearings on the govern-
ment of the Borvough of Lindenwold.

A Dbill is pending in the Legislature which meets the eriteria
set forth in S.C.I. recommendations and the Commission trusts,
as in the casec of the state conflicts of interest law, that the legiti-
mate public-interest demands of the people of the state will be
met by enactment of this measure.

OTHER PRIOR ACTIONS INCLUDED — —

Pseudo-Charitable Appeals (1974): Legislation designed to
carry out S.C.I. recommendations for barring deceitful sales ap-
peals in the name of the allegedly handicapped by profit-making
companies was introduced in an effort to provide needed consumer
protection against wnserupulous practices harmful to individuals
and the fund-raising efforts of legitimate charities. The Governor
on [February 3, 1977 signed into law a major bill requiving the
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approval of the attormey general for the use of such terms as
“handicapped’ or “blind’’ by any corporation or solicitation firm.

Workmen’'s Compensation System (1973-74): Major reforms,
many specifically recommended by the S.C.I. and/or obviously
aimed at stopping abuses exposed by the S.C.I., were accomplished
by rules changes promulgated by the Labor and Industry depart-
ment. Additionally, a bill recommended by the S.C.I. was enacted
into law to prevent more effectively false medical billing practices
which, investigation showed, were used by some to inflate com-
pensation and negligence claims. Further proposed legislation to
reform the workmen’s compensation is pending.

Point Breeze (Jersey City) development fraud (1970): Two
bills which carry out S.C.I. recommendations from this probe were
enacted into law. One improved the urban renewal process and
the other tightened statutory provisions to prevent a purchascr of
publicly owned lands from receiving any part of the brokerage fee
attendant on such a purchase.

The Garbage Industry (1969): Due to growing monopolistic
trends in the industry, the S.C.I. recommended a statewide ap-
proach to control of the industry. The substance of the S.C.I.’s
recommnendations was encompassed in subsequently cnacted state
laws for regulation of the solid waste industry.

% % E F

Finally, the Commission recomends enactment of certain pro-
posed laws that will greatly increase its ability to serve the public
as mundated by the law that established the agency in 1969.

Approval is urged of Senate Bill 1526, which would make the
S, a permanent agencey as recommended by the Governor’s
Committee to Evaluate the S.C.I. This measure, cosponsored hy
Senators John A. Lynch, Middlesex Democrat, and Raymond H.
Bateman, Somerset Republican, also carries out other recom-
mendations of the S.C.I. study committee headed by the late Chief
Justice Joseph Weintraub. It would require prior public hearing
notice to the Attorney General and appropriate county prosecutors,
strengthen the criminal contempt penaltics for rofusal to testify
under the Commission’s witness immunity process and provide for
staggered terms of the commissioners.

The Commission rencws its endorsement of Assembly Bill 1407.
This measure, which has been in a position for a roll call since
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May, 1976, would restorve to the Chalrman of the Commission the
power to authorize cu.asensual electronie surveillance that he had
before the act was amended in 1975, when that authority was
inadvertently climinated. Attorney General William F. Hyland's
office has urged enactment of this legislation to protect the S.C.I.’s
independence and the integrity of its investigations.

e
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COLLATERAL RESULTS FROM S.C.I
INVESTIGATIONS

Under judicial interpretations of its statute, the Commission
is an independent public exposure, fact-inding ageney. As such
it has no accusatory, prosecutorial or penalty-imposing powers.
Tlowever, the drafters and enactors of the S.C.I statute recognized
that in directing the Commission to investigate and expose wrong-
doing in such arcas as organized crime, full and effective enforee-
ment of laws, conduct of public officials and the state of public
justice, the Commission wounld frequently come upon evidence of
eriminal violations. Accordingly, the S.C.I. statute dirvects the
Commission to vefer any possible criminal law violations to
prosecutorial authorities. I'rom time to time the Commission has
made such referrals, which are reviewed below. The Commission
defines any indictments and convictions resulting from such
referrals as ““collateral results’’ of the Commission’s efforts which
are in addition to the Commission’s primary thrust—making
recommendations for and urging implementation of statutory and
regulatory corrvections to improve public laws and governmental
operations.

ALLEGED MEDICAID CRIMES

A flow of criminal indictments is mounting to a large extent
as a result of S.C.I. referrals to Attorney General William F.
Hyland’s office of evidence and public hearing transeripts stem-
ming from the Commission’s Medicaid investigations.

According to the Division of Criminal Justice, a number of
indictments await trial in a joint state-federal action against a
clinieal laboratory, three corporations, a lahoratory owner and a
laboratory business manager. The state indietments charge medi-
caid fraud and related tax frauds. In January, 1977 a doctor, his
son, the administrator of three nursing homes in Passaic County,
dnd an accountant were convicted of cheating the state Medicaid
program out of $132,000. Their tostimony led to an investigation
of alleged payment of bribes to lahor union officials. Four other
doctors have heen convicted in other Medicaid fraud cases. Still
pending are ceriminal complaints against 14 doctors and dentists

234




and two professional partnerships that resulted from questions
referred to the State Tax Division by the Commission’s Special
Agents,/Accountants as to whether or not substantial business
incone from Medicaid was being reported under the unincorporated
business tax laws. The complaints by Attorney General Iyland’s
office allege that the defendants failed to file reports on $2.7 million
in business income over a three-vear period.

PrisoN “FURLCUGHS"

The Attorney General announced in January, 1977 the indictment
by the State Grand Jury of five former inmates of Leeshurg State
Prison on charges of escape in conneetion with alleged fraudulent
obtaining of furloughs from the prison. Criminal Justice Division
Director Robert J. Del Tufo said the indietments stemmed from
the S.C.I.’s probe into the operation of the work release, furlough
and parole programs in the prisons. Del Tufo charged the five
defendants “‘brought”’ furloughs from fellow inmates who had
heen utilized as clerks by the prison svstem to process forms,
records and other paper work that enabled inmates to qualify for
furloughs.

In December, 1976 the State Grand Jury indicted a since-dis-
missed clerk at Trenton State Prison on one count of false swearing
and three counts of perjury as a result of testimony elicited from
her on circumstances related to prison furlough abuses during the
Cfomimission’s private and public hearings.

The Criminal Justice Division’s investigation of irregularities in
the parole and furlough svstems in the prisons is continuing.

LAND “APPRAISALS”

The Middiesex Grand Jury in July, 1976 conducted an investiga-
tion into the conduet of the Middlesex County Land Acquisition
Department and its former Administrator, Nathan DuBester, as
a result of allegations raised during public hearings by the S.C.L
in January, 1976. On September 27, 1976 the County Grand Jury
returned a presentment in whieh it said that while it found ““no
provable affirmative criminal act’’ by DuBester as the depaxt-
ment’s Administrator, ‘it does feel that his actions in that capacity
indicated an insufficient expertise and lack of concern to perform
his office in the best interests of the citizens of Middlesex County.”’
The Grand Jury also noted that DuBester solicited and collected
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political contributions from the same people with whom he dealt as
departmental administrator. The inquest declared:

““This mixing of his public function with individual
polities created an unhealthy atmosphere which in
turn led to actions which if not improper within the
law, certaiuly gave the appearance of impropriety.
Since the individual who effectively awarded the
contracts which formed the livelihood of the land
appraisers requested contributions, there was created
an implicit coercion, even if only in the minds of the
contributors. Such a condition in no way serves the
public interest.”

The Grand Jury’s presentment said that, although ‘‘since the
public hearings of the State Commission of Investigation in
January, 1976 the I'reeholders of Middlesex County have already
taken substantial corrective actions,” it urged in addition that
the office of Tand Acquisition Department Administrator by
“‘completely disassociated’’ from solicitation and collection of
political contributions and also that ““all of the county officials who
control the award of contracts be forbidden from soliciting con-
tributions from individuals over whom they have the power to
award contracts.” The presentment also recommended that the
post of departmental Administrator be filled on a nonpartisan
basis.

LINDENWOLD OFFICIALS INDICTED

After holding public hearings in December, 1974 on corrupt and
unethical practices related to land developments in Tindenwold
(which resulted in the overthrow of the controlling regime in the
horough) the Commission referred the records of that investigation
to the State Criminal Justice Division. Subsequently, during 1975,
a State Grand Jury indicted two former Lindenwold Mayvors,
William J. MceDade and George LaPorte, on charges which ineludecd
soliciting a bribe from a land developer, misconduct in office and
perjury. Former Lindenwold Borough Treasurer Arthur W,
Scheid was also indicted by the same jury on a charge of soliciting
a bribe from a land developer. In announcing the indictments, the
State Attorney General’s Office stated that the S.C.I.’s referral
was the springboard for its investigation. The indietments arc
approaching trial.
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ATTORNEYS CHARGED IN FRAUD INDICTMENT

The (fommission’s 1973 public heavings on abuses of Work-
men’s Compensation included extensive testimony and supporting
exhibits relative to the practies of the then Woodbridge law firm
of Rabh and Zeitler of allegedly obtaining phony medical treat-
ment statements to inflate both compensation and negligence
claims and, thereby, inerease cither compensation awards or negli-
gence suit settlements. The data from this investigation was
veforred to prosecutorial authorities, and in October, 1975 an
Tissex Clounty Grand Jury returned indictments charging attor-
neys Richard J. Zeitler and William K. Rabb and their law firm’s
business manager, Charles Haus, with conspirving with two doctors
and others to submit false and fraudnlent medical reports to
insarance companics. Subsequently, the main indictment against
the trio was dismissed but a sceond indictment aguainst Zeitler
charging conspiracy to obtain money under false pretenses was
allowed to stand. However, an dppeal was filed from the dismissal
of a petition to throw out the second indictment. Fssex authorities
later, after being deputized in Middlesex (founty, obtained a seven-
count indistment from a Middlesex Grand Jury.

The same public hearings on Workmen’s Compensation dwelled
in part on how a then J 11(10'0 of Compensation, Alfred P. D’Auria,
had constantly had his lunches paid for by attornevs practmmg
before him and also had a Christmas party given him and his
Jar Association dues paid for him by attorneys practicing hefare
him. Ile was given a dlb(‘LUhll{HY suspension after the hearing and
later retived. In Maveh, 1975, the New J ersey State Supreme C‘ourt
suspended D’Auria from law practice for six months.

PAssaic ScHooL OFFICIAL CONVICTED

rP

)

he Commission’s 1973 public hearings on the purchasing prac-
{ices of the Passaie County Vocational and Teehnical High School
in Wayne centered in large part on certain activities by that
school’s Business Manager and Purchasing Agent, Alex Smollock.
After veferral of data from this probe to the State Criminal
Justice Division, a State Grand Jury indicted Mr. Smolleck on
charges of taking nearly $40,000 in kickbacks between 1968 and
1972, After trial in Superiov Court, Iissex County, in January,
1976, Mr. Smollock was convicted of nine counts of accepting
bribes in connection with the $40,000 in kickback payments. He
was sentenced to one to three years in state prison and fined $9,000.
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ForMER BuiLpiNGg INsPECTOR FINED

After its 1971 public hearings on the development of the Point
Breeze arvea of Jersey City, the Commission referred the records
of that probe to prosecutorial authorities. A Tudson County
Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Timothy Grossi, a
former Jersey City building inspector, with extorting $1,200 from
an official of the Port Jersey Corp. and obtaining money under
false pretenses. During 1975 he was convicted of obtaining money
under false pretenses and fined $200 and given a six-month sus-
pended sentence.

FINES PAID IN ANTI-TRUST ACTION

The Commission’s 1970 investigation and public hearings on
restraint-of-trade and other abusive practices in the building
service maintenance industry in New Jersey aroused the interest
of the United States Senate Commerce Committee which invited
S.C.I. staffers to testify at its 1972 public hearings on organized
crime in interstate commerce. As a result of that testimony, the
Anti-Trust Division of the United States Justice Department, with
assistance from the S.C.I. launched an investigation into an asso-
ciation which allocated territories and customers to various meni-
ber building service maintenance companies in New Jersey. In
May, 1974, a Federal Grand Jury in Trenton indicted 12 companics
and five company officials for conspiring to shut out competition
in the industry. The companies were the same as those mentioned
m the S.C.1.’s public hearings. The companies and officials pleaded
no contest to the charges during 1975 and were fined a total
of $225,000 and given suspended prison sentences.
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APPENDIX I

STATE COMMISSION OF INVESTIGATION
New Jersey Statutes Annotated 52:9M-1, F¢ Seq.

L. 1968, C. 266, as amended by L. 1969, C. 67, 1. 1970, C. 263, and
1..1973, C. 238.

52:9M~-1. Creation; members; appointment; chairman; terms;
salaries; vacancies. There is hereby created a temporary state
commission of investigation. The commission shall consist of 4
members, to be known as commissioners.

Two members of the commission shall be appointed by the
governor, one by the president of the senate and one by the speaker
of the general assembly, each for 5 years. The governor shall des-
ignate one of the members to serve as chairman of the commission.

The members of the commission appointed by the president of
the senate and the speaker of the gencral assembly and at least one
of the members appointed by the governor shall be attorneys ad-
mitted to the bar of this state. No member or employee of the com-
mission shall Liold any other public office ov public employment. Not
more than 2 of the members shall belong to the same political party.

Ilach member of the commission shall receive an annual salary
of $15,000.00 and shall also be enfitled to reimbursement for his
expenses actually and necessarily incurred in the performance of
his duties, including expenses of travel outside of the state.

Vacancies in the commission shall be filled for the uncxpired
term in the same manner as original appointments. A vacancy in
the commission shall not impair the right of the remaining mem-
bers to exercise all the powers of the commission.

52:9M-2. Duties and powers. The commission shall have the
duty and power to conduct investigations in connection with:

a. The faithful execution and effective enforcement of the laws
of the state, with particular reference but not limited to organized
crime and racketeering.

b. The conduct of public officers and public employees, and of
officers and employees of public corporations and authorities;
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c. Any matter concerning the public peace, public safety and
public justice.

52:90-3. ddditional duties. At the direction of the governor
or by concurrent resolution of the legislature the commission shall
conduct investigations and otherwise assist in conmnection with:

a. The removal of public officers by the governor;

b. The making of recommeniations by the governor to any other
person or body, with respect to the removal of public officers;

c. The making of recommendations by the governor to the legis-
lature with respect to changes in or additions to existing provisions
of law required for the more effective enforcement of the law.

52:98]—4. Investigation of management or affairs of state de-
partment or agency. At the direction or request of the legislature
by concurrent resolution or of the governor or of the head of any
department, board, bureau, commission, authority or other agency
created by the state, or to which the state is a party, the commis-
sion shall investigate the management or affairs of any such
department, board, bureau, commission, authority or other ageney.

52:9M~5. Cooperation with law enforcement officials. TUpon
request of the attorney general, a county prosecutor or any other
law enforcement official, the commission shall cooperate with,
advise and assist them in the performance of their official powers
and duties.

52:9M~6. Cooperation with federal government. The commis-
sion shall cooj.>rate with departments and officers of the United
States government in the investigation of vivi«tions of the federal
laws within this state.

52:9M-7. Eramination into law enforcement affecting other
states. The commission shall examine into matters relating to law
enforcement extending across the boundaries of the state into other
states; and may consult and exchange information with officers and
agencies of other states with respect to law enforcement problems
of mutual concern to this and other states.

52:90-8. Reference of evidence to other officials. Whenever it
shall appear to the commission that there is cause for the prosecu-
tion for a crime, or for the removal of a public officer for miscon-
duct, the commission shall refer the evidence of such crime or mis-
conduct to the officials authorized to conduct the prosecution or to
remove the public officer.
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52:9M-9. Executive director; coumsel; employees. The com-
mission shall be authorized to appoint and employ and at pleasure
remove an executive director, counsel, investigators, accountants,
and such other persons as it may deem necessary, without regard
to civil service; and to determine their duties and fix their salaries
or compensation within the amounts appropriated therefor. In-
vestigators and accountants appointed by the commission shall be
and have all the powers of peace officers.

52:9M-10. Annual report; recommendations; other reports.
The commission shall make an annunal report to the governor and
legislature which shall include its recommendations. The commis-
sion shall make such further interim reports to the governor and
legislature, or either thereof, as it shall deem advisable, or as shall
be required by the governor or by concurrent resolution of the
legislature.

52:9M-11. Information to public. By such means and to such
extent as it shall deem appropriate, the commission shall keep the
public informed as to the operations of organized crime, problems
of criminal law enforcement in the state and other activities of the
commission.

52:90-12. Additional powers; warrant for arrest; contempt of
court. 'With respect to the performance of its functions, duties and
powers and subject to the limitation contained in paragraph d. of
this section, the commission shall be authorized as follows:

a. To conduct any investigation authorized by this act at any
place within the state; and to maintain offices, hold meetings and
function at any place within the state as it may deem necessary;

b. To conduct private and public hearings, and to designate a
member of the commission to preside over any such hearing;

e. To administer oaths or affirmations, subpena witnesses,
compel their attendance, examine them under oath or affirmation,
and require the production of any books, records, documents or
other evidence it may deem relevant or material to an investiga-
tion; and the commission may designate any of its members or
any member of its staff to exercise any such powers;

d. Unless otherwise instructed by a resolution adopted by a
majority of the members of the commission, every witness attend-
ing before the commission shall be examined privately and the
commission shall not make public the particulars of such examina-
tion. The commission shall not have the power to take testimony
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at a private hearing or at a public hearing unless at least 2 of
its members are present at such hearing.

e. Witnesses summoned to appear before the commission shall be
entitled to receive the same fees and mileage as persons summoned
to testify in the courts of the state.

If any person subneenaed pursuant to this section shall negleet
or refuse to obey the command of the subpeena, any judge of the
superior court or of a county court or any municipal magistrate
may, on proof by affidavit of service of the subpeena, payment or
tender of the fees required and of refusal or negleet by the person
to obey the command of the subpwena, issue a warrvant for the arrest
of said person to bring him hefore the judge or magistrate, who is
authorized to proceed against such person as for a contempt of
court.

52:9M~13. Powers and duties unaffected. Nothing contained
in sections 2 through 12 of this act [chapter] shall be construed to
supersede, repeal or limit any power, duty or function of the
governor or any department or agenecy of the state, or any political
subdivision thercof, as prescribed or defined by law.

52:9M-14. Request and receipt of assistance. The commission
may request and shall receive from every department, division,
board, hureau, commission, authority or other agency created by
the state, or to which the state is a party, or of any political sub-
division thereof, cooperation and assistance in the performance of
its duties.

52:9M-15. Disclosure forbidden; statements absolutely priv-
ileged. Any person conducting or participating in any examina-
tion or investigation who shall disclose to any person other than
the commission or an officer having the power to appoint one or
more of the commissioners the name of any witness examined, or
any information obtained or given upon such examination or in-
vestigation, except as directed by the governor or commission, shall
be adjudged a disorderly person.

Any statement made by a member of the commission or an em-
ployee thereof relevant to any proceedings before or investigative
activities of the commission shall be absolutely privileged and such
privilege shall be a complete defense to any action for libel or
slander.

242




52:9M-16. Impounding exhibits; action by superior court.
Upon the application of the commission, or a duly authorized mem-
ber of its staff, the superior court or a judge thereof may impound
any exhibit marked in evidence in any public or private hearing
held in connection with an investigation conducted by the commis-
sion, and may order such exhibit to be retained by, or delivered to
and placed in the custody of, the commission. When so impounded
such exhihits shall not be taken from the custody of the commission,
except upon further order of the court made upon 5 days’ notice to
the commission or upon its application or with its consent.

52:9M-17. Immuwity; order; notice; effect of immunity. a. If,
in the course of any investigation or hearing conducted by the com-
mission pursuant to this act [chapter], a person refuses to answer
a question or questions or produce evidence of any kind on the
ground that he will be exposed to criminal prosecution or penalty
or to a forfeiture of his estate thereby, the commission may order
the person to answer the question or questions or produce the
requested evidence and confer immunity as in this section provided.
No order to answer or produce evidence with immunity shall he
made except by resolution of a majority of all the members of the
commission and after the at{orney geneval and the appropriate
county prosecutor shall have been given at least 24 hours written
notice of the commission’s infention to issue such order and
afforded an opportunity to be heard in respect to any objections
they or either of them may have to the granting of immunity.

b. If upon issuance of such an order, the person complies there-
with, he shall be immune from having such responsive answer given
by him or such responsive evidence produced by him, or evidence
derived therefrom used to expose him to criminal prosecution or
peaalty or to a forfeiture of his estate, except that such person
muay nevertheless be prosecuted for any perjury committed in such
answer or in producing such evidence, or for contempt for failing
to give an answer or produce in accordance with the order of the
commission; and any such answer given or evidence produced shall
be admissible against him upon any criminal investigation, pro-
ceeding or trial against him for such perjury, or upon any investi-
gation, proceeding or trial against him for such contempt.

52:9M-18. Severability; effect of partial wnvalidity. If any
section, clause or portion of this act [chapter] shall be unconstitu-
tional or be ineffective in whole or in part, to the extent that it is
not unconstitutional or ineffective it shall be valid and effective and
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no other section, clause or provision shall on account thereof he
deemed invalid or ineffective.

52:9M-19. There is hereby appropriated to the Commission the
sum of $400,000.

52:90-20. This act shall take effect immediately and remain
in effect until December 31, 1979.
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AprpPENDIX II

MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION

The Commission’s activities have been under the direction of
Joseph I1. Rodriguez who in December, 1973, was appointed to be
a Commissioner and Chairman by then Governor William T, C'ahill.
The other Commissioners are Thomas R. Farley, Stewart G.
Pollock and Lewis B, Kaden,

Mr. Rodriguez, of Cherry Hill, took his oath of office as (fom-
missinner and Chairman in January 1974. A graduate of I.aSalle
(Colleze and Rutgers University Law School, he was awarded an
Homnorary Doctor of Laws Degree by Seton 1Hall University in the
Spring of 1976, by Rutgers University in 1974 and by St. Peter’s
(‘ollege in 1972. Mr. Rodriguez was a member of the Board of
Directors of the (‘amden Housing Improvement Project during
1967-71. He was appointed to the State Board of Higher Kduca-
tion in 1971 and the next year was elected Chairman of that agency
which oversces the operation and growth of the state colleges and
wniversity. Mr. Rodriguez resigned that Chairmanship to accept
his appointment to the C'ommission. He is a partner in the law
firm of Brown, (‘onnery, Kulp, Willie, Purnell and Greene, in
(‘famden. He is First Viee President for 1976-77 of the New Jersey
State Bar Association.

A, Farley, of West Orange, took his original oath of office as a
(‘ommissioner in March, 19738 following his appointment to the
(‘fommission by then Speaker of the State Assembly Thomas H.
Kean. A graduate of the University of Notre Dame and Rutgers
University Law School, Mr. Farley served as an ISssex (founty
Frecholder during 1968-70 and as Kssex (‘founty Surrogate in 1971
He has been an instruetor in insurance finance courses at Ruteers
University and St. Peter’s College. His law firm, Farley and Rush,
has offices in Kast Orange.

Mr. Pollock, of Mendham, took his oath of office as Commissioner
in May, 1976 after his appointment to the Commission by Senate
President Matthew Feldman., A graduate of Hamilton College
and the New York University School of Law, M. Pollock served
as Assistant United States Attorney for New Jersey during 1958-60.
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A former Trustee of the College of Medicine and Deuntistry of
New Jersey, Mr. Pollock served as a Commissioner of the New
Jersey Department of Public Utilities during 1974-76. He is a part-
ner in the law firm of Schenck, Price, Smith and King, Morristown,
having been associated with that firm since 1960 exeept for the
period he served as a Public Utilities Commissioner.

Mr. Kaden, of Perth Amboy, was sworn in as a (‘ommissioner
in July, 1976 following bis appointment by Governor Brendan T.
Byrne. A graduate of Harvard College and Havvard Law Sehool,
he was the John Howard Scholar at Cambridge TUniversity,
England, Until January, 1974 he was a partner in the law firm of
Battle, Fowler, Stokes and Kheel in New York City. From 1974
to July, 1976, he was Couusel to Governor Byrne. Mr. Kaden ix
now Professor of law at Columbia University, and active as a labor
arbitrator and mediator.
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APrPENDIX III

CODE OF FAIR PROCEDURE

Chapter 376, Laws of New Jersey, 1968, N. J. S. 52:13E-1
to 52:131-10.

An Act establishing a code of fair procedure to govern state
investigating agencies and providing a penalty for certain viola-
tions thereof.

Be it enacted by the Senate and General Assembly of the State
of New Jersey:

1. As used in this act:

(a) ““Agency’’ means any of the following while engaged in an
investigation or inquiry: (1) the Governor or any person or per-
sons appointed by him acting pursuant to P. L. 1941, ¢. 16, s. 1
(C. 52:15-7), (2) any temporary State commission or duly autho-
rized committee thereof having the power to require testimony or
the production of evidence by subpoena, or (3) any legislative
committee or commission having the powers set forth in Revised
Statutes 52:13-1.

(b) ““Hearing’’ means any hearing in the course of an investi-
gatory proceeding (other than a preliminary conference or inter-
view at which no testimony is taken under oath) conducted before
an agenecy at which testimony or the production of other evidence
may be compelled by subpena or other compulsory process.

(¢) ““Public hearing’’ means any hearing open to the public, or
any hearing, or such part thereof, as to which testimony or other
evidence is made available or disseminated to the public by the
agency.

(d) ““Private hearing’’ means any hearing other than a public
hearing.

2. No person may bhe required to appear at a hearing or to
testify at a hearing unless there has been personally served upon
him prior to the time when he is requived to appear, a copy of this
act, and a general statement of the subject of the investigation. A
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copy of the resolution, statute, order or other provision of law
authorizing the investigation shall be furnished by the agency npon
request therefor by the person summoned.

3. A witness summoned to a hearing shall have the right to be
accompanied by counsel, who shall be permitted to advise the
witness of his rights, subject to reasonable limitations to prevent
obstruetion of or interferemce with the orderly conduet of the
hearing. Counsel for any witness who testifies at a public hearing
may submit proposed questions to be asked of the witness relevant
to the matters upon which the witness has been questioned and the
agency shall ask the witness such of the questions as it may deem
appropriate to its inquiry.

4. A complete and accurate record shall be kept of each public
hearing and a witness shall be entitled to receive a copy of his
testimony at such hearing at his own expense. Where testimony
which a witness has given at a private hearing becomes relevant in
a criminal proceeding in which the witness is a defendant, or in any
subsequent hearing in which the witness is summoned to testify,
the witness shall be entitled to a copy of such testimony, at his own
expense, provided the same is available, and provided further that
the furnishing of such copy will not prejudice the public safety or
security.

5. A witness who testifies at any hearing shall have the rvight at
the couclusion. of his examination to file & brief sworn statement
relevant to his testimony for incorporation in the vecord of the
investigatory proceeding.

6. Any person whose name is mentioned or who is specifically
identified and who believes that testimony or other evidence given
at a public hearing or comment made by any member of the agency
or its counsel at such hearing tends to defame him or otherwise
adversely affect his reputation shall have the right, either to
appear personally before the agency and testify in his own behalf
as to matters relevant to the testimony or other evidence com-
plained of, or in the alternative at the option of the agency, to file
a statement of facts under oath relating solely to matters relevant
to the testimony or other evidence complained of, which statement
shall be incorporated in the record of the investigatory pro-
ceeding,

7. Nothing in this act shall be construed to prevent an agency
from granting to witnesses appearing before it, or to persons who

248



claim to be adversely affected by testimony or other evidence
adduced before it, such further rights and privileges as it may
determine.

8. Iixcept in the course of subsequent hearing which is open to
the publie, no testimony or other evidence adduced at a private
hearing or preliminary conference or interview conducted hefore a
single-member agency in the course of its investigation shall be
disseminated or made available to the public by said agency, its
counsel or employees without the approval of the head of the
ageney. Iixcept in the course of a subsequent hearing open to the
public, no testimony or other evidence adduced at a private hearing
or preliminary conference or interview before a committee or other
multi-member investigating agency shall be disseminated or macde
available to the public by any member of the agenecy, its counsel or
cmployees, except with the approval of a majority of the members
of such agency. Any person who violates the provisions of this
subdivision shall be adjudged a disorderly person.

9. No temporary State commission having more than 2 members
shall have the power to take testimony at a public or private hear-
ing unless at least 2 of its members are present at such hearing.

10, Nothing in this act shall be construed to affect, diminish or
impair the right, under any other provision of law, rule or custom,
of any member or group of members of a committee or other multi-
member investigating agency to file a statement or statements of
minority views to accompany and be released with or subsequent
to the report of the committee or agency.



END





